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SENATOR c. LOUIS BASSANO (Senate Chainnan) : Will 
everyone be seated so we can get started? 

present? 

Here. 

Anne, if you will do a roll call so we know who is 

MS. STE FANE (Task Force Aide): 
MR. THCMAS: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Mr. Muller? 
MR. MULLER: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Professor Brooks? 
DR. BROOKS: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Assemblyman Zisa? 
ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: Here. 

Mr. 

MS. STEFANE: Assemblywoman 'furner? 
ASSEMBLYWCMAN TURNER: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Assemblyman Holzapfel? 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Assemblyman Malone? 
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Assemblyman Mikulak? 

Thomas? 

ASS!Jt!BLDQN STEPHEN A. MIKULAK (Assembly Chai:cman): 

MS. STEFANE: Senator O'Connor? 
SENA'IDR O'CONNOR: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Senator Inverso? 
SENA'IDR INVERSO: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: Senator Bassano? 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: Here. 
MS. STEFANE: We have a quorum. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: Thank you. 
I'm hopeful that this will be the last general ~eting 

of this Joint Legislative Task Force, and the next ti~ we ~et 
we can start to put together our report. In fact, I didn' t 
envision us going as long as we have already on this subject . 
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It seems that the rrore information we find out the rrore corrplex 
the issue becomes . 

We've asked the Comnissioner of Corrections, 
Cornnissioner Fauver, to be with us today. 

Cornnissioner, do you want to introduce yourself? 
But before we do that, I know that my Cochairperson 

here has a few words he wants to say, and then we'll turn it 
over to you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: 'lbank you, Senator. 
As we close out our fourth and final hearing of this 

Task Force, I just want to take the opportunity to make a few 
obse:rvations. 

First , I want to thank my Cochair, Senator Lou 
Bassano, and all the other members of the Task Force for their 
time, their professionalism, and their camri.tment to the cause. 

When we began these hearings three rronths ago, we 
really weren't sure what to expect. We didn't know much about 
Avenel or its administration. We knew even less about its 
treatment programs or about how successful they had been .in 
rehabilitating inmates. 

What we did know was there were a couple of 
high-profile cases involving little girls who were raped and 
killed by their neigh1::x:>rs, each of whan had been convicted of 
sexual assault in the past and each of whan had reportedly been 
treated. One is a juvenile and one is an adult. 

With that in mind, we set out to study Avenel and to 
detenni.ne whether the treatment there was working. What was 
surpriei.BJ to us was the way in which we were alrrost imnediately 
treated as adversaries, both by the administration at Avenel and 
the Department of Corrections. We were not on a witch hunt. We 
did not convene this Task Force to try to shut Avenel down, but 
that is the way we were treated. 

When we asked for percentages of inmates who were 
rearrested after release, we were given two carpletely different 
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sets of numbers. One set, from the Department of Corrections, 
put the rate at about 45 percent. The second set, by the staff 
at Avenel, cut the number to 18 percent. Janet Reno, our U.S. 
Attorney General, has put the rate of rearrest even higher, 
between 40 percent and 70 percent for violent sex offenders. 

As if that was not' enough, we were atterrpting to study 
the treatment programs at Avenel, and that program was changed 
in midstream. A conscious decision was made by the 
administration at Avenel and the Department of Corrections. The 
fact is, there is no conclusive evidence to prove that deviant 
sexual behavior can be treated. That idea is rrore a product of 
faith in government as medicine man and not any scientific 
study. 

Right now, as we speak, two states, california and 
Virginia, have carpletely cut their sex offender programs back 
citing the lack of any proof that sex offenders can be cured. 
In fact, the figures out of california show that the rate of 
rearrest for sex of fenders actually rose by 15 percent during 
the last year of this program. 

While I'm not prepared to close the doors on Avenel, 
I am prepared to support sare significant changes. I think 
there is a general consensus arrong members of the Task Force 
that sex . of fenders in New Jersey serve too little titre in 
prison. 

Even the Federal judge who recently declared Megan's 
Law tmconstitutional or parts of Megan's Law has 
reccmnended, "If you are convicted of a sex critre against a 
child, you should spend the rest of your life in prison, or if 
you are released, you should be subject to continual probation 
for the rest of your life." 

In that regard, I would support a return, which we've 
discussed here on this Task Force, to the 30-year indeterminate 
tenn for violent sex offenders. If you refuse treattrent, you 
should be autcmatically sent back to the general prison 
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population, knowing full wel l that you will serve the maximum 
arrount of time under the law and you will not be paroled. 

As it stands now, our current system rewards those 
inmates who refuse therapy and their return to the main 
population, by paroling them sooner than if they had remained at 
Avenel . 'lbat is ludicrous . . We need to make sentencing rrore 
consistent. No matter where an inma.te is housed, his term 
should remain the same. 

I also feel that we need to refocus our efforts and 
consider the victims . There should be intensive therapy 
available to the victims and their families. The perpetrators 
should be the ones to pay, if that is at all possible. 

While touring Avenel, we were appalled that alrrost 
every inmate had their own television, their own radio, and 
their own carputer. 'lbat practice has to stop. All the rroney 
wasted on inmate amenities should be redirected to the victims' 
recovery. 

In conclusion, I want to thank everyone who testified 
at these hearings. I look forward to working with the Task 
Force in gathering our final recomnendations. 

Thank you. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Thank you, Steve. 
I think, Comnissioner, you received a very brief 

overview as to the direction that this Task Force is going and 
sare of the recacmendations that we're going to be making. I 
think the areas that Steve touched on are a couple of areas 
where you're going to see a unanirrous position fran this 
particular Task Force . But, hopefully, we' re going to go a lot 
deeper into this subject than was just mentioned. 

As I said earlier, I'm hopeful that sanewhere around 
the 17th of April we can gather as a Task Force, work fran an 
outline, put together a draft of sare suggested changes, and 
then present that to the public. 
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But :before we do that, we do want to hear from you, 
and we do want to hear from several other speakers who are going 
to :be addressing us. I know I have a list of questions that I 
would like to have answered. I am sure many of the other 
members of the Task Force, likewise, have some questions they 
want answered. So without going any further, why don' t we allow 
you to start your presentation? 
C 0 M M I S S I 0 N E R W I L L I A M H. F A U V E R: 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
First, I'd like to corrment on the issue that I know, 

from reading through the transcripts and what I've seen in the 
press-- On the issue of the programs being changed, as was 
said, in "midstream, " if there is- - This Task Force should have 
been notified of that, and I' 11 take responsibility for not 
doing that. But I would like to point out that this emanated-­
This whole idea of the change came fran the staff at Avenel back 
into late '93, fran rreetings that were held there-. 

They then proceeded to go ahead through my off ice and 
get a grant to bring in an expert fran the National Institution 
of Corrections to make recc:mnendations. Sare of these things-­
One of the reccmrendations is what we saw put into place in 
December. The timing of that coincided with the Task Force, but 
the decision to do that, really, was-- The final decision was 
sanetirre in December or late November, but the recorrmendation 
predated even the formation of the Task Force. 

I would hope that in conjunction with you, we can make 
changes to make Avene 1 ::ore viable. Avenel or any other prison 
in this State, or any :t~er state, is not where, ideally, it 
should be or what shou~d be happening in those places. We are 
agents of the law, and whatever the law is and however that is 
set up, that is what we 1 11 do. That is how we will treat 
people, whatever that might be. 

One of the things that has happened already, which I 
think is a big help, is the fact that if a person does not 
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participate in therapy, and they go back to the prison, or if 
they' re there, they do not get credits. They do not get 
good-tirne credits. They do not get work credits. I think that 
in itself is an incentive to get rrore people into therapy 
programs. 

I think you could debate, and it is debated, should a 
person be transferred out of there right away? My personal 
opinion on that is, no. I think one of our responsibilities is 
to try first to get that person involved. There has got to be 
some point where you say, "No. He ' s refusing, he ' s refusing. 
We have to use this space for somebody else who is rrore amenable 
to treatment and bring them in." So I would agree with the 
Assemblyman on that as far as having to rrove people out of that 
institution. 

Remember, Avenel, when it was built -- when it was 
started about 20 years ago -- was constructed for less than 200 
inmates. That was a plus because the number caning over for 
mental health at the time, when that was rroved -- under the 
Division of Corrections, then under INA -- there was plenty of 
leeway. There were SO extra beds. Obviously, when we look at 
700 people today, we know that that turned out not to be true. 

A number of things have happened. There has been a 
change not just in programs, there has been a change in the 
clientele that have arrived there. Generally, in the past when 
this was first started, what we would see rrostly were forcible 
rapes. There was very little in the way of incestuous people 
being there, child rrolestation. With education programs through 
the schools, through the TV, a lot of these things became known 
and they were rrore reported. That part of the population, the 
type of ?JPUlation, has changed to a great degree. 

I think there are things that this Task Force can do, 
can reccmnend. One, as I said, is the treatrrent. sanehow if we 
can get together and decide a time line on that: If you're not 
in, you're out, and you're out into a prison. 
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I think another factor that has to be talked arout is 
when the person is going before the judge, as you are aware, 
they are sent to Avenel now for a diagnostic workup. That is 
then given to the court . That, now, may or may not decide that 
the person is repetitive coopulsive. So we turn the report in, 
it may or may not be accepted. The judge has the ultimate 
discretion on that. 

So we may see people not in Avenel because of that -­
they' re sentenced under a regular sentence - - who, in the 
opinion of the therapists, need help. I think we should try to 
expand into some of the regular prisons to deal with that, even 
though they're not sentenced under the sex offender statute. 
Maybe that could be broadened; maybe that could be a separate 
bill. I don't know. 

But I think we're misleading the public in many ways 
if we say people are being treated. Then they read ab::>ut 
somebody getting out of say, Southern State, and they're in for 
a sex offense, but they're not cannitted under the sex offender 
statute. I think that the same kinds of things should happen 
there as far as maximum sentences and staying in unless you get 
into therapy, but right now, they are not being treated. I 
think that kind of ties into some of the truth in sentencing 
laws that the Legislature has worked on over the last couple of 
years. 

I think that Avenel-- You'll hear people today who 
are ~rts. There is somebody coming down fran Ve:rrront to talk 
about the program. I think you'll see there are many different 
views ai what can and cannot work. As far as I know, Avenel is 
still the only stand-alone facility that is not part of another 
unit, another prison . 

When this was done -- and we're only taking about 20 
years ago -- this was the state-of-the-art type of thing that 
other states came in to look at and follow. I'm not here to sit 
here and tell you that you can be treated as a sex of fender at 
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Avenel and not at Rahway or not at someplace else. That is 
obviously possible if we buy the premise at all that the 
treatrrent works. 

I think that right now we have to keep trying to see 
where this all sorts out and what happens with it. But I, 
personally, am not ready td ·abandon the concept of Avenel, the 
concept of treatment . I think within pararreters-- Because, 
right now, one of the things that canes across is the 
overcrowding. You see people idle. You see people not involved 
in anything, strictly as a point of the overcrowding, not 
because we don't know what to do. We don't have the ability to 
do it. That is not just in that prison, it's all over. 

So I would hope that between us and others we can, 
through the experts corning in and hearing their testirrony, reach 
some kind of agreement where we all support the sarre type of 
legislation or whatever might be corning down. 

But I think it is not unusual to find people, even in 
the sarre institution, who disagree with that. All doctors who 
are medical doctors don't agree on how to treat sanebody when 
they see them. I don't think that is any different than 
psychologists or psychiatrists not all unanirrously agreeing on 
what should happen. It then becornes the job of administrators 
to make .their best estimate on what we should do. 

So having said that, I really would rather allow rrore 
time to try to respond to your comrents or questions, Senator. 

Thank you. 
SENA'IOR BASSANO: I don't think, Ccmnissioner, that 

this panel possesses the expertise to be able to dictate to the 
system, to the Department of Corrections, the type of treatment 
that you should be giving. I think that has to be detennined 
based upon the people you hire at Avenel and the particular 
theory that those individuals believe in. I think what we're 
dealing with is a theory, and I'm sure there are a number of 
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different theories out there. So I don't think we're going to 
be rraking that type of recarrnendation. 

Some of the concerns that we have are with regard to 
people coming out who have not received proper treatment and who 
are now maxing out . We want to change the system in such a form 
so that people will only get out through parole, and those 
people who are deemed not to be dangerous to society will be the 
only ones that will be let back on the street, with civil 
cornnitment for those people who, after 30 years, are still 
deemed dangerous or potentially dangerous. 

But there are a number of other areas that I wanted to 
address . You started to talk about what is happening in the 
general prison population with sex offenders. I W'Ould like to 
know if you think it would do the State good to do away with the 
repetitive corrpulsive portion of the law and leave the 
discretion to the judges as to who should be sentenced to a 
general prison and who should be sentenced to Avenel based upon 
the recomnendations that a judge receives? Would we be better 
served if we changed the law in that respect? 

CCM-1ISSIONER FAUVER: No, not in my opinion. I don't 
think so. I think that right now the judge has that discretion. 
I mean, Avenel does the write-up on the person, the diagnostic 
part, and_ then the judge can decide whether he or she wants to 
cornnit under the statute or not. 

SENATOR BASSANO: But am I not correct in stating that 
a person has to ccmnit the crime rrore than once, with rrore than 
one victim, before they can actually be eligible for Avenel? 
Yet in sane cases, we may be better off recognizing right in the 
beginnin;, after the first offense, that a person W'OUld be 
better served by going to Avenel? Right now you can't send them 
there unless there is, as I said, rrore than one victim or if 
it'srrore than once that they have ccmnitted the crime. 

a:l+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Yes, you' re correct. It could 
be expanded, I would assume, to do that. There are certain--
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If everybody who was in on a sex offense was analyzed in that 
sense and the judge had the flexibility to put them where they 
wanted to or where they thought they should, I rrean, that is--

SENATOR BASSANO: Can you talk to rre about statistics? 
One of the things that we found in talking to the personnel from 
Avenel was that no statistics were being kept on recidivism. 
Why is that not happening? Don't you think that you can' t 
really look at your future when you're not able to judge how 
successful you were in the past? 

C'CMMISSIONER FAtNER: Well, I think there are 
statistics kept. I rrean, I think what you get into are 
definitions on recidivism and so forth, is it another offense, 
another conviction, those kinds of things. We have statistics 
on people who have been in the system before, who have cane back 
to us that we're aware of. There may be people out of State 
that we don't know, but the ones in State we do. 

So there is I don't know how many, out of between 1000 

and 2000, people paroled out of Avenel in its existence-- I 
don't know sitting here, but we would have a way to know how 
many of those came back because we have the names and we could 
trace them. 

SENATOR BASSANO: When I questioned Loretta o' Sullivan 
about that at the first meeting that we had up at Avenel, she 
said that there were no concrete statistics, that they were 
guesstimates as to how many people are winding up back in the 
system. I kind of quest ion why we aren't keeping stronger 
statistics so that at :east we know the direction we're rroving 
in. 

ro+ITSSIONER ::-AUVER: Well, I think what I'm 
suggesting is what we would have to do: lex>k at them, actually 
trace them by name. We don' t keep that- - The Departrrent at one 
point had a research unit, a small unit, but as the budget 
crunches cane, they' re the kinds of things that get lost and go. 
But I think specifically on Avenel, because we're only talking 
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at:out -- when I say only -- a 20-year period, we could do that. 
We would have to do it rranually. We don't have a way to 
corrputerize it. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Let me go on to another subject . 
The Penal Code of 1978 that we are operating with now, do you 
think that Penal Code has helped or hurt Avenel in the changes 
that were ma.de? 

CCMMISSIONER FAtNER: Well, I'm not sure. I mean it 
certainly has increased the number of inmates at Avenel, but it 
has increased inmates in the system. I'm not sure, other than 
the overcrowded- - I think that hurts because you can' t do a lot 
of the things you want to do. I wouldn't want to suggest that 
the people who are coming in shouldn' t be there. I mean, I 
think in that sense, both in the general population and at 
Avenel, they should be. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Do you feel that we would be able to 
utilize sare of the prisoners at Avenel the same way we' re 
utilizing prisoners in the general prison population, sending 
them out on a bus to do comnunity work with an anred guard? 
That sare of them are well enough along in treatment that we can 
put them out there to clean up highways and clean up vacant 
lots? Or do you still feel that the position taken by the 
Department 20 years ago still has to hold, that these people 
should not be let out to do that kind of work because of an 
incident that happened 20 years ago? 

ca+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I don't think-- We review 
our standards for minimum custody, which they would have to be 

in to go out there, quite regularly. I would not reccmnend 
putting them out in that kind of a setting. I think the other 
groups that we have out on highway details, cleaning shores at 
the ocean and so forth, are minimum. They' re with officers. 
They're with unarmed officers who have radio contact. They're 
also very close, within six rronths, to their parole date. 
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I think that ideally there should be a place for a sex 
offender to go before parole if he has gotten a date, he 1 s 
ready, and you know he is going to go. The aftercare carponent 
may not be aftercare; it may just be supervision. But I think 
that is why we want the people to be on parole as opposed to niax 

out. 
Now, as you indicated, if they niax out and then there 

can be a civil comnitment, that's okay. But I don't know that 
that would hold in every case. 

To answer you in the first part : No, I don' t think 
they should, whether it's 20 years old or not. 

SENATOR BASSANO: You kind of got away f ram the point 
I was trying to make . One of the things that this Task Force 
saw was a lot of idle time. When we ' re told that a person works 
two hours a day, an hour a day, and just has a lot of idle time 
on their hands-- Obviously, sare of those people have been 
there for a while and may be m:xiel prisoners. The thought was, 
could they be put out into the cannunity to do sare work, under 
proper supervision, with a guard? That is the question that was 
being presented to you. Obviously, if you feel negative about 
that, then I would like to know that. 

a:t+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Yes, I would still feel negative 
about it. If they were out with an anned guard, I don't think 
that-- There are people that we have not traditionally, and 
still don't, put out in minimum custody status; sex offenders 
are one, arsonists are others, despite where they are in their 
sentence. 

What I'm saying is, I think if there was a place to 
go, which there isn't right now, before going on parole, as a 
half-way house kind of a setting, I could see them m:wing out of 
the institutional structure to be in a less secure--

SENA'IOR BASSANO: One of the reccmnendations that I 
will make will be the pennanent creation of a ccmnission to look 
at what is happening at Avenel . One of the things that I would 
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like to charge them with would be to take a look at the 
developrent of a halfway house. It is a very volatile issue 
because no one wants it in their backyard. Maybe the way to go 
would be to look at some State property -- if we were to get 
into developing such a halfway house -- as a place to place this 
type of facility, but that is a little bit down the road . 

I'm going to throw the $64 question at you right now. 
If you had your way and you wanted to irrprove what is happening 
at Avenel, what would you tell us, as a legislature, to do to 
irrprove it? If I said to you: What tools do you need? Tell me 
what you need to make Avenel a better institution with lower 
recidivism, better treatrrent, etc. 

CCMMISSIONER FAtNER: Well, do we have time? The $64 
question, by the way, shows your age. 
(laughter) 

That was a long time ago. 

SENA'roR BASSANO: 
was a freshman Assemblyman, 

When you carre on as Camdssioner I 
if you remember, and we both got old 

together. (laughter) 
C0+1ISSIONER FAtNER: I think the key on this, 

basically, would be, I would say, two things: staff and space. 
I think that we've tried, as I think Bill Plantier and others 
may have told you at sane of the previous hearings. We've freed 
up positions, but it has been increrrentally. We added three 
psychologists which helps, but is not ideally--

I think staff and the space within the place, or 
within sane place, to treat the-- Because then you can have the 
full thing. The concept of Avenel in the first place carre out 
of kind of generically, for want of a better 1-«>rd, the ideas of 
therapeutic ccmnuni.ties where everybody there has the sarre 
problem. This is done in drug treatrrent programs, in substance 
abuse programs, sane of the ones in our institutions, and a lot 
of them outside, on the premise that everybody is together. 
They go to therapy together. They live together. They work 
together, the whole thing. 
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I think that having that, having the opportunities to 
work, not having the idle time-- I think the kinds of things 
that you already talked about, making it: "If you don't 
participate after whatever time line is decided on, you go back ~ 

and you don't get out." 
SENATOR BASSANO: I don't know if that should be our 

decision or if it would not be better off left with the decision 
of the personnel from Avenel. Because, as you know, sane 
prisoners will respond faster than others; therefore, you can't 
put everybody in the sarre category. Maybe the therapist should 
make a decision as to whether a person is responding quickly 
enough, and if they're not, then rrove them back. 

ca.1MISSIONER FAUVER: Oh, I agree. I agree. 
SENATOR BASSANO: I don't know if we possess that type 

of expertise. 
Ratiowise, between prisoners and therapists, what is 

an ideal ratio? Is there such a thing? 
ca.1MISSIONER FAUVER: I don't know. I would have to 

ask Bill. 
Is there? 

WILLIAM P. 

30. 

P LANT I E R: 'Ibey generally agree 1 to 

on? 

SENATOR BASSANO: What ' s the ratio now? 
MR. PLANTIER: It's 1 to 42, I believe. 
SENATOR BASSANO: That is with the new people you put 

MR. PLANTIER: No, no, Senator, that ' s not. '!here is 
only cme new person that started as of this time. '!here are two 
others caning on board very shortly. 

SENA'IOR BASSANO: '!he two new that are caning on, what 
will that break you down to? 

MR. PLANTIER: I haven't done my math, but it will 
probably get us down to, like, 1 to 35, sanething like that. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: So if this Task Force reconmended 
that we try to keep a 1 to 30 or lower than that, obviously 
would constitute proper funding to do that. But 1 to 30 is 
where you feel you would have to be in order to give proper 
treatment? . 

MR. PLANTIER: No, I wouldn' t want to go on the record 
as saying that is giving proper treatment. I think there is 
debate arrong the professional comnunities. You might hear sane 
people say that it needs to be lower, and you might have other 
people say that it can be higher. The general number that I 
have heard throughout the years has been 1 to 30 as being an 
ideal ratio. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Well, if we made a reccmnendation to 
the State as to what type of ratio we \llOUld like to try to 
achieve--

ground. 
MR. PLANI'IER: I think you\llOuld have struck a middle 

SENATOR BASSANO: That is a middle ground? 
MR. PLANI'IER: I would think so. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: Okay. I've occupied a lot of time 

with questions. I know Assemblyman Mikulak has a lot of 
questions. 

So, Steve, why don't you--
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Okay. Senator, for the record, 

there was a Ledger story a few weeks ago about the creation of 
halfway houses. At that time, I had the Assembly members 
polled, and I think :. : ·,...as unanirrous that that idea was 
rejected. I think we, :.:1 :::e Assembly, are trying to focus on 
the actual mandate in :::e legislation, which is to look into 
specifically that institution and specifically whether people 
can or can't be treated and cured, so to speak. 

You were polled, everyone was polled? (addressing 
Assembly members) (affirmative responses) 'Ihey should be. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: Polled for what statement? 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: On the halfway house issue. 
See, when we saw it in the-­

SENATOR BASSANO: I wasn't polled. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: No, I 'rn talking about the 

Asserrbly side. I don't think that was a trial balloon that was 
floated, and I think that that is not going to be a majority 
recornnendation of this Task Force. 

SENATOR BASSANO: 
recornnendation. 

Well, I intend to make that 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Right. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: The reason I will make that 

recornnendation is that the changes that I am going to look for 
us to make is to have people paroled from Avenel and not have 
them max out. Before they go out on parole, when they are 
deerred to be ready for parole, sane people, the Parole Board may 
reccmnend that they look at a halfway house. I' rn not looking at 
a halfway house in the middle of a sentence of anyone. 

I think if you look at a halfway house as being 
another tool that can be used to help integrate people back into 
society rrore safely, that's what it's all about. While Steve 
and I may disagree on that, I think it is a tool that can be 
beneficial. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Okay. 
To the Carmissioner, I recently received a letter from 

a prisoner in Avenel who is starting a 52-year sentence. I 
think he won't be eligible until he serves about 20 rrore years. 
He was carplaining about the lack· of therapy. He was only 
gettiDJ an hour a week . He shouldn' t be there at all according 
to-- How do you feel about that? 

people? 
cet+ITSSIONER FAlNER: On the longer tenn sentence 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: 

ca+llSSIONER FAlNER: 
Right. 
I think that ideally, if he is 

in therapy and he has 30 or 40 years to go, I don't see, really, 
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a value in that. I think we have to at some point-- TI1e first 
part of the sentence, if it's a long sentence like that, should 
be spent in a regular prison and then at some point transferred 
when he gets closer to eligibility. I would say the same thing 
even in a prison. You put somebody into a voe ed program who is 
going to be there 3 O years, that voe ed might not even exist 
what they learned. 

So I think it has to be the front end. It can't be 

the back end to go over, because that would be a canplete waste 
of the treatment program. If the guy is adjudged okay in 
treatment and now he has to do another 15 years at Trenton 
Prison, it makes no sense. But the way you're suggesting, I 
think, would be good. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI.AK: Okay. TI1is Task Force, which 
was errpaneled, had two meetings in the Avenel facility. We rnet 
with Mr. Plantier. I think one was in November and one was in 
December. Then we later found out that the therapeutic program 
that we were looking into was changed. The date of the December 
hearing that we had was, I think, December 6. Then I had some 
merros about the change that I later acquired -- December 7 and 
December 8 -- between Mr. Plantier and Mr. Hilton. 

Do you think that does a service to the Legislature 
when we' re looking into, we' re focusing on, this type of program 
and you change it -- the Department of Corrections changes -­
right before our eyes? It's like a magic act. We weren't there 
to hurt the Department of Corrections, but we were treated very 
hostilely. 

cx:J+llSSIONER FAUVER: Well, as I indicated in my 

opening remarks, I said that the Task Force should have been 
notified about that. But I think, as I tried to explain, this 
was sarething that was in process well before that. But that 
does not--
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ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK : That is why I'm upset, because 
it was in the process and we were doing this at the same time. 
We were in the same facility . 

ca.1MISSIONER FAlNER : Well, I don't know. other than 
not being notified, I don't think there was any mandate for the 
Department not to go ahead, 'not to make changes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: No, but--
CCMv1ISSIONER FAlNER: But you should have been 

notified, and I acknowledge that . 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Okay. On page 46 of the 

February 1 meeting, I asked that question of Mr. Plantier and 
Mr. Plantier said, "Well, I can only answer what I know. I had 
no conversation with the Ccmnissioner myself. If I was to 
guess, I would have assl..llTled that he would have notified the 
Chainran of the Task Force . But since I had no dialog with the 
Ccmnissioner, aside fran receiving the written note back, and 
the only one I spoke to was Chief of Staff Hilton, I'd have no 
knowledge of what had happened after that." 

Who failed to notify us? Was it your responsibility? 
CCMv1ISSIONER FAtNER: Well, as Mr. Plantier said, yes, 

it was my responsibility . Yes, I think it was, I said that. I 
think there are two separate issues; notification is one. There 
should have been notification . Notification should have been 
given. 

But the idea of this program being looked at, bringing 
in a national expert-- This is one of the suggestions that was 
made by her, to change the therapy groups. The other thing is 
it was talked about at least tangentially because there was 
diSCU88ion about doing it around the holiday season, because 
that was a slow time and it was a good time to make changes or 
to start to make changes. 

If it carre across as a slap at this Task Force, I 
apologize for that, but that was not the intent, and it was not 
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something that magically was pulled out of the hat at the 11th 
hour. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Sometime in January, myself and 
Senator Bassano were called by a reporter from the Associated 
Press and asked what we thought of this change. We couldn't 
respond. We didn't know about it. We are disappointed. It 
seems like a bureaucratic defense mechanism. Did you 
purposely--

You didn't think about notifying us? You didn't want 
to notify us? It just slipped your mind? Could you explain why 
you didn't? 

C'CMMISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I think that it probably 
just slipped my mind. I didn't probably tie them together. But 
what I 'm saying is, this was- - Sanebody coming to · rre in 
December and saying, 11 Can we have final approval, 11 to do 
sanething that had been reccmnended in a report back in July and 
discussed by the staff at Avenel, with sane of our 
administrators -- Mr. Hilton and others-- I don't know what 
else to tell you. 

questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Okay, thank you, Cornnissioner. 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Cornnissioner, just a couple of 

It was always my understanding that once -- and 
maybe it . has changed since I was a county prosecutor - - a 
finding of repetitive canpulsive is made, I thought the judge 
was pretty much obligated to send sanebody to Avenel. Isn't 
that the way it \tJOrks? 

cet+USSIONER FAUVER: I would say pretty much, but 
it's not 100 percent, I know that. I'm not sure what the 
percentages are. 

ASSEJ.1BLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: You have a handle on-.,. 
MR. PI.ANTIER: Percentages of people who are found 

repetitive canpulsive, or that the judge--
ASSEJ.1BLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Right. 
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MR. PLANTIER: It's a very, very srra.11 percentage. 
I'd probably say it's less than 1 percent or 2 percent. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL : Who don 1 t go? 
MR. PLANTIER: Who don r t go I yes. 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: So if you find that they are 

repetitive compulsive, about 98 percent of those people are 
going to come to you as inmates? 

MR. PI..ANI'IER: To the best of our knowledge, yes. It 
is a very srra.11 figure . 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Okay. Now, one of the 
questions that was asked before at one of the prior meetings -­
and maybe the Comnissioner has a better handle on this -- is 
there any information or do you have any sense as to what the 
recidivism rate is frcm someone who is a sex offender who goes 
to, say, Rahway or one of the other institutions, as compared to 
Avenel? 

ca+1ISSIONER FAlNER: No, we don't. 'Th.e recidivism 
rate of the person who goes to another prison would just be 
grouped in with the other people frcm that prison who are 
paroled. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Okay, now back in-- Let me 
get the correct title of this . 'Th.is is a Release outcome 1984 
Follow-up Study. 

cet+tISSIONER FAtNER: Frcm Avenel? 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL : No, I assume this is for the 

entire system. 
ca+llSSIONER ::ALV'ER : Okay. 
ASSEMBLYMAN ~CLZAPFEL: Yes, it is, dated February 

'92. 
In there, on page 13 , they talk about - - well, you 

talk about, or your people talk about -- Release outcome Rate, 
1984 release by rrost serious offense. We have sexual assaults 
under violent offense. Sexual assault we have listed there, and 
basically, the reincarceration rate is 17 percent. 'llle 
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reconviction rate is 23 percent. So I assume that is an overall 
number including Avenel, as well as the regular sex offenders 
throughout the prison system, in this study? 

CCMMISSIONER FAlNER: I would believe that it is, but 
without having it--

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Okay. I guess the point I'm 
trying to get to is, that reflects, or your study reflects, out 
of total violent offenders the reincarceration rate, which is 
what I'm really interested in -- in other words, the people who 
are not only rearrested, but reconvicted and resentenced -- for 
violent offenders is 20 percent. So that would include people 
for robbery, assaults, rmrrder, manslaughter, what have you, and 
that rate versus sex offenders or sexual assault is 17 percent. 

So is it a fair conclusion on my part that of all 
violent crimes, on average 20 percent of them are 
reincarcerated, based on this thing, and if we look at sex 
offenders, again based on this study, the number is 17 percent? 
So there is only a 3 percent spread between your typical violent 
criminal who ends up going back versus someone who has either 
gone through Avenel or not? Is that a fair conclusion? 

CO.f.1ISSIONER FAlNER: Yes, that is a fair conclusion, 
yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: 'As I understand it, you agree 
that long-time sentences, people who receive extensive sentences 
shouldn't go to Avenel? They should go to one of the other 
institutions and then at some point in time be transferred out 
to Avenel for the treatment? 

cn+rrSSIONER FAUVER: Yes, I think that is one 
solutiai. I don't think we can continue to jam up the treatment 
staff at Avenel with the people who still have so many years to 
go. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Okay, that's all I have. 
Thank you. 

SENA'IOR BASSANO: Do we have other questions? 
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questions. 

Assemblyman Malone. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE : Yes, I just have a couple of 

How rriany years have you been Comnissioner of 
Corrections? 

CCMMISSIONER FAlNER: Since 1978. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE : Okay, 15 or 16 years. Are you 

happy with the structure of the Department of Corrections? 
CCMMISSIONER FAlNER: Well, I'm not sure what you mean 

by that. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MAI.DNE: Just answer just like I asked it: 

Are you happy with the structure of the Department of 
Corrections? 

CCMMISSIONER FAlNER: Well, I'm happy that I'm in 
charge of the structure of the Department of Corrections, I can 
tell you that. (laughter) 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Are you happy with the structure 
of the Department of Corrections? 

ca.1MISSIONER FAlNER: Well, I think things could be 
better, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. Now, I'm assuming since 
you have been in office 15 or 18 years-- If you were king, how 
would you set up the Department of Corrections? 

ca+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I don' t know that I would 
set it up any differently than the kind of st:tucture we have 
now, with the assistant comnissioners down through the operating 
units, which are the institutions. We have the parole units. 
I think what I would be looking for would be m::>re support in 
sane of the areas, particularly spacewise, is one thing- -

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Let me be m::>re specific. As to 
type of institutions you have, as to placerrent of prisoners in 
institutions, if you were king, how would you do it? If you 
said today, "I.Dok, this is exactly the way I want it. This is 
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how I want it. This is where I want people." How would you do 
it? 

ca.1MISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I'm not sure, because that 
kind of utopia never comes . 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: You've been there for 17 years 
now. 

CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: In the 17 years we've added, 
like, 15,000 bed spaces, so there are a lot of things that I 
would think we need that we got. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: So in the time you've been here, 
you have never been asked as the Camri.ssioner of the Department 
of Corrections to come up with a plan on how you would like to 
see the Department be structured and run, facilities, and where 
prisoners should be? 

CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: No, I didn't say that. I don't 
think-- We do that, in a sense, every year with capital budgets 
and with operational budgets. We have plans. We have two-year 
plans. We have five-year plans. 

I think the overcrowding is the first and key issue 
that has to be resolved for us and for the counties; that 
continues to be the major issue. So I don't think it's anything 
in the sense of structure . 

. . ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Just globally, you've never come 
up with the ideal plan that you would like to see as the 
Camri.ssioner and say, "This is really the way I think that the 
whole Department of Corrections should be run. 'Ibese are the 
facilities I think we need. 'Ibis is where these types of 
priscmers should be." You've never been asked to do that, 
maybe? 

CCM-llSSIONER FAUVER: Well, I think we have to scxne 
degree. But, for example, we' re talking now about a new prison. 
We're doing rrore than talking; finally, scxnething is happening 
with it at the prison in Bridgeton. 
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We have defined what we need there . We know that we 
need rrore substance abuse treatment programs, and we're 
comnitting a particular wing or a particular housing unit there 
-- housing units -- for that purpose. We're looking at whether 
we do that in-house, as far as run that, or whether we contract 
out to do the services . There are rrore people in the system 
with substance abuse problems than there are sex offenders, a 
lot rrore. I wouldn't say that we would focus entirely on sex 
offenders, because that wouldn't be true. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Maybe Avenel is only part of the 
problem? Maybe the whole system needs to give up that as far as 
how we are handling prisoners, where they're being sentenced? 

ca-1MISSIONER FAUVER: I don't know what the criteria 
is that you're looking at. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MAI..ONE: Well, you' re the expert, I 'm not . 
ca-1MISSIONER FAUVER: Well, the system is working. 

It's not ideal but--
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: I think that is debatable . 
ca-1MISSIONER FAUVER: But that's the bottan line, I 

think . We ' re not in Federal court. We ' re not under any 
receiverships, masters, or things like that. We're one of only 
about 7 or 8 states where that is the case. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MAI..ONE: Are you happy with the operation 
at Avenel? 

cet+1ISSIONER FAUVER: No, I'm not happy with the 
operation. I've talked to the administrator--

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Now, that is scmething that has 
been in operation rrost of your tenure . 

CCJ+fiSSIONER FAUVER: Yes. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: What specific reccmrendations 

have you made to irrprove the situation at Avenel? 
cet+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I rely on them to cane to 

me and ask for things, which they have done, for exarrple, just 
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using the therapists as an exarrple. But I have to weigh that 
against the other 24,000 inmates and what they need. 

If you're asking me ideally, yes, we should have rrore 
rroney to be able to do these things. But my job is not just 
Avenel, that's his job -- Bill's job -- and not mine. It's to 
look out for the entire system and to try to make judgrrents that 
are equitable and fair within the structure that we exist in. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: So Mr. Plantier has sent to you 
recomnendations on how to revarrp Avenel? 

ca.fv1ISSIONER FAlJVER: Well, he did on this one. He 
sent to me the thing that is in discussion, the change in the 
therapy. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Up until this crisis occurred, 
have you ever received anything f ran the administration at 
Avenel about restructuring Avenel? 

ca.fv1ISSIONER FAlJVER: Yes, I have. It mainly has been 
dealing with staff, or excuse me, dealing with therapists and 
what they need to be able to do outpatient, as well as the 
diagnostic and treatment programs. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay, but is that information 
available to us, so we can sort of look at the history of how 
this thing has--

ca+1ISSIONER FAWER: Yes, I can get that for you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MALONE: Okay. 
'!bat's all I have for right now, Mr. Chairman. 
SENA'IOR BASSANO: Assemblyman Zisa. 
ASSEMBLYMAN Z!SA: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I would like t o address another issue that has cane up 

during the course of t~ese hearings. But before I do that, I 
would like to carmend the Cc:mnissioner for caning here today and 
for addressing one of our concerns, and that concern was the 
fact that a new treatment program had been irrplemented during 
the course of these hearings and we were unaware of it . 
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The Corrrnissioner has come here today. He has accepted 
full respJnsibility for that, even apologizing to the Task Force 
for that. I comnend you for that because that is the truthful, 
forthright type of testirrony that we have hoped for throughout 
the course of these hearings . 'Ibe reason I say that is because 
that hasn't always been the case. 

At our last hearing, Mr. Plantier and certain members 
of administration testified before us, and also some errployees 
of the facility testified before us. What happened during the 
course of that testirrony was that certain statements were made 
concerning the truthfulness of the testirrony by the various 
parties. 

I want to read -- so that you are aware of it -- some 
statements that were made, and to get your read on what you 
think of it. A staff member, who is not identified in the 
transcript, made a statement that states, "I also want to say to 
the Cornnission that some of what you've heard today is 
inaccurate" -- and I'll interject that he was referring at that 
point to ccmnents made by the administration officials -- "both 
sane of what you heard this rrorning and some of what you just 
heard is inaccurate, and I think you would be well-advised, if 
you can, to meet again and clarify some of these issues. 
Because some of the facts, some of the things I just heard 
stated as facts, aren't." 

Later on, to follow it up, I specifically asked two of 
the enployees a question. 'Ibat question was, "Did I understand 
you correctly when I thought I heard you say before that you 
feel the administration today purposely misrepresented the 
facts, and that they were untruthful to the Ccmnittee?" Mr. 

Craig Conway answered, "Absolutely so." I then asked, "Do you 
feel the sarre way, Ms. Jackson?" referring to Dr. Kay Jackson, 
who replied, "Yes, I'm afraid I do, and I say that with all 
willingness to seek new errployrrent tarorrow for having been 
prepared to say that." 
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Now, the reason I bring that up, and I want to be very 
clear on this, is not that I am in any way suggesting that the 
administration lied to this Task Force, nor am I suggesting that 
the allegations made by the staff members were untrue; however, 
it is obvious that sometx:xly was not truthful with the Task 
Force, either the administration officials or the staff. 

Now, the members of this Task Force, who are 
legislators and who are citizens, have given up a great deal of 
time at their own personal expense to be here in an effort to 
make this facility the best that it can be for the State of New 
Jersey. We don't take that lightly. We would expect that 
anybody who is here on behalf of the State or that facility 
would come here, just as you did today, and be forthright and 
truthful in their testim:::>ny. 

I really want to get a sense fran you on what you 
think needs to be done as a result of that. It's a separate 
issue f ran where we' re going, and I apologize for taking the 
time out here, but that is an issue that needs to be addressed. 
I would like to know if you feel it needs to be addressed, and 
how you would address it? 

CCM-1ISSIONER FAlNER: Well, I'd have to know, I guess, 
first the topic where they say what was presented was not true, 
then I could give you a judgment on that. But I know that-­
I'm not sure of the date on the report, but I know that both of 
those people are still enployed. 

Another thing that comes up with this - - this is 
digressing a little and I apologize. There are not people 
clanr::>ring to go work in prisons as psychologists, as therapists, 
as anything else. It takes a special person to do that . I 
think the staff at Avenel really deserves credit for hanging in 
there with sane bad situations. 

As I said earlier, people disagree. If they disagree 
on what the program is-- If Dr. Jackson, whoever, decides that 
she thinks it should be something different, that's fine. But, 
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you know, a judgment is made . Just like in here, there will be 
divergence of views. You'll hear from other witnesses. You'll 
hear from experts from other states who are going to tell you, 
"This is how we do and this is what we think will work. " I 
don't think there is a right or wrong until we get the results, 
then maybe we'll know. 

But I don' t know what the topic was that they' re 
saying was not true. If you want me to look at it, I'll be glad 
to and get back to you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: Well, I'm not sure that the topic 
is as irrportant as what happened. The topic happened to be the 
treatment program. 

Let me try to clarify where I'm going with this. What 
I 'm saying is that the administration appeared here . We depend 
on them to run the facility ; we depend on them to report to us 
what is going on. I have no reason to believe that they weren' t 
truthful. 

We then have employees, who possibly are disgruntled 
employees, who might be inclined to misrepresent the facts. If 
that is the case, then I would expect action to be taken. If, 
on the other hand, they are not disgruntled employees, if, on 
the other hand, they are persons who are very concerned and felt 
that it .was necessary to appear here, in their perception at the 
risk of their jobs -- whether that's a fact or not -- and to be 
truthful in exposing that the administration purposely 
misrepresented the facts, that would be a serious problem. 
Either way, we have a serious problem. 

I don't think the topic matters as rruch as the fact 
that allegations were made before this Task Force that sanebody 
purposely lied to us. What I would like to see is - - I ' 11 
suggest this and if I 'm out of line, the Chainnan can tell me - -
an investigation conducted by you or your designee to determine 
who didn't tell the truth before this Task Force. 
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You will have this available to you. You can look up 
the subject matter. I would like to see you conduct an 
investigation. I would like you to take the appropriate action 
based on the fact that saneone, who is errployed by the State of 
New Jersey, appeared before a legislative task force and 
purposely misrepresented the facts, if that happened. It had to 
happen because there are two different versions. 

This is not a question of who thinks the treatment 
program is better. This is a question of a statement being made 
that facts were purposely misrepresented and that people 
purposely were untruthful to the Task Force, not which was a 
better treatment program. That is not the point. 

So what I am asking is for you to investigate it, as 
I say, as a separate issue, to get back to us with sare type of 
report -- scxre type of ccmnunication -- which would indicate to 
us what you have learned and what action you plan to take on it. 
That is what I am asking. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULJ\K: What page were you reading from, 
Charley? 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: The first statement was on page 
151. That was the staff member who said that "sare of the 
things I just heard stated as facts, aren't." Then on page 156 
- - becaus~ I wanted to be clear - - Craig Conway and Dr. Kay 
Jackson very errphatically stated that the administration 
purposely misrepresented the fact and were untruthful to the 
Task Force. 

Now, I am not suggesting that is the case. I am 
saying that is what they alleged. 

a:t+1ISSIONER FAUVER: I know. We can interview people 
and--

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: It's a coin toss. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULJ\K: I think that is a fair request. 

You'll carply with that? 
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ca.1MISSIONER FAtNER: Yes. But I find it hard to 
believe that Bill Plantier would not be honest on- - He was 
honest in saying it was the Corrmissioner's responsibility to do 
something, and he's still here. He didn't get fired. 
(laughter) 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: I found it hard to believe that 
Bill Plantier didn't tell us when he was changing the therapy, 
Cornnissioner, so--

teasing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: I am not suggesting that. 
CCM"1ISSIONER FAtNER: No, I know you' re not, I'm only 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: I am not suggesting that at all. 
I am saying that if, in fact, it is a case of disgruntled 
employees trying to bring down their administration, I want to 
know about that. 

CCM"1ISSIONER FAUVER: Yes, that should be dealt with 
also. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: That has to be dealt with, because 
somebody who would purposely malign the reputation of a State 
facility is a serious problem for the State. So, whichever the 
case, I would hope--

CXM-1ISSIONER FAUVER: Which report is this, 
Assemblyman? Is this the last one? 

ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: This is the transcript of the 
February 1, 1995 ~eting. 

SENA'IOR BASSANO: I think what the Assemblyman is 
saying is that when we ·~e ~ot told the truth our job becomes 
that 1llJCh nnre difficult. So we would like you to take a look 
at that issue and maybe get back to us through our staff person, 
Anne Stefane. 

ca+1ISSIONER FAUVER: I will. 
ASSEMBLYMAN ZISA: Thank you very rm.ich. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Senator Girgenti. 
SENA'IDR GIRGENTI : Thank you very rm.ich. 
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Comnissioner, just a couple of questions. I want to 
get clarification on some of the things you said, and also some 
input. 

Number one : During our discussions through the various 
meetings we've had one thing that has been discussed and talked 
about, the possibility of maybe not having Avenel as it 
presently exists and putting people back into the system the way 
it was in the past, in the different prisons -- having that kind 
of a situation. 

Is that an option that you have thought of, or do you 
think the direction is to continue Avenel as it presently exists 
and not rrove back? What purpose is served by rroving them back 
into the prison system? Have you ever thought of that? 

CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: I think the Avenel concept is 
still the way to go. I think that rroving them back into the 
system would not be. There is always -- not always -- there is 
a debate in other states and there has been here: .where should 
this even be? Should it be in Corrections? Should it be in a 
Human Services type of setting? 

It was under Mental Health and Hospitals in the '70s 
before it was changed over to Corrections. One of the reasons 
was escapes fran hospitals and things like that -- not major 
reasons. I think the thinking at the time was, as I said, tied 
into this therapeutic cormrunity idea of all likes being 
together, living together, not being able to get over on each 
other in therapy, and stuff like that. 

I think, as I said earlier, we can't exclusively do 
that though. I think you have to sort out the long-tenn guys. 
They go to regular prison first and then care at the end. I 
think we also have an obligation then to provide sane kind of 
treatment, even if it's just a preliminary type of thing, · at 
those institutions. 

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Well, we've heard fran different 
people that a couple of states have tried to work with setting 
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up a W1it similar to Avenel and it hasn ' t really-- I think 
California has closed down what they've atterrpted, and I believe 
another state has also atterrpted it. Virginia? I'm not sure 
which state it was. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: california and Virginia. 
SENATOR GIRGENTI: The end result was that they 

decided the experiment did not work, and they went back to the 
system the way it was before . 

I only brought that question out because there are a 
couple of things-- One thing that we have heard throughout our 
meetings has been that there are a group of people who are 
treatment refusers. It is a group of anywhere -- I have heard 
percentages from 10 percent up to 30 percent. What is your 
feeling with these types of individuals? 

I know you said there should be a certain arroill1t of 
time. I know Mr. Plantier also said that he would hate to have 
a situation where we put sanebody back into State prison, and it 
turned aroW1d and they said that sanewhere along the line he 
could have possibly wanted to have help, at sane point years 
down the line. But one of the feelings I have is that it is a 
slot there that could be used for sanebody that may be able to 
get that help. 

How long do we spend with this type of individual? Do 

we say a time limit of a year, six rronths? If the person is a 
treatrrent refuser, then I figure they' re taking up sanebody 
else's slot, in my opinion, and they should go back to prison. 
I know the problem has been that sanetimes it was better, some 
people wanted to go back to State prison because they could get 
out earlier. 

What do you suggest in that area? Do you think-­
ca+rrSSIONER FAlNER: I think if you're there-- I 

mean, I'm not sure what I would say as far as the time frarre 
goes . I think that I would be of the belief that one of the 
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missions from Avenel is to try to get people involved. But 
you're not going to succeed with all of them. 

I think if the person goes back into the regular 
population, clearly they should never be able to get out sooner 
than sanebody who stays, is in the treatment program, and is 
successful in the treatment· program. So I think that has to be 
rrore, in a sense, cod.if ied so that won't happen. One of the 
ways to do that, as Senator Bassano said earlier on, was to 
continue them on some kind of supervision even after they get 
out, whatever that might be. 

I'm not sure what the tirne line is on that, John, as 
far as "when, " but I think that is something that should be 

looked at, yes. 
SENATOR GIRGENTI : Okay. Because you' re finding that 

there is a certain percentage that are noncooperative? 
C0-1MISSIONER FAlNER: Yes. 
SENATOR GIRGENTI: At what point do you say, "Let's 

use this slot for sanebody who can have sane successful 
results?" 

C0-1MISSIONER FAlNER: But, you know, you cane in-­
Whatever the malady is, in a sense, whether it is substance 
abuse or this, there is a period of denial by the person in 
there and there has to be sane tirne to get past that. 

I •ve worked with groups in the past, with young people 
who were murderers, and they were extremely difficult in the 
beginning to get to do anything. 

SENA'IOR GIRGENTI : One suggestion that we had brought 
out -- I think it was Senator Bassano earlier in the rneeting -­
was that maybe we could have sane kind of a situation set up 
where sanebody puts tirne in State prison and then has to go 
through sane type of therapy through Avenel, before they are 
allowed back out into society, like a dual system. Has that 
ever been thought about fran the perspective of the Departrnent 
of Corrections? Is that a viable answer to a problem? 
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CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: It has been thought ~ut. I 
think it is a possible answer to the problem. We've done that 
to sane degree in the counties where we have had sex off enders 
backed up, and we have had to provide sane, at least, fringe 
part of treatment to them while they are there. Yes, I think 
that is sanething that could be looked at. 

SENATOR GIRGENTI: Okay, just ending up, a couple of 
things. I understand what you' re saying. One thing that did 
come up, and I happen to agree, is that you have certain people 
in Avenel who are elderly - - and at sane point I think you were 
in agreement with it - - and we should rrove them out of there. 
Because, again, that is a slot that is taken up. If a man is at 
the age where he is up in his 60s, 70s, and so forth, I don't 
know how he can continue to want to have therapy and so forth. 
Again, that slot is a slot that sanebody else could use. I 
guess you' re in agreement with that, that they should be in that 
type of position? 

C'av1MISSIONER: Yes, pretty rrn.ich. I think a problem in 
the whole system is the aging of the population, the geriatric 
care. 

SENATOR GIRGENTI : All right. The other thing is I 
don't remember your answer, if you did say-- Do you feel that 
indetermi~te sentencing in this case -- going back to the old 
system in this kind of category -- would be, in your opinion, 
effective as opposed to what we presently have, if there was, 
obviously, a longer duration? 

C'Cl+ITSSIONER FAlNER: I didn't answer that, so you 
didn't miss the response . (laughter) I 'm not sure- -

SENA'IOR GIRGENTI: I know we have a problem with the 
overcrowding, on one hand. 

C<:l+1ISSIONER FAlNER: Yes. As you are aware, 
initially the sex of fender sentences were indetenninate 
sentences with a max. I don't know. I 'm not sure I have very 
strong feelings about it either way. But one of the reasons it 
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was changed was the subjectiveness in the decision making. I 
guess maybe it was felt that the courts could do it better, I'm 
not sure, than the staff at the institution. 

SENATOR GIRGENTI: One last question: Is there talk 
of setting some kind of formal aftercare type of program into 
this process? I know we do have aftercare, but it is rrore or 
less on a voluntary basis. I think one of the things that was 
brought out, and I feel is important, is some kind of net\.tlOrk be 
set up so that part of the parole should be that they have to be 
in aftercare. 

As you know, we were involved in this package of 
bills, and one thing I felt very strongly about was lifetime 
supervision. I think we have to continue to have 
accountability. We have to know everything these people are 
doing so people don't fall between the cracks, as has happened 
in some of the cases in the past where sanebody leaves the 
State, we lose track of them, they come back, and conmit another 
offense. 

What we need is that absolute situation where they 
have accountability. I think that the way we should head is, a 
condition of parole has to be-- They have to continue to have 
counseling and so forth, once they' re released. We need an 
aftercare element to be incorporated. I don't know what the 
budget says in terms of that, but I think that is something that 
we really have to seriously address. It can't be a voluntary 
situation because we've heard ourselves-- What is the 
percentage? Maybe two c 1..:t o f thirty might go to it, two out of 
fifty. 

a:r+llSSIONER :=-AUVER: Yes, well, there would be no 
pressure on them to do it otherwise . 

SENATOR GIRGENTI : I want to thank you for your 
information. We've always been willing to work with you, and 
you know we will continue to. 

ca+1ISSIONER FAUVER: Thank you, Senator. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: I think if we start paroling people 
instead of letting them max out, we can establish that type of 
program and niake that a requirement. I think the success ratio 
would obviously increase if we did that. 

There are two other Senators who want to speak. 
Senator Inverso had a question. 
SENATOR INVERSO: Yes . 
Comnissioner, I recall the first hearing, and I had 

asked the question: What is it that Avenel needs to do a better 
job with regard to the Task Force? I did get back some 
information -- I guess the full Task Force received it -- with 
regard to dollars to add therapists to improve the ratio and, 
hopefully, improve the number of contact hours ·that the 
therapists have with the prisoners there. But that was about it 
with regard to my request. 

I'd like to challenge you now to provide to this Task 
Force, in view of the hearings that we've had, in view of the 
obvious shortcanings that do exist -- and that is not meant to 
be pejorative in a critical sense, but there are 
shortcanings - - which have been irrposed upon you by funding 
constraints, sane of which are, in my view, program 
shortcanings. 

I want to challenge your department to come back to 
this Task Force with what kind of rrodality, what kind of changes 
you would like to see implemented, that you would like to see 
this Task Force consider and make part of its final 
recatmendation, and if need be, certainly, legislative changes . 

We're all hitting on kind of the same valves here with 
regard to what has been the situation at Avenel, what needs to 
be aftercare, ongoing supervisi~n, all of those we've touched 
on. Now, we need to pull it together. We've got the individual 
pieces of the puzzle, let's pull it together. 

• 

We're going in one direction. You've heard ccmnents ,... 
by the Chairpeople as to sane of the things this Task Force will 

36 



. • 

be pursuing and ultimately recorrmending. It would help me 

certainly, and I would like to know for direction, what you see 
as the changes that are irrportant for you to pursue your mission 
more appropriately, and to also protect the cannunity with 
regard to individuals who leave Avenel or leave the general 
prison population if they haven't :been cannitted to Avenel? 

We've got to work on this together corrprehensively. 
Sane of the things may :be outside of Corrections' purview once 
they are released from your control and supervision, but we need 
to know. We know what the problem points are. We need to know 
what we have to do to help you. I think together, :between your 
recomnendations -- your litany of things -- and what we have so 
far heard and evaluated in terms of potential changes, maybe we 
can pull sanething together that makes a lot of sense. 

I don't like to see this, and I don't think this Task 
Force cares to go in a direction where there is kind of an 
antagonistic, polarization approach to our recomnendations. 
They may not :be things that you are canfortable with. That may 
not matter, but we need to know what you think ought to :be done 
so that together we can kind of gel sanething. 

Obviously, you said you wouldn't abandon the concept 
of Avenel; that's fine. Obviously, an hour and a half of 
therapy contact is not appropriate; fine, that takes resources. 
But it also takes sane other changes in regard to getting 
inmates rroti vated to have the therapy. I understand, and I 
heard at the last hearing that in sane respect Megan's Law has 
worked as a positive in that regard; that the inmates are a 
little n:>re interested. They are a little rrore open to therapy. 
That is great, but we need more than that to make them 
participate in the program . 

I'm concerned about the recidivism m.unbers, 17 percent 
for the sex of fenders versus 24 percent for overall general 
prison population. I just don't know if those numbers are 
correct. I have sane reservations about those numbers. If they 
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are correct, fine. That means then we can probably do better in 
lowering those numbers if we have ongoing therapy, ongoing 
monitoring, ongoing supervision, because, obviously, there is a 
lack of that there. 

That 1 7 percent is not a bad recidivism rate. I would 
1 ike to see it down to zerb, but it is not an ideal war ld we 
live in. But if that is the recidivism rate in view of the 
shortcomings to the kind of systems that we have in place here 
in New Jersey and elsewhere through the country, I think that is 
rerrarkable. That is why I think I have some skepticism about 
those numbers. We need to get those numbers \l?iated. That is 
another issue that this Task Force, obviously, will undertake. 

But to surnnarize, I need to have you come back to us 
and say, "Gentlemen, ladies, in view of everything that has gone 
on and the hearings that you've held, these are the kinds of 
recomnendations we would like to have you consider. " Then we' 11 
take it from there. 

Mr. Chainna.n, I hope I 'm not out of order in that, but 
I think it would be good. 

SENATOR BASSANO : I think Peter's suggestion is 
excellent. We are discussing up here, am:mg other things, when 
we are going to meet again to try to finalize a report. Maybe 
one of the things that you can do, working through staff, is 
come up with some ideas that you rray have that you would like to 
see us incorporate, so we can discuss those ideas the next time 
this Task Force meets. 

ca+1ISSIONER FAlNER: I would be glad to. This kind 
of ties in with, I think, what Assemblyman Malone was asking -­
if I had the best of all worlds all over. But maybe we'll just 
give you what we think the best of all worlds is at Avenel and 
for sex offenders. 

SENATOR BASSANO: That is fine. 
Peter, did you want to continue? 
SENATOR INVERSO: No, thank you. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: Senator Matheussen, you were next. 
SENATOR MATHEUSSEN: Yes, picking up actually where 

the Assemblyrran started and where Senator Inverso left off, that 
is essentially what I was going to ask about. 

Camlissioner, I know that a number of your staff are 
here with you today. I hope sareb:x:iy has been rraking some 
notes. Because I, quite frankly, think the way the legislative 
process works with regard to this issue- - So far, you have been 
asked to come -- the Department has been asked to cane -- to be 
a participant I guess in a way and just give us information. 

I think it would be a shortfall for this Task Force 
not to have you participate in a very real sense in giving us an 
outline and giving us a wish list of what it is that the 
Department of Corrections thinks its needs are to irrproving what 
we have right now. · 

I do hope you've made sane notes, because Senator 
Inverso, I think, gave you a number of things that we hope you 
would touch on. I would add a few rrore. 

TI1.ere are things that we've been talking about over 
the last couple of meetings: Address the Penal Code, the fact 
of being repetitive. Do we need to change the Penal Code so 
that a judge is not necessarily having his hands tied to 
detez:mine whether or not a person has been repetitive 
carpulsive? What about that first-time offender? Do we need to 
treat them? Do we need to change the Penal Code so that we can 
treat them at Avenel? 

Senator Girgenti has brought up, and did discuss -­
because I was at the hearings concerning Megan's Law and he was 
a prqxment of it -- basically the afte:rnonitoring. I would 
rather not call it aftercare, but afte:rnonitoring of those who 
are released. How can we do a better job of doing that and 
rraking sure that the people who are on the street are keeping in 
contact with the system, so to speak? 
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Geriatric care : TI1ere has been some criticism over the 
last couple of days. We've heard it again about "three strikes 
you're in," and how much extra burden and expense this is going 
to bring on the system. I'm concerned about that, but I'm also 
very concerned that these people are being released. 

But, I also recognize the fact that if , in fact, we 
have geriatric prisoners, then there is probably a cheaper way 
to house them and incarcerate them until the expiration of their 
term -- whether it is the expiration of their life or the 
expiration of their term -- than it is for sorreone where we need 
maximum security. If they' re , in fact, geriatrics, we can 
probably do it a whole lot cheaper . I think that is one way we 
can hold down the costs of three strikes and you're in . . 

Irrprovements at the correction institutions: What 
irrprovements do we need to make, but I guess, particularly, at 
Avenel? What can we do to irrprove those systems? One that I 
was rrost shocked about and we talked about over and over again 
was not the fiscal planned irrprovements, but the actual idle 
time that we saw. 

I don't necessarily think that people at Avenel - - the 
inmates at Avenel - - should be doing camrunity service, out in 
the corrmunity doing sornething, but I think they should be doing 
something. I don't think it ' s good for anybody, whether they' re 
a prisoner or they're rrty' 13-year-old son, to sit around for a 
long time doing nothing . I think, quite frankly, it is 
sornething we really need t o look at . We've got to find 
scmething for those irrra t es to do . I don't care if it's busy 
work. Whatever it i s, ::-:ey've got to be doing scmething, and I 
don't think it's camrun1t y service. 

But those are, I hope, the things that you will get 
back to us on, because without your input I don't think this 
Task Force can really finalize its mission. You have to be 
involved in this. Your department has to be involved in this 
because you are the experts in this area. We need to hear from 
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you so we can finalize and, hopefully, have sane meaningful 
conclusion to what we've been doing for the last couple of 
months. 

Thank you for your participation up to now, and I ask 
· · you, through the Chairs, to continue to participate in a real 

sense so that we know what it is that you need. 
ca.1MISSIONER FAtNER: Thank you. Okay, I' 11 be glad 

to, Senator. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Assemblywcxran Turner. 
ASSEMBLYWCMAN TURNER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Thank you, Comnissioner, for being here with us today. 

I have several concerns. 
One regards the last time we met, when we learned that 

all inmates at Avenel are not required to participate in the 
therapy in order to get the benefit of good behavior credits. 
That was a great surprise to me and also a real concern. But I 
was also told that as a result of the bill that was passed as 
part of the Megan's law package, it did not make that law 
retroactive to apply to all inmates. 

ca.1MISSIONER FAtNER: That is correct. That is our 
understanding of it. 

ASSEMBL'Ywa.1AN TURNER: I was also told that the 
Department would be rrost appreciative if that law applied to all 
inmates. Is that true? You would like to see--

ca+1ISSIONER FAtNER: I would like to see it, yes. I 
won't speak for Bill. 

MR. PIANI'IER: Yes, certainly. 
ASSEMBL'Ywa.1AN TURNER: As a result of that, I did 

introduce legislation to make that retroactive so that no inmate 
at Avenel, no matter when they were admitted, would be able to 
have those good behavior credits without the treatment. 

ca+1ISSIONER FAtNER: That is great . Yes, we 'd 
certainly support that. 
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ASSEMBLYWa.1AN TURNER: The other area of concern 
regards-- You indicated earlier, at the outset, that you have 
problems with providing statistical background as far as 
recidivism. You don't have the resources to provide the type of 
statistics that would be rrore accurate in determining 
recidivism. Is that what I understood? 

CCMv1ISSIONER FAlNER: Yes, but I think that is 
improving. We're getting pretty trn.lch conputerized now. It is 
going to be easier to do. What I said in response to the people 
who went through, and I know what Loretta was responding to when 
she said earlier -- not today, but at other hearings -- that we 
really have to do that alrrost on a case-by-case basis. You 
know, start with inmate A and just keep going down to see where 
they are at a given point. 

I don't think we' re too far away f ran being all 
conputerized and us being able to do that. But, again, as I 
said, one of the things -- and I think this is part of Senator 
Inverso's question -- is the definition itself. Is it arrest 
and reincarceration? Is it just arrest? Is it an arrest for 
stealing a car when before the person was an armed robber or a 
sex of fender? I mean, there are answers to those. I just threw 
that out. 

But I think that within- - I'm not sure, I don't want 
to give you a time frame because I'm so used to dealing with 
construction projects that time frames becane meaningless. I 
think in the near future, really, we should be able to do that 
cc:xtpUte:r:wise. Then it will be rrore easily accessible and also 
accurate. 

ASSEMBLYWCMAN TURNER: I think right now it is 
patently clear that we have to be rrore accountable in terms of 
the dollars that we're spending. OUr taxpayers are demanding 
it. I think this administration, too, is demanding that we get 
the biggest bang for our buck. So if we can show how that rroney 
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is being spent and the benefit that we are deriving from it, I 

think it will be easier to get budget requests fulfilled. 
But I wanted to speak to the legislation that was just 

passed this week by the Assembly, the "three strikes and you're 
in." I think that is nothing rrore than a bumper sticker slogan, 
and my concern is this: What is the philosophy of our penal 
system? Is it one of warehousing or is it one of 
rehabilitation? 

I think with this three strikes and you're in it is 
going to place, certainly, rrore financial pressure, as well as 
other types of strains and burdens, on an already overburdened 
and crowded system. But if we ' re going to be saying that these 
criminals are going to have one strike, two strikes, and then 
three strikes, is it going to be the policy of the prison system 
to try not to have them care back for that second strike and 
third strike? Are we going to rehabilitate them? Are we going 
to provide them in sare way with job skills or educational 
training, drug treatrrent, so you will not have them for the rest 
of their lives? 'Tiley will not go out and care back and have to 
serve a lifetirre sentence. 

Also, the question, too, of prison reform: It is my 
opinion -- I have no data to back it up-- I don't think that 
criminals really fear irrprisonrnent, because they have all the 
luxuries in prison that they have at hare and saretirres rrore. 
They can bring their 'IVs, their stereos, their CDs, their 
corrputers, and they get three hots and a cot. 

They don't have to pay anything for rredical services, 
which we do in the private sector. Many \tJOrking people can' t 
have free health care or dental services. 'Tile only thing that 
they suffer is sane restrainrnent . They can't care and go as 
they please. They get paid for sitting around doing nothing all 
day, and they can use that rroney to go to the ccmnissary to buy 
whatever personal needs they want. 
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So what is the deterrent there? I don't really see 
the three strikes, saying you're going to be locked up for life, 
as a real deterrent to crime. 

c:a-1MISSIONER FAUVER: Well , I think what the place is 
like is, in some ways , irrelevant . If it is nice or if it is 
terrible, the fact that at 10:00 at night the door slams shut, 
you're locked in, somebody else lets you out at 6:00 or 7:00 in 
the rrorning, and you have no control over your own destiny in 
that sense. 

I think it's easy to say that may not be enough. I'm 
not sure, but I think it would be enough for me, I'll tell you 
that . If that were the situation that was happening to me every 
day for the next X number of years. 'Ibis room is a nice room, 
but you wouldn't want to stay in here for an elongated period of 
time. 

I think one of the things that you addressed, and sare 
others have too, would be the aging of the population. I think 
that is one of the things that we don't have now. We don' t have 
the geriatric center or a place to put people where then you 
would free up the bed space for others in the less desirable 
institutions, if you will. 

But I think we are still going to try to provide the 
tools for _a person to help themselves, whether it's education, 
voe ed, drug treatment, drug and alcohol treatment. Substance 
abuse arrong the population is still the rrost prevalent issue. 
More people in have a history of abuse than any other offense. 

Those things we are-- As I indicated earlier, with 
the Bridgeton Prison, we ' re trying to - - not trying, we ' re 
carmitting a certain portion of that prison to substance abuse 
counseling. So we' re going to continue to try to do that . What 
happens is you get overwhelmed with the numbers, and that is the 
situation we're in right now. 

I hope that addresses at least sare of the--
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ASSEMBLYWCMAN TURNER: But do you feel that your job 
is to warehouse or do you feel any--

CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: No, I don't think that at all. 
I think my job is to provide a secure, safe system, to try to 
provide programs that will help people to make it on the street, 
and at the same time, to protect them from each other, protect 
our staff, and protect the public. I don't think those are 
necessarily divergent issues. I think they all mesh. So I 
don't think we're just warehousing at all. 

ASSEMBLYWa.1AN 'IURNER: Do you feel that your 
recidivism rate is satisfactory? Is it respectable? 

cc:r.1MISSIONER FAUVER: Well, I don't know. I think the 
issue isn't really what is it -- which I'm not sure what it is, 
I've heard the figures today. If we' re talking about 20 percent 
or 20-some percent of people who have not rrade it before but are 
rraking it now, that's good. But I'm not sure that group is all 
making it. We just rray not know about it. That is another 
group in the middle. It is somewhere in between. 

ASSEMBLYWCMAN 'IURNER: Apparently, the overwhelming 
feeling is that the rrajority is not making it; otherwise, we 
wouldn't have this three strikes and you're in legislation that 
is pending the Governor's signature right now. 

C'CMv1ISSIONER FAUVER: As I've said, I think it is 
unrealistic for the public or anybody else to assUire that the 
corrections system, the prison system, is going to turn people 
around that all the other institutions of society have not been 
able to, whether it's sc!-:ool, church, family, whatever. All we 
can do is give our best s=-:ot at it. 

SENA'IOR BASSA'JO: May I just internipt? We ' re kind of 
drifting fran Avenel into the general problem of prisons. So if 
you could stay rrore to Avenel--

ASSEMBLYWCMAN 'IURNER: Okay. Well, thank you, I'm 
finished. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI.AK: Mr. Thanas. 
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MR. THCMAS: Most of the questions that I had have 

been answered. We've all talked a lot . We've all asked--

I would like to make a statement. I was going to make 
this statement later on, but I think the time is now. Before I 
make this statement, I want to stress one thing. I am not 
talking al:x:)Ut individuals. I 'm not pointing at individuals. 
I'm talking about the system, and that is this side of the table 
with the other side of the table . I'd like to start now. 

Just prior to the closing of the last two Task Force 
meetings, I made a statement. A copy of both statements and 
references are available. 

At this time, after additional thought and research, 
I would like to surnnarize the results of my findings, as a 
nonprofessional, and offer the following sumna.:ry: 

1. New Jersey is one of the few, if not the only 
state, offering a separate prison facility for the evaluation 
and treatment of sex of fenders. Other states do of fer treatrnent 
but in a regular facility. 

2. I've talked with the states of Virginia and 
california, and they recently conpleted lengthy studies 
regarding the treatrnent of sex of fenders. They are now 
discontinuing their special programs as of June of 1995. The 
programs were found to be noneffective and costly. 

3 . Of all the psychologists specializing in this type 
of of fender or treatrnent that I have contacted, and I have 
contacted them all over the United States, not one suggests a 
cure for a pedophile . I 'm not talking about a rapist . I 'm 
tal.kiDJ about a pedophile. They state that only a small 
percentage, if any, can be helped. 

Recent studies now show that lifetime parole and 
constant rronitoring are required. We cannot continue releasing 
maxed out prisoners into our coomunity. A nationally known 
psychologist - - he is one of the top in the country - - has 
stated to me that without follow-up, New Jersey has wasted 
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treatment, time, and its rroney. We have also endangered our 
public and our innocent children. 

4. We have been unable to determine the effectiveness 

of New Jersey's program, as proper records have not been kept 
and no evaluation report has been made over the last five years. 

When I start on this I'm still talking about the 
system: OUr administrators of the Avenel facility have not been 
prepared to help this Task Force in the evaluation or the 
investigation of the effectiveness of this program. They have 
stated that they are not responsible for the attitude or the 
type of prisoner because the prisoners are assigned to Avenel by 
the courts. 

Their treatment and therapy is limited by the 
insufficient funds provided by the legislators. They cannot 
evaluate the effectiveness of their program or keep proper 
records because of the limited funds provided by Trenton. They 
also do not control the readiness, the tirre of release, or the 
responsibility for release because the prisoners are maxed out 
by law. 

OUr State undertook this program approximately 20 
years ago. At the present tirre, our annual cost is in excess of 
$25 million to house approximately 725 offenders, where we offer 
at rrost four hours of group therapy a week - - four hours - - rrost 
of them get an hour and a half or two hours. Thirty percent of 
the 700 don't want any. They do not accept it. They do not 
receive it . Another 3 o percent, as we all know, go through the 
rrotions and have little interest. If you don't have any 
interest, you don't receive any help no matter what your problem 
is. SO they receive very little help. 

So, at best, we have provided in this State a full 
facility to provide only limited treatrrent to 300 that 
participate as sex of fenders. We don't keep any records or make 
any study as to where we' re going and what the effectiveness has 
been. 
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It is felt that it is about time that we should 
consider directing our tax dollars to programs where we have a 
better potential of better results. 

In conclusion, I believe that we trust change our 
sentencing practices. Sex offenders should be sentenced to 
serve their time in regular State prison. Tilerapy should be 
treated as a privilege that trust be requested and warranted, and 
then we, where it is wanted and requested, furnish better 
treatment in a regular prison facility. 

We have asked our Avenel administrators if they would 
be comfortable with treated of fenders released in their 
neighborhoods, and their answer, naturally, was in the negative. 
How can we continue to maintain this facility and release 
so-called treated sex of fenders Ul11T'Onitored? 

We have given this program rrore than arrple titre and it 
has not proven to be successful. It is titre to close Avenel as 
a diagnostic treattrent center and put it to other uses within 
our correctional system, where we will have a better potential 
for rrore rewarding results. 

I think it is the duty of this Task Force to bring 
about change at this time and no longer can we support the 
status quo. 

I thank you. Now, if you have any questions that you 
would like to ask tre about my staterrent, or if you would like to 
ask any question of a victim, who is a grandfather, a father, a 
husband, I will be glad to reply to your questions. (no 
response) 

I thank you for your time. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Tilank you, Mr. Tilanas. 
SENA'IOR BASSANO: Professor Brooks. 
DR. BROOKS: I would like, if I may, to direct sare 

questions to Cannissioner Fauver based on your staterrent. Is 
that agreeable to you? 
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MR. THCMAS: Yes, it is. After that, Gregg Muller 
would like to speak. 

DR. BROOKS: Cormrissioner, Senator Girgenti asked you 
a question about the possibility of eliminating Avenel and 
substituting treatment in various regular prisons as an 
alternative, and that has also just been raised. 

You responded with what a lawyer would call a 
conclusory answer. Namely, you said you didn't think that was 
the way to go; conclusion. No reason given, no analysis, and 
many of your responses, if I may say so, have been very 
conclusory here, and the Senators and Assemblymen have accepted 
those conclusions. They have not penetrated beyond those 
conclusions. They ask you, "Conrnissioner, what do you think?" 
You say, "This is what I think," next question. 

May I respectfully ask you at the beginning: What is 
your response to the question that has just been raised in this 
statement, and that the Senator also raised? 

Before you give that response, may I indicate to you 
that there is a general feeling arrong many rrembers of this Task 
Force at this tirre that the treatrrent that has been given for 
many years at Avenel is useless. Now, this view that it is 
useless is based on at least two factors. 

_One, there is an enornous body of research indicating 
that, at best, the kind of treatment given at Avenel is useless. 
But even in those situations where there is an effort to say 
there has been sare success, has been with programs in which 
rmlch rrDre therapy has been provided than at Avenel. 

I think, quite frankly, if I may say this, that for a 
large proportion of inmates at Avenel to get one, two, three, 
four hours a week of therapy is a farce. Because even if it 
were successful elsewhere, it certainly has no chance of being 
successful here. 

Furthernore, I think it is fair to say that this Task 
Force and the New Jersey Legislature is not about to increase 
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substantially the am::iW1t of fW1ding for therapy that would make 
it reasonably efficacious. 

Now, if that is true, even if you add a therapist here 
or there, it is foolish to suggest that is going to make any 
significant change where you have 700 residents of an 
institution like Avenel. I mean, let's be realistic. These 
changes that have been made -- which, of course, this Task Force 
wasn't even told about - - are trivial. 'Ibey're trivial because 
you rronkey aroW1d with a few changes here and there, it 
accomplishes nothing . 

Now, I would like to ask you, Cornnissioner, what is 
your response -- and this is only my first question -- to the 
proposal given in addition that so many inmates at Avenel refuse 
treatment, go through the rrotions of treatment, and get no help 
from treatment, to have a new approach in which the treatment 
fW1ction of Avenel is terminated and treatment is made available 
in the various prisons of the State only to those sex of fenders 
who initiate requests for treatment, and where they get no 
benefit other than the treatment itself from having requested 
treatment -- no special treatment? 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: Professor, do you have a specific 
question of the Ccxrrnissioner? 

DR. BROOKS: Yes, I do. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO : Okay. Please ask the specific 

question. 
DR. BROOKS: I d i d, but I wanted to indicate where I 

was caning from, Senat~ ~ . s o that he would be able to focus on 
the point that I am mai<:. :-.g, ·..;hi ch is: How do you respond to that 
approach? Here is a :-:-.a ~ or approach that is being presented. 
What is your response, e ther than to say, "I don't like it," or, 

"Maybe"? 
C'CM-1ISSIONER FAlNER: Well, I think that I have 

answered. I didn't come--
DR. BROOKS: You have not . 
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CCMMISSIONER FAU\lER: Well, that's your opinion, but 
I think I have. I think if a Senator or Assemblyperson or any 
member wants to follow up on what was asked, that is their 
prerogative to do so. I wouldn't write off the fact that they 
would not come up with more money to do programs, which you seem 
willing to do. 

I think when I'm asked something it is because of my 
position not because of me personally. I think that is how I've 
tried to respond. I don't know what analytical judgment has to 
go into why I respond a certain way. I answer the questions to 
the best of my ability. I was asked a question, "What did I 
think was better," and I said, "I'm not ready to write off the 
Avenel Trod.el." It may be written off; this body, the 
Legislature, other people may do that. 

But I think if the theory that is still in vogue with 
drug and alcohol treatment is to put people together in whatever 
kind of cannunity, for want of a better word -- a therapeutic 
cannunity -- why not do the same thing with sex offenders? What 
is different with it? Obviously, I know there are differences, 
but I would just say that I would stand on what I said, not to 
embellish it. 

DR. BROOKS: So if I may paraphrase what you said, the 
analysis that you have given us or the reasons for wanting to 
stay with Avenel as it is, is the concept of a ccxmrunity where 
you have 700 sex offenders in one place, and you think that is 
not only a good idea, but that justifies having an institution 
like Avenel? 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: I don't think that is what is being 
said. I think what the Corrrnissioner is saying is that therapy 
can be effective, but some of the problems he has we created as 
a Legislature, and I think we have to try--

DR. BROOKS: How did you as a Legislature create-­
SENA'IDR BASSANO: I think that the changing of the 

Penal Code in 1978 is the most glaring change. I can tell you 
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I was here, and I voted against it, by the way. But changing 
the Penal Code where we did away with the mandatory 30-year 
sentence, I think, was one of the major mistakes that we made. 
Plus the fact that the Legislature, in my opinion, didn't 
provide additional backup help for these people once they were 
paroled . Plus we didn't give parole to these people. We're 
letting these people max out now under the old Penal Code. 

I think if we start ma.king some of those changes, 
we'll start seeing a better success ratio. If we look at what 
Mr. Plantier told us earlier, Superintendent Plantier said if we 
can try to maintain that 30 to 1 ratio that has to help. If we 
start taking people out of that institution who don't belong 
there and putting them back into the general prison population, 
that has to help . 

But I think that therapy is successful to some extent, 
but we have to start maybe being a little bit rrore careful as to 
who is going to be in it and how we're going to let people back 
onto the street. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: I don't think, Professor Brooks, 
that we are taking the Comnissioner at face value. I think I 

expressed my disenchantment with the Department of Corrections 
this morning. I think there was a point in the life of this 
Task Force where we were looking at therapy, and then we became 
unable to look at the therapy because they changed the therapy 
in the middle of the game. 

So now we're rroving on to sorne things that we can do 
which are, I think, going to be significant, like increasing the 
sentence time and decreasing the population at Avenel. So I 
don't think you' re going to see- - The end result of this should 
not be a 700 member facility with 700 sex offenders. 

DR. BROOKS: I understand, Assemblyman, but if I may 
pursue this for one rroment? 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Sure. 
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DR. BRC:OKS: It seems to me that since we're in the 
process of exploration of alternatives, the alternative of 
terminating Avenel -- which may be very displeasing to some 
is on the table, is it not? 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: E-1erything is on the table. 
DR. BROOKS: Because it is on the table, I wanted to 

pursue with the Corrrnissioner what his reaction is to it. Why he 
thinks it would be a good idea or why he thinks it would be a 
bad idea? I'm only pointing out that except for the notion that 
we have to have a cornnunity of sex offenders in one place, there 
seems to be no reason being given for one or the other. 

This, after all, is a person who is at the head of the 
whole structure and should be able to tell us why. 

SENATOR BASSANO: There were reasons, though. Because 
prior to Avenel, these people who were put into the general 
prison population were the so-called bottan of the food chain, 
and they were chewed up by the rest of the prisoners. That was 
one of the rrajor problems that you had when you placed them into 
the general population. 

DR. BROOKS: Well, you' re giving a reason. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Secondly, to put all these people 

under one roof it is easier to treat them, if you're going to 
provide. any type of treatment for them. So that was one of the 
reasons for the creation of Avenel. 

DR. BROOKS: But has that eventuated? 
SENATOR BASSANO: Well, I think what has happened is 

what started out as a facility that should have been treating 
200 or 300 people, we just kept throwing people in there. It 
has gotten out of hand, where the treatment is now secondary and 
we've turned it into a prison. 

DR. BROOKS: I 'm going to save my further rerrarks and 
questions for when the Task Force gets together. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I can see we' re going to have a 
lively meeting when we do that. 
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DR. BRCOKS: I was really trying to address this to 
the Cornn.issioner. I really was interested in getting from the 
comnissioner his view about this crucial question. 

SENATDR BASSANO: I know you' re running late. I 'd 
like to conclude your testim:my . I have a note here that you' re 
running late. 

What I would ask for you to do, again, as Senator 
Inverso and Senator Matheussen both asked, please provide us 
with what you need so that we can then evaluate that when we put 
together our report? I won't promise you anything, but I can 
tell you it will be discussed. 

CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: I understand . I would like to 
be involved in the discussions, too. 

SENATOR BASSANO: May these members, if they so desire 
like Professor Brooks - - write to you to get some written 

response from you? 
CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: 
CCMMISSIONER FAUVER: 

Sure . 
Through the Task Force. 
Through the Chair? 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Yes. 
SENATDR BASSANO: If you would be kind enough to 

answer any response that they have? 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Yes, provide the written 

response to Anne Stefane, and she' 11 share it with the Task 
Force and forward it to the Conmissioner. 

benefit. 

ca+1ISSIONER FAUVER: That's fine. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: That way we can all have the 

SENA'IOR BASSANO: Thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Thank you. 
C'CM-1ISSIONER FAUVER: Thank you. 
SENA'IOR BASSANO: call our next witness, please. 
MS. STEFANE: Karen Wengert and Paul Schlaflin. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: Karen, Paul, I want to apologize. 
I know you were at the last meeting and we didn't get to you, so 
I wanted to apolGg"ize for that. 

Whichever one of you would like to start. 
K A R E N W E N G E R T: Thank you. 

One year ago, my daughter Ananda was murdered, 
allegedly, by a previously convicted sex offender. At the age 
of 16, he rrolested three children all between four and six years 
of age. The heinous acts that he coomitted were not that of an 
experimenting juvenile, but of an adult seeking sexual 
gratification. He was slapped on the wrist and given one year 
of probation and one hour of therapy per week as his punishment. 

We need to get help for these sex off enders when they 
are juveniles, not when they beccrre savage adults. One could 
only guess whether Ananda would be alive today if the accused, 
Kevin Aquino, had served time in a juvenile facility. 

I have read rrany articles and have spoken with rrany 
different people regarding sex offenders. On the whole, 
therapists, psychologists, and law enforcement personnel do not 
believe that rrost adult sex offenders can be treated and 
rehabilitated. Most feel that the only treatable offenders are 
juveniles who are just starting to act on their deviant urges. 

One adult sex offender writes, "In rrany cases, prison 
intensifies sex offenders' conditions by making us rrore savage." 
He continues, "Sex offenders who have been to prison not only 
emerge with an appetite for violence, but also learn a lesson 
about how to stay out of :ail: make sure the next victim can't 
ever report them. " 

We must remer..ber sex offenders are criminals of the 
lowest magnitude. We rrrust punish them for the heinous acts they 
have coomitted by sending them to prison to serve hard time. 
Only then should inmates who ask for therapy and seem eager to 
receive counseling be able to participate. · There should be no 
gocxi behavior credits for those who participate. 

SS 



In our State alone there are over 700 juvenile sex 
offenders. We have just one 18-bed facility in which to treat 
these offenders. Spending time and rroney on sex offenders when 
they are juveniles could save a child's life. 

To reiterate, we need to get help for these sex 
offenders while they are juveniles. The time for change is now. 
With the support of the people, and organizations such as The 
Friends of Amanda Foundation, we can all work together to form 
a juvenile treatment center that is proud of the work they do. 

Thank you. 
P AU L S C H LA F L I N: Here in New Jersey, we have been 
involved with a 20-year social experiment known as Avenel, a 
program of diagnosis and treatment for adult sexual offenders. 
A program which has proven itself, as evidenced by the events of 
the last years, a dismal failure and waste of millions of 
dollars in State revenues. 

We have proven that no arrount of therapy, fine arts 
programs, or coodling will protect our conmunities upon the 
reintroduction of violent sexual predators into our society. We 
have learned that such innovative techniques as masturbation 
satiation, whereby predators view sexually explicit films and 
masturbate excessively in an attempt to burn out their deviant 
desires, do nothing to enhance the safety of our . innocent 
children. 

Most troubling to myself and the thousands of New 
Jersey citizens I have spoken with is this concept that we as a 
society are sanehow indebted, obligated to spend tens of 
thousands of dollars a year, year after year, in a futile 
attenpt to correct what is broken beyond repair. 

What we have learned is that adult sexual predators 
never lose their urge, their desire to offend again. We know 
lists of victims totaling in the hundreds is not uncamon for 
adult sexual offenders. Even rrore troubling is the fact that 
all victims, especially child victims, have the potential to 
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become offenders themselves . This fact rrost likely contributed 
to the 711 juveniles arrested in 1993 for sex crimes, including 
235 rapes, 10 of which were corrrnitted by children under the age 
of 10. 

Although the consensus of opinion of rrost experts in 
the field as the best chance of reaching a sexual offender and 
having a positive irrpact is early intervention, some say by age 
12 or 13, here in New Jersey we have a single 18-bed facility 
for juvenile sex offenders. 

Now, considering it is an 18-nonth program of 
treatment and we adjudicate around 1000 juveniles in an 18-nonth 
period, we're about 982 beds short of dealing with the problem 
of juvenile sexual predators, and further, the adult offender, 
since the juvenile offender of today is the adult offender of 
torrorrow. 

There is nothing, nothing that we can do to guarantee 
our children will be safe f ran harm fran the 700-plus inmates 
now at Avenel. We can, however, help assure the safety of our 
grandchildren by comnitting to dealing with the juvenile 
offender now. 

A bill recently introduced by Michael Arnone of the 
12th District, scratches the surface by adding 30 or so beds. 
What I would pref er to see is a willingness to accept the 
chronic nature of the adult sexual predator, to seek civil 
cc:mnitrrent, and renove, once and for all, the danger of 
recidivism. This can only occur when the offender is no longer 
part of our society. 

Close Avenel as an adult facility and rededicate the 
buildi.BJ and the budget to the real problem: the untreated 
juvenile offender. We can no longer afford to pour millions of 
dollars into a failed social experiment, while at the same time 
virtually ignoring the very real problem of juvenile offenders. 
How do we justify millions of dollars spent on therapy that 
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doesn't work, and at the same time, ignore the root cause of 
adult predation, the juvenile sexual offender? 

Jesse Tirrmendequas served six years at this facility, 
Avenel . The victim of the attack that put him there survived. 
His first known victim upon his release wasn't as lucky. We 
buried seven-year-old Megan· .Kanka seven m:mths ago. We krov th: 

outpatient treatment afforded rrost juveniles doesn't work. 
Kevin Aquino successfully corrpleted the program shortly before 
raping and murdering six-year-old Amanda Wengert . 

Your Task Force is in a position t o affect real and 
meaningful change, but please don't fool yourself into believing 
a sirrple restructuring of t reatment will sanehow enhance the 
results. 'Ihis is not a problem of understaffing; rrore therapy 
won't help. You will not find any rrore success in the records 
from the beginning of this program than we have now. 

Further, I would like to state that after sitting 
through the six hours of testirrony at the meeting February 1, I 
was appalled. It was quite apparent to me, after listening to 
the administration and therapeutic staff, that Avenel is 
operating in a state of utter chaos: administrators mandating 
programs against the advice of those who should best understand 
needs, whistle-blowing therapists accusing each other of 
rnisrepr~~entations to this Task Force . 

Megan' s Law was also ref erred to in testirrony. F.im:, 

let me say I becarre involved, and was pursuing in the 
Legislature, Megan's Law five rronths before Megan was murdered. 
I take great exception to anyone trying to put a negative spin 
on Megan's Law; there is none . This law, in my opinion, based 
in sinple ccmron sense, will help identify the of fender who 
accepts his problem and wants help. 

An alcoholic truly concerned with his rehabilitation 
would have no problem with the neighborhcx:xi bartender knowing 
not to serve him. Why \.tlOuldn't the pedophile want me to know 
not to leave my two young sons alone with him? That is, if he 
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was serious about avoiding a regression, which I believe was the 
term one therapist used to describe a rape by a treated and 
released sex offender. 

I don't, however, believe it was the same therapist 
who suggested that society is somehow to blame for not hiring a 
kinder, gentler, rrore corrpassionate prison guard. Perhaps we 
should consider engaging the services of a gentleman's gentleman 
for each of the Avenel inmates, thereby raising their 
self-esteem to a level whereby they would feel comfortable 
participating in therapy. 

I sul::::mit to this Task Force that under ideal 
conditions, in a utopian environment, an extremely small segment 
of the very large population of sexual predators will gain 
significantly from therapy and none will be cured. F\.lrther, 
Avenel is as far from ideal conditions as one could get. By the 
Director's own admissions, no state of the art exists; however, 
at Avenel anarchy certainly does. 

I challenge the members of this Task Force to take the 
only logical course. Have the courage to say what you know in 
your hearts is true; there is no hope for the adult offender. 
Therefo~e, we can no longer justify our resources while at the 
same time the real problem and solution -- juvenile treatment 
programs -- go, for the rrost part, unfunded. 

If we fail to act now, if Avenel is not closed and the 
program discontinued, I feel that we will all have to accept 
part of the responsibility and the guilt for any further acts of 
recidivism. 

Thank you. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: I thank you for your canrents. Let 

me first point out that the Task Force that is before you was 
not charged to look at the juvenile offender. We recognize that 
is a very major problem. The Governor's Task Force just issued 
a report dealing with juveniles in general. 
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One of the things that I envision caning out of this 

Task Force is the creation of a permanent Corrmission on Avenel 

and on sex offenders. I certainly would include as part of the 
charge to that Corrmission to look at the juvenile of fender and 
how we' re going to deal with that offender. Should that 
of fender be in Corrections? Should they be in Human Services? 

You're absolutely on target when you talk about the 
number of beds, or the lack of beds, that we have in this system 
and the need for additional help for that offender. But, again, 
as I said, we were not charged to handle that particular 
problem. Some of the other ccmnents that you made are 
well-taken, and we will certainly take sane of the ccmnents that 
you made into cc:i.sideration as we put together a report on 
Avenel and how v.--~ would irrprove the system as it presently 
exists. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI.AK: I agree with many things that 
you said, and we've talked about this in the past. But I still 
don't understand what makes you think-- If we took a 700-person 
population, a large facility for sex offenders -- that I 
acknowledge is disfunctional -- and closed it and then created 
a 700-bed facility for juvenile sex offenders, duplicating what 
is not working now, seems to me to be a recipe for failure. 
'Ibat is not workir. . 

The Pinel ands is smaller. It's outside of this Task 
Force's purview, but it seems to have a better effect. I would 
consider replicating that in a number of places. I would 
consider putting m::mey ~:-:t :) :hat . But the last thing in the 
world that I would want :o s ee would be an Adult Diagnostic 
Treatment center for juveni l es that size -- a big institution. 

MR. Sarr.AFLIN: Well, again, I 'm talking about the 
building itself. It would have to be utilized, again, as 700 
beds. It was my understanding that it was originally built to 
accarrrodate 300. Certainly, we could set it up to accamodate 
small pod groups of juveniles. 
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SENA'IDR BASSANO: This is what we ' re talking of doing; 
taking people out of there who are not willing to accept 
treatment, people who are long-term prisoners, and putting 
people in there where we can increase the success ratio. This 
Task Force recognizes that we are never going to be 100 percent 
successful with all the sex offenders who are out there. 

• We think if you achieve an 80 percent success ratio, 
that success ratio would go back on the street. The other 20 
percent who can't be helped or refuse help, never let them out 
of the system. They have to stay there indefinitely. I think 
if we start segregating that way, we' re going to have a rrore 
successful system. But that is what I think you' re going to see 
coming out of this Task Force in the recarmendations that we 
will make. 

I don't want to go on. I know Senator Inverso had a 
question or a statement. 

SENA'IDR INVERSO: I think you're absolutely right on 
target when it comes to dealing with juveniles. The one thing 
that has emerged for me since the tragedies that have occurred 
in this State - - with your child and Maureen Kanka' s child - - is 
that while we need to look at Avenel, which we' re doing, we have 
disregarded, alrrost ignored the need to deal with youth who are 
sex offenders. 

I have trade it my personal cormritment, as far as the 
Budget Cormrittee that I serve on, to make sure that we deploy 
resources for either a replication of Pinelands or other 
programs. I recently -- in the past week -- met with catholic 
Charities in the area. They have a youth/juvenile sex offender 
program that is in need of funding. If they can continue to 
operate on the basis that the program can achieve the goals that 
it has laid out for itself, I've cormritted myself to seek those 
funds in the budget. 

But you are absolutely right bringing it to the table 
at this point in time. We're all aware of it as a result of 
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this process. If we ignore that need, then, indeed, we shirk 
our responsibilities to, as you said, our children and 
grandchildren, because that is where the real problem will be if 
we keep ignoring the fact that juveniles will grow to be adults. 
At that point in time we have lost the battle, we really have, 
and lost the war. 

Thank you, again. I know how difficult it is for you 
to cane before us on this issue, but I want to conmend you and 
Maureen Kanka for taking the tragedies that occurred in your 
lives and trying to make it better for others. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Absolutely. 
Thank you very much. 
MR. SCHLAFLIN: Thank you. 
SENATOR BASSANO: We ' re going to have one rrore speaker 

before we break for lunch. This person has a scheduling problem 
so we want to get this person on before we break. 

MS . STEFANE: Rob Freenan-I.Dngo, the Safer Society 
Program. 

SENATOR BASSANO: We thank you for coming to New 
Jersey. 
R 0 B E RT E. F RE EM AN - L 0 NG 0: You're welcome. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Perhaps you may want to give a brief 
background of yourself before you get into your testirrony. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: My name is Rob Freenan-I.ongo. I 
currently codirect the Safer Society Program and Press in 
Brandon, Verrront. The Safer Society was founded approximately 
20 years ago by Fay Knopp. Our primary mission is the 
prevention and treatment of sexual abuse. 
infonnation referral center on this issue. 
several of which I have written myself. 

We ' re a national 
We publiscy books, 

We collect data, and we have sane data, which I'm 
willing to share this rrorning, that is pretty much unique in the 
United States if not the world. We' re the only agency that 
tracks what is going on in sex offender treatment; that is, what 
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the trends are, what seems to be working, what seems to not be 
working, what rrodalities are rrost widely used, etc. 

I've also got a background-- In addition to working 
at Safer Society, for the past 17 years I have treated both 
adult and juvenile sex offenders in correctional settings, state 
hospital settings, and in the conmunity. I currently do work 
part-time as a contract person providing treatment to juvenile 
sex offenders. So I think that is a pretty quick background. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Feel free to continue. 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Okay. The sense I kind of have as 

to why I 'm here is to talk a bit about what seem to be the 
trends in treatment, to maybe address a little bit about Avenel, 
which I am somewhat familiar with, and then maybe answer some 
questions. 

I have not made a personal visit to Avenel, but became 
quite familiar with that facility when I first began working in 
this field, because the Director at that time, a man named Bill 
Prendergast, was running that outfit and came down to Florida 
where I began my career working in this field. That is how I 
became familiar with it. 

At that point in time, certainly back in 1978, when 
the United States had identified approximately 25 programs in 
the country treating sex offenders, Avenel was considered to be 
somewhat of a leading rrodel and program. 

Today, the Safer Society has identified well over 1700 
programs, which is based on a 65 percent return on 
questionnaires. So I'm here to tell you that the existence of 
programs in the United States, from just about 15 years or 17 
years from the first beginnings of our surveys, has grown 
considerably. That is to say, there are well over 1000 programs 
treating juveniles in this country. There are well over 1000 
programs treating adult sex offenders in this country. 

For the first time we have begun tracking programs 
treating what we call "abuse reactive children"; that is, four-, 
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five-, and six-year-olds who have been sexually abused and begin 
to act out sexually. We don't label them as predators. They 
are sort of rrodeling that behavior, and we would hate to refer 
to those poor kids as sex offenders, at least right now. 

The little bit I have gained from reading one of the 
reports done by a Dr. Nancy Steele, who I am familiar with -­
she is a NIC consultant, as am I -- indicates that there 
certainly are some problems with Avenel. 

When I heard this rrorning -- having come in about an 
hour ago -- about an hour and a half of therapy per week, that 
certainly is not something I would label as therapy. People 
ref erring to use of certain types of behavioral techniques that 
are slowly waning, as new rrodels and techniques come into 
existence, would indicate that, certainly, that program, if it 
is going to continue, should be revisited. Have a couple of 
consultants come in who are much rrore in tune with what is 
happening at a national level with the data to support what is 
happening in their programs, and maybe look at revisiting some 
of the techniques. 

A staff/client ratio of 30 people in a group is way 
too high. You' re not going to have success with 30 people in a 
group. The standard around the United States for treatment 
would probably be 8 or 10 to a group, 12 to 15 at a maximum 
level, and for a group therapy session, it should be no less 
than an hour and a half. 

In a residential program, if you' re spending 
twenty-some-odd million dollars, you should be getting about 40 
hours a week of therapy. I'm not sure where all that rroney is 
going to, but for an hour and a half of group a week, you're 
paying a lot of other people to do something that- - I 'm not 
sure what's going on, but that is not enough therapy for that 
kind of rroney. 

The argument about juveniles and adults -- this is on 
adults I'm not going to side one way or the other. 
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Certainly, treating juveniles is a very useful thing. I would 
say that we have to think in terms of what are the options if 
you choose not to treat this population, be they juvenile or 
adult? 

The options sirrply will be that if you choose to 
discontinue treatment of sex offenders, you will be faced with 
having to keep them incarcerated probably the rest of their 
lives. If you're looking at an average 30-year sentence, we're 
talking about $1. 3 million every time the judge slaps down that 
gavel. According to research done in 1992, your costs for 
incarcerations for 30 years to keep one bed filled, not a prison 
but one bed, are $1.3 million. So we can treat people a lot 
cheaper than we can incarcerate them. 

But I think what you have to think about is, you think 
about treatment; not every sex offender is treatable. 
Unfortunately, what happens, in the cases of Amanda and Megan, 
is what gets the national attention are these horrendous crimes. 
I'm very sorry about those individuals, and there is nothing we 
can do to get those individuals back, but that is not 
representative of who the average sex offender is. 

The average sex offender is sane1:x:xiy known to the 
family. The average sex offender does not murder their victim. 
The average sex offender can be of any background, any race, any 
socioeconomic status. It is not a lower class phenanenon, per 
se. I have colleagues who are now treating physicians. I have 
colleagues treating other professionals. If you've read the 
newspapers, you know that we have clergy. I'm putting on a 
special conference to deal with the issue of clergy. So it can 
be anytx:xiy. It could be people in this room. So we have to 
think of this as a problem that is not just going to go away, 
and we have to think about how we might best work with the 
problem. 

As I said, you need to assess the problem. Not all 
people are treatable, regardless of the infliction. This 
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country spends billions of dollars a year on alcohol and drug 
treatments, and with the more difficult alcohol and drug 
clients, your success rate is about 10 percent. 

So when I hear success rates of 17 percent, I begin to 
say that sounds pretty good compared to some other populations 
that I would want to know what their outcome is. What is the 
outcome of treating marital problems? What is the success rate 
of marriage therapy in America? What is the success rate of 
treating depression in America? 

There is no cure I'm aware of in any field, any realm 
of mental health. There is simply not a cure. What we give 
people who have mental health problems are tools. The person 
chooses to use the tool, the person chooses to not use the tool, 
that is what makes the difference. With sex offenders, you need 
additional supervision. You need additional comnunity 
monitoring. I think that is certainly irrportant. We've 
demonstrated that that will be very effective in working with 
these people, but you're not going to treat them all and treat 
them all successfully. 

Is that a question, sir? 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: I had a question-- You alluded 

to Nancy Steele. 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Right. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: I had received the report by 

Nancy Steele that she did on Avenel only after much questioning 
and argument with the Department of Corrections and after an AP 
reporter called me up and told me that they had already changed 
the program. 

The problem that I had with that report is that it was 
very superficial. It was like a feel-good report. Nancy Steele 
went down there for a couple of days, and then, in her report, 
she starts with the assumption that the program is good in 
Avenel, it's one of the best in the country, and it's not. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Right. I would disagree with her. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: 
recoornendations, which they did, 
program. But I think you start-­
at all. 

If they followed her 
it will be a much better 

I don't think it was adequate 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: It's not a good report. As a 
matter of fact, she doesn't even allude to-- She talks about 

.. the current, sort of, state of doing assessments. There are two 
assessment tools that literature clearly tells us that we can 
determine whether somebody is going to respond well to treatment 
or not, what the outcome will be. Are they likely to be 
recidivists after treatment or not? They're not even mentioned 
in this report . 

ratio? 

MR. MUI.J..ER: One point if I may? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. 
MR. MUI.J..ER: You referred to a 17 percent success 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Someone said that earlier. 
MR. MUI.J..ER: No, no, no. They're referring to an 83 

percent success ratio and a 17 percent failure ratio, which I 
think if you inverted it, it would be closer to what--

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I inverted it and I am sorry. 
You're right, I understood it to be 83 percent success-­

MR. MUI.J..ER: The inversion is rrore accurate. 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: - -and that's not a bad success 

rate. 
MR. MUI.J..ER: The 17 percent? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: The 80 percent. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: A closer look at the statistics 

says that the 17 percent are reincarcerated; that is, caught, 
convicted, and reincarcerated, so that is really not that 
accurate. 

MR. MUI.J..ER: There is another misnomer I mentioned to 
you earlier. The Cornnissioner sat here and used the term 
"first- time offender." First time caught--
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MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: First time caught. 
MR. MULLER: --the average is 11 victims per first 

time caught before they're apprehended. So let us not forget 
that before we got the first time caught, this person had been 
in an obsessive-compulsive behavior pattern before that -- 11 
times on the average. That is a significant number. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, and someone mentioned the 
california program and the Virginia program. The Virginia 
program isn't-- That is not good research. california is good 
research, and their research doesn't show a lot of 
differentiation between treatment and nontreatment at this point 
in time, but the study was cut off. I know those people really 
well. 

I can also tell that when you do pure research like 
that -- and you have a professor here who can probably attest to 
that -- once you start the plan, if you discover that you are 
doing something horribly wrong, you can't change it . So they 
knew going into this project, within a couple of years, there 
were things they were doing that could be changed to give better 
outcome, but because of the design of the project, it was left 
as it was. So the research is only as gcx:xj as what they're 
researching on is done. If new techniques came in, if they 
could hav~ changed the system around- - They couldn't change it 
midstream in their research. 

There are other programs such as Ve:rtr0nt's, which is 
showing very gcx:xj outcome . What we can tell you, looking at 
national studies--

I have three or four documents I will leave with Kate, 
on this. You can Xerox them. They are all ours, you're not 
going to be in violation of copyright law. I can't authorize 
you copying this, "The Standards of care, " which I ' 11 leave, but 
the three articles that we published I will, and our nationwide 
survey is one of them. 
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We can tell you that your best outcome is with incest 
offenders. We see programs shooting 90 percent, 95 percent or 
better success rates: with pedophiles, who are rrore likely to 
assault girls than boys, we have a pretty good outcome, in the 
90s; with rapists we have a lot less good outcome; and for the 
unfortunate cases where someone is raped and murdered, nol:xxiy 
even wants to treat those people, so we don't have any outcome . 
If someone is prone to murder, people don't even want to touch 
them. Unfortunately, that is where we are going to learn the 
rrost in the field in terms of research, working with the 
throwaways. 

MR. MULLER: You didn't mention the rapists of little 
boys, what is that percentage? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Somebody who rrolests and rapes 
boys, by rrost studies, is going to recidi vate rrore than somebody 
who rrolests girls. 

MR. MULLER: Substantially rrore. 
SENA'IOR BASSANO: But what you' re saying is that we 

have to segregate. .Am I correct in that assessment, that you 
have to segregate as you provide treatment, and some people you 
can succeed with and some you can't? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: No. I'm not saying you segregate 
them in treatment. What I'm saying is, we can tell you who is 
rrore likely to respond to treatment and who is not going to 
respond as well. Rapists, you ma.y be seeing 70 percent to 80 
percent success rates; certain pedophiles, 90 percent. 

Does that mean the Task Force says, "Okay, we won't 
treat rapists, we'll incarcerate them, period"? That is up to 
you all. I'm just telling you what the data says, and then 
those are decisions you all ma.ke. 

SENA'IOR BASSANO: But if we put, let's say, rapists, 
as an ex.arrple, before a group of psychiatrists, they should to 
some extent be able to judge, based upon treatment, who they 
think can function out there in society and who can't, and those 
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who can't, if we keep those people incarcerated, we're going to 
have a successful system? 

MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: Yes, if you do good assessment on 
the front end and determine who is rrore likely to respond to 
treatment versus who will not respond as well, you will have 
better treatment outcome, there is no doubt about that. What I 
was just suggesting is, here is what the data tells us today 
about who those success populations are, who the rrore difficult 
populations are, and who the populations are that nobody wants 
to treat. 

So, I mean, pedophiles seem to be a rrore desirable 
population to treat with a better outcome. Rapists are a less 

Rape/murderers, desirable population with a worse outcome. 
nobody even wants to bother with those people. 

So, again, you have so many dollars and I haven't been 
to a state yet-- I have consulted around this country; I've 
trained around this country; I have consulted overseas, and 
they're no different over there in New Zealand, Australia, and 
in Canada than they are in America. There is never enough rroney 
in any state that I have ever been to, or country, to treat 
every single sex offender. 

One of the sad things about this is there are men who 
are dangerous, some women who are dangerous; they don't want 
your treatment . They' re going to be appealing their cases. 
They don't want to be a part of a program. You know they're 
dangerous, and those are people you're probably not going to 
want to spend your resources on . You just can't treat them all. 

SENATOR BASSANO: What is happening now is, they are 
maxing out in our system, and with the system we have, they end 
up back on the street. They walk away free and clear. 

MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: That is predictable that they will 
reoffend. 

SENATOR BASSANO: 
problem is. 

That is where I think our major 
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MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Right. 

SENA'IDR INVERSO: May I ask a question? 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: Yes, go ahead, Peter. 
SENA'IDR INVERSO: Have you seen the profile of the 

inmates at Avenel? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: No, I have not . No, I haven' t . 
SENA'IDR INVERSO: I was wondering whether, if you had 

an opportunity to see that, if you could proffer us as to 
whether or not we have a category in there who are not 
treatable. As you said earlier, there are some who are 
treatable, there are some who are not treatable, and you gave us 
this success ratio here. I'm just wondering what the 
composition of Avenel is relative to your assessment of what you 
think is treatable and untreatable? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I could guess at it, Senator. 
Having been to other states, probably 70 percent of your 
population at Avenel are pedophiles, probably 70 percent. Of 
that 70 percent, probably half of those are men who tend to 
focus on molesting ma.le children - - not necessarily exclusively, 
but that is their prima.ry target - - the other half probably 
fema.le children, and of that percentage there is going to be, 
certainly, some who are incest offenders who molest their own 
kids. 

SENA'IDR INVERSO: But if 70 percent are pedophiles, 
without discerning between whether it is fema.le or ma.le 
pedophile types, you say there is a 90 percent success rate? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: For pedophiles who tend to molest 
their own children and who have fema.le victims, yes, sir. 

SENA'IDR INVERSO: So, to that extent then, you would 
think, you would say that the population at Avenel is in a 
treatable category because of the very high success rate you 
have with pedophiles? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I would say that there is a 
percentage of inmates at Avenel who will respond quite favorably 
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to treatment . There is going to be a percentage - - I don' t know 

what that is -- who will be totally nonresponsive to treatment, 
and there is a going to be a percentage who are going to be 
somewhat responsive, but you may need to put a lot rrore tighter 
controls on those people when they are released. 

SENATOR INVERSO: That is a given, but you' re saying 
within-- If for arguments sake, some of the inrrates are 
pedophiles, and let's say they're all pedophiles who perpetrate 
their acts against females, there is a 90 percent success ratio? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Potential. 

SENATOR INVERSO: Could I then inf er that you' re 
saying, to that extent, at least 70 percent of our population at 
Avenel would have a high success rate, should be there, and 
should be subject to the therapy that they provide? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Based on what you see there, that 
breakdown, yes, that is what you see. 

Now, what we haven't talked about, that I was alluding 
to earlier--

SENATOR INVERSO: The answer is yes, though? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes. 
SENATOR INVERSO: I'm just trying to get a handle on-­
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: There is a 70 percent potential 

treatment pool right there, just without looking one iota 
further at them. 

But do understand, Senator, that of that 70 percent, 
there is going to be a certain percentage who don' t want 
treatment or who have such lengthy histories and have done other 
criminal crimes and things that- - For instance, the Hare 
Psychopathy Checklist will identify that, will tell you right 
off the bat, "Forget this guy. He is not worth, given our 
limited resources in our State, treating, 11 and I don't know what 
that percentage would be. 

SENATOR INVERSO: Absolutely. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: Can you tell me that before I start 
treating him, if you were to look at his background and do a 
psychological workup on that individual? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: The data suggests, at this time, 
that if you use the Hare Psychopathy Checklist, in conjunction 
with phallometric assessment .- - and now there is a new measure 
out, developed by Gene Abel, that doesn' t require using the 
penile plethysrrograph as a tool. It is another tool that 
measures arousal without all the hookups to the genitalia. 

If you use those two assessment procedures together, 
you can pinpoint much rrore accurately which of those people in 
that pool of potential treatment candidates are likely to 
respond to treatment and those who are rrost likely to succeed at 
it . Just those two tools are showing very, very good favorable 
promise. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Is that just for pedophiles or 
is that for violent rapists too? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: That would be for the whole lot of 
them. 

DR. BROOKS: May I ask this question? What is the 
attitude of persons like yourself, who are so expert, about the 
use of Depo-Provera as an additional chemical treatment, 
especially for pedophiles? I realize it is not successful in 
the case of rapists, but where it is supposed to be successful 
is for pedophiles. Do you recorrrnend it, and if not, why not? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Sure. I recorrrnend the use of 
drugs like Depo-Provera when you have a client who is engaged in 
treatment and wants to change. Because, at least in the people 
I know who are leading researchers with that drug, like Fred 
Berlin at Johns Hopkins, it is equated to a diet pill analogy. 
It's like, you can take a diet pill and gain weight. It doesn't 
stop you from eating. It helps curb your food appetite, but it 
doesn't stop you eating. Depo can, if the person wants the 
change, curb the sexual appetite. But we have had clients who 
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have been on that for a year, they don't want to change, and 
nothing happens. 

There are better dnlgs out there, some that aren't 
legal in this country yet . I think one that is being 
experimented with, but in canada and overseas, is Cyperterone 
Acetates. It is a cleaner, faster, better dnlg. There are some 
other dnlgs that are currently being used. I could steer you in 
the direction of some physicians, which I am not one, who could 
better talk to you medically speaking than I can, as a masters 
level person, about the medical irrplications, the use, and the 
effects. But there are some other dnlgs being used that are 
showing good promise to curb that sexual drive with less side 
effects, mind you, than the Depo has. 

DR. BROOKS: I gather from what you said earlier that 
assessment tests can be used to determine whether a particular 
sex offender is, in fact, amenable to treatment? Would you 
recorrmend that one change that the Task Force might consider is, 
if the current statute were retained, that there should be an 
addition, namely, that the offender under consideration should 
be regarded and found by the judge to be amenable to treatment? 
Because that currently is not in the legislation, the judges 
keep sending sex of fenders to Avenel without even thinking about 
whether they're treatable or not. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, okay, in that regard, in the 
ideal system. When we look at how a system might work in any 
given state, what I would recorrmend and we've seen happen in 
other states is, really, the assessment should happen 
presentencing. 

DR. BROOKS: Yes. 
MR. FREEMAN- LONGO: Because not every pedophile 

deserves 30 years. Now, california, which has a 25-year minimum 
sentence for pedophilia in certain cases, is wasting a lot of 
rroney because there are people who are the, so to speak-- Well, 
we don't say first-time offenders, but first of record, low 
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numbers of victims. 
highly rrotivated. 

They got caught pretty early on. They're 
They can be very safely treated in the 

comm.mi ty with good rroni taring and save you a lot of bucks. 
That should be dete:rmined presentence. 

But then there are those people who have multiple 
victims, a lengthy history, don't want treatment, they're in 
denial, whatever, or through use of the Hare and other 
instruments, might be dete:rmined to be less amenable, much 
greater risk; they belong incarcerated. 

There are going to be some people who you just say, 
"Hey, if we' re going to give long sentences to keep the 
cornrnmity safe, then maybe this is the person here because they 
just aren't going to respond." Although, as somebody who I 
consider to be a humanist -- myself, that is -- the door could 
always be open for them to go through a reassessment at some 
point in time and then into an institutional treatment program. 
I hate to slam the door on people because the criminal justice 
system puts you in a mind state of saying, "I'm innocent," and 
the whole nine yards. 

But, yes, at the front end, that would save you rroney, 
and I think the person should be required to pay for that, not 
the State. I think the individual, through their own resources, 
should come up with funds. Then there are always those cases 
where they are indigent, and that is where you use State funds, 
you have sliding fees, or you use the clinicians who do pro bono 
work like some of us do. 

DR. BROOKS: Could you corrrnent on the philosophy that 
even if the sex offender resists treatment, refuses treatment, 
that you should just keep trying, if necessary for years, and 
that sooner or later, if you lead that particular horse to 

I 

water, he will drink? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: He might. 
DR. BROOKS: That is the prevalent philosophy at 

Avenel, and they regard refusers as potential acceptors. They 
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just want to keep them there long enough until they change their 
minds and say, "Hey, I want treatment now. " 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: What we did in a couple of states 
I worked in and consulted with is, of people who went to prison, 
all sex offenders were placed at a particular facility for an 
orientation and screening phase. Basically, what that was - - to 
get to say this quickly -- was, "This is your life as a sex 
offender in the State of New Jersey. Here is what happens if 
you stay in prison. Here is what is going to happen when you 
get out," and they laid out all the parameters. "When you get 
out, whether you have been through treatment or not, you' re 
going to be under these laws. You're going to be rronitored . 
The difference being is, if you have to be in treatment out 
there when you get out in 10, 20, or 30 years, you will pay for 
it, the State will not. "While you're in prison these are your 
options for treatments." 

Then you screen those people who are amenable versus 
nonamenable. But for the people who were the deniers, I think 
they certainly can be revisited through a mailer. Just say, 
"The door is open for you if you want to change your mind." 

But I don't understand this totally, so correct me if 
I am wrong, they don't need to be kept at Avenel. I did hear 
sornel:xxiy talk about the pecking order in prisons. Yes, there is 
a pecking order in prisons. Yes, sex offenders are at the 
oottorn. But that is a choice you make when you conmit a sex 
offense. That is a choice when you go to prison and turn down 
treatment, and that is just life on the farm, honey. 

DR. BROOKS: Right . 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: If you want to be in treatment, 

then that requires that you admit that you have a problem, you 
need help for it, and you go along with the program. If not, 
then I'm sorry about that. If you're appealing your case, you 
have that legal right. Yes, you do, sir. But you cannot stay 
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in this facility that costs $25 million a year for us to house 
people. You can go to a general population. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I think this Task Force is also 
taking the attitude that there has to be some incarceration in 
a general prison facility prior to receiving treatment for many 
of these people. They have cornnitted a crime. They have to pay 
society back for the cornnission of that crime. Then, and only 
then, will they be allowed the privilege of getting treatment 
before there is a release. 

MR. FREEMAN-IDNGO: Yes, Senator. 
SENATOR BASSANO: I think that is the sentiment, 

though, of this group. 
MR. FREEMAN-IDNGO: Senator, if your laws provide for 

a minimum length of incarceration for the average sex offender, 
let's just say -- I don't know them and I apologize for not 
knowing them -- it's 10 years, and your program at Avenel were 
designed to be a, say 18- to 30-month program, more than arrple 
time. The average length of treatment in an intensive 
residential program in a prison in America is arout 18 months to 
2 years. 

I read somewhere in Dr. Steele ' s report something 
arout five years, and I thought, "My God, you're burning them 
out. " You can burn out on therapy too. Well, if that is the 
case, then yes, during that last two to two and a half year 
period is when they have signed up, and they go to that 
facility. 

Now, there are pros and cons to all of this stuff. 
Yes, the correctional sort of lifestyle will harden people. It 
will make them have to learn all the survivor and con games. 
But I have worked within a correctional system, and those men 
who do want to be involved in treatment have other options. I 
would imagine in the New Jersey correctional system there are 
alcohol and drug programs, other sorts of treatments, 
educational opportunities. You keep yourself busy. I have had 
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guys who have, through a series of unfortunate events, gone 
through treatment for two years, gone back to a prison for two 
years, still got out, and they're doing well today. 

There is certainly some myth that if you don't hit 
them right away and put them in a special sort of category and 
special institution you're going to lose them. You can't afford 
to do that . I 'm an advocate for treatment . I don' t think it 
works, I know it works. I also know that there are studies that 
suggest it is effective. Like I said, I know of no mental 
health population that does have a success rate of 100 percent, 
I don't care what the mental health problem is. 

You can keep them in an institution, keep them busy. 
You can even do some education groups that 
groups to keep them occupied until they go 
program. That is where you will save troney. 

are pretreatment 
to the intensive 
That is where you 

will maximize your dollars. 
SENATOR BASSANO: I have to reiterate, though, that 

society will not be satisfied with a three- to five-year prison 
sentence for someone in an intensive program at Avenel . Society 
feels there is a crime that was cornnitted; society wants that 
there be some restitution, and that restitution is through some 
type of incarceration. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I'm not disagreeing. I'm saying 
they would be in a regular prison, and then they would transfer 
to a correctional facility where you would have your program, 
i . e . Avenel . But if they' re not engaged in treatment, they 
don't need to be at Avenel. 

we- -

second. 

SENATOR BASSANO : Absolutely. 
MR. FREEMAN- LONGO: I think you make another point as 

SENATOR BASSANO: I just want to interrupt you for one 
I think also those people who potentially show that 

they are not going to respond to treatment should not be put 
into Avenel. That i s what we want to talk about also. If a 
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person shows on whatever tests are given that they are 
potentially not an individual who is going to respond well to 
treatrnent, why waste the bed? Why waste taxpayers' rroney? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I would agree with you. I think 
if Avenel is a treatrnent facility, then that is what should go 
on, period, end of quote. You can use any variety of rrodels 
where they can still have their institutional jobs and keep the 
facility running. You don't have to hire your gardeners and 
plumbers to come in; the i:nniates can do that. I am 
protreatrnent, pro everything. 

But I think a facility with 700 people and you're 
trying-- I think they have an irrpossible task right now. 

SENATOR BASSANO: What we've done, unfortunately, is 
create an institution, a jail, for sex offenders rather than a 
facility to treat sex offenders prior to them being released 
into society, if the potential is there for them to function 
normally. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I don't think you want to know the 
bill of what it would cost your State to treat all 700 of those 
people and treat them well. It's a very, very high bill even in 
a correctional setting. 

But if you had a program that was even 200, just 200 
men, which is a large program in the United States -- that is a 
very large program -- then you probably have adequate resources 
to do a damn good job and provide what is, and there does exist, 
state-of-the-art treatment. 

We're going to give you an article on that and the 
data that shows what does happen in this country. You can have 
good outcome data, but you really need to have a good plan and 
a system that looks at who is going to best benefit from this 
limited pool of resources. 

SENATOR BASSANO: We have to be very selective on who 
is going to go into the program? 
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MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: That is my recorrmendation, yes, 
sir. 

There are good screening tools. There is data that 
suggests what is rrore effective with these types of individuals. 
I was going to say, you made a point earlier, that you are 
never, as we track what is happening in this country, you are 
never, as a legislative l:xx:iy, going to make the American public 
happy, because Americans are fed up with crime. They don't want 
to hear about treatment . They don't want to see criminals 
"coddled," and treatment has gotten a bad name in light of all 
the recent crime and hype about what is happening in America. 
So you are never going to please those people. 

What you really should do is take some of those 
dollars -- and I say this to every single legislative l:xx:iy I 
talk to - - and advocate some of those for a university nearby to 
hire and pay a small price for those graduate students so 
inclined to do research. You don't have to have a full-time 
Ph.D. staff researcher on your staff. 

A department of psychology, if you said, "We will give 
this department $5000 or $10,000 to do research on this program 
as an independent l:xx:iy," I can assure you-- You could lock me 
up if you don't have a couple of Chairs saying, "We would love 
to have that rroney. We will provide you with the graduate 
students who will come in there. We will pay them a nice 
stipend to do the research." They keep the data. They analyze 
the data. They give you the reports, and you track what you are 
doing in your State with research not errotion. 

What is driving law and criminal law today is pure 
errotion. We don't think logically when we' re errotional. 
Logically, we know that you have to do something with the 
problem, and you can't just do lifelong incarceration unless 
you're going to pay a lot rrore tax dollars. They're going to 
get out at some point in time, so the question is: Do you treat 
or not treat while they' re incarcerated, since at some point 
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they're going to get out? I think the logical answer is, "Yes, 
you do. But how do we best utilize those funds and is it 
working?" 

There are two types of evaluations. Nancy Steele's 
report alludes to one. One type of evaluation is called process 
evaluation. Is the treatment you are doing having any impact on 
the inmates? When they go into an anger management course, what 
is their knowledge? When they get out, have they gained 
something? What is the long-term impact? Have they retained 
that information through periodic testing that your students at 
a college could do? 

The other type of evaluation is outcome evaluation. 
That is your recidivism stuff. Now, I didn't see anything in 
here, although, I know her philosophy is all you need is two 
years of outcome evaluation. Do it and don't put a cap on it. 
What you are going to find is, you will find your recidivism 
will go up a little bit every year, because you have a 
population sample that will keep on being added to that, but it 
will then level off over a period of several years, and that is 
your recidivism rate. You're going to have it. 

If you think you're going to cure every single person 
walking in the door of that facility, you' re fooling yourselves, 
your public, your constituents, and everybody else who is all 
upset about this problem. You' re going to have recidivism. 
It's how can you minimize it and how can you maximize your 
dollar, period. That is just the honest-to-God truth. 

I 'm going back to Verrront tonight . You know, I 'm not 
going to have to sit here and deal with your decision. But I 
also know that if I'm going to have a sex offender nove in next 
door to me, and someday that will probably happen just by odds, 
or live on my street, I would rather have s~ who came out 
of that program than not . Okay? 

I 'd rather have s~ who has learned something 
about themselves, has made an effort to change, and through 
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proper diagnostics and treatment has been given the best odds of 
succeeding, versus sornel:::x:xiy who has cane out of prison, has 
maxed out his term, has minimal supervision, and just a law that 
says you register. Because they can register wherever they want 
to, that is not going to protect me in my town from the guy 
three towns over who I don't know, who will cane to my town. 

SENATOR BASSANO: What about aftertreatment, a 
mandatory continuation of therapy once they are released? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: A minitmnn of one year, they pay. 
I would suggest, if you have the funds to do it, that your 
follow-up supervision of probation and parole be a minitmnn of 
probably two to five years. The first year they should all be 
at the highest level of probationary supervision, regardless of 
their progress within the program and in the cornnunity. They 
should be seen once a nnnth with that parole officer for nnre 
than five minutes. 

SENATOR BASSANO: But do you think at sane point in 
time there is no need for aftercare, or are we dealing with 
people who are like alcoholics who have to go to AA for as long 
as they live? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Well, I think there are certainly 
sane sex of fenders who will need sane sort of ongoing 
involvement in sane level of therapeutic activity that your 
State can ill afford. But there are, certainly, groups; much 
like there is AA, there are groups. In a large cornnunity, for 
instance, like Trenton, there could be a lot of, sort of, 
self-help groups where these guys meet. Practitioners will 
donate their time to go to the group once a nnnth and just be 
there as a professional person to assist. 

But during the key part of release, that first year or 
two is very difficult in terms of transition. It becanes nnre 
difficult when sornel:::x:xiy has been incarcerated for a period of 
time, because our society is rapidly changing and all those odds 
of being an "ex-con" are against them. So they are going to 
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need close supervision. They're going to screw up. They're 
going to make mistakes. 

SENATOR BASSANO: So we would probably be better off 
allowing the Parole Board a lot of discretion in this area 
insofar as the requirement for aftercare and the arrount of 
aftercare based upon what the psychiatrists tell us, based on 
the individual? 

MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: Yes, sir. But I would reconmend 
a bare minirrrum of, like I said, at least one year of aftercare 
and at least two years of parole supervision, and during that 
first year of aftercare, that it is very close parole 
supervision. 

The other issue -- not to get off on a sidetrack -­
related to that, of course, is when you have high case loads for 
a parole officer · who can't supervise well, that becanes a 
problem. You see, relapse prevention as a rrodel provides 
certain components of the public notification laws that we're 
seeing go up -- like you've seen in New Jersey. 

What we say to that offender is, "There are people you 
Trn.lSt notify, and we will make sure know that you are a sex 
of fender, like your errployer, your landlord, and other key 
people. You are going to have to have this, sort of, supervisor 
check in with your PO once a week or once every couple of weeks, 
or with your therapist. Then we're going to talk and see how 
you' re doing." That takes rrore than 10 minutes a rronth. So you 
do want to do that. 

But rather than incarcerating somebody forever, which 
is Trn.lch m:::>re costly, when they are going to get out, put your 
dollars into that sort of supervision for one to two years 
minimum. That would be, at least based on what we see happening 
today, what I would reconmend to you. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Does anybody have any questions? 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: I have one question, Senator. 
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You are the gentleman that was involved in the Oregon 
program? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I used to direct the Oregon 
program, yes, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: In that program, the typical 
of fender attended inpatient treatment for two to two and a half 
years, then rroved to a prerelease status for six rronths, work or 
study by day and return at night, is that the way you did that? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. That was done in the 
early stages. Ultimately, with changes in law and the fear of 
the hospital being sued with transition, they just went out the 
door, and the six-rronth transition stuff was brought to an 
abrupt halt. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Then you had outpatient 
aftercare for 18 rronths after release, receiving group 
counseling twice a week at first, and then generally decreasing 
visits to twice a rronth? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: That was the program in 

Oregon? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: That was the one I directed. In 

that model, as you describe it, in that report was what was 
happening up until about 1985 or 1986. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Okay. Now, you also wrote an 
article in "Psychology Today" with a Mr. Wall? 

MR FREEMAN-LONGO: Right . 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Back in '86? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. 
ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: You said there you, "believe 

that sexually deviant behavior is 'deeply ingrained' and rrost 
sex offenders need extensive psychological help to change the 
thought and behavior patterns that lead them to insinuate or 
force themselves sexually upon other people." 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: Well, what do you mean by -­
or what did you mean, I guess, by -- extensive psychological 
help? Because I'm getting the sense that you have the feeling 
that after a short period of time, just a couple of years, that 
these people can be released. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I think when a person is placed 
into a program-- What I meant by extensive was what we were 
doing in that state hospital. We weren't screening the cream of 
the crop. Oregon had a very good system of outpatient 
treatment, and when they got to prison, they were serious 
offenders to begin with. We took people that nobody else even 
wanted to treat in some cases. 

But "extensive," meaning that this was not an hour and 
a half of group a week. These guys were in group twice a day 
for one and a half to two hours, five days a week; educational 
classes, one to two a week, sometimes three a week, that were 
one to two hours each; plus, very significant homework 
assignments, and other therapeutic activities. So they were in 
treatment 40 hours a week times 50 weeks, is 2000 hours of 
treatment a year, times two to three years, is 4000 to 6000 
hours of treatment. That would take you a lifetime going to a 
psychiatrist one hour a week on the streets to accorrplish. You 
couldn't do it in your lifetime. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: I guess what I'm trying to get 
to is I'm not grasping if-- In this article, are you talking 
about the people who were in that institution or are you talking 
about general sex offenders when you say, "rrost sex offenders 
need extensive psychological help"? That gives me the message 
that the majority of the 700 people who are in Avenel, in your 
opinion, need extensive psychological help. 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, they do. That is, they need 
to be involved in treatment, whether it is an outpatient program 
or, by assessment, a rrore significant residential program for a 
period of time. 
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The minimum amount of treatment I've seen any 
pedophile go through, if you're looking at a decent program on 
the outside, is: Let's say the guy gets probation, he is not in 
prison, you' re looking at usually, again, 18 to 24 rnonths 
minimum, starting off in time, groups once a week, individual 
sessions once every couple of weeks, some programs/groups twice 
a week. So you are still looking at two years of treatment, 
minimum two to three hours a week over that two-year period and 
that is extensive. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: So that's extensive. Does it 
matter to you, in your opinion -- I apologize if I missed it -­
whether or not, let's say a guy who gets a 25-year sentence, 
whether he gets that extensive treatment the last four or five 
years of that sentence? 

MR. FREEMAN-IDNGO: I think you would be wasting your 
resources to do it at the front end, because then they go back 
into an incarceration setting, and unfortunately, prison 
mentality is such that you have to do certain survival things 
that will go against what treatment has taught you. Treatment 
is better on the release end. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: My last question then is, if 
you can do it- - Let ' s assume we decided that we wanted to 
change the law to reflect that when you receive a sentence from 
a sentencing judge that a percentage of that sentence will be 
served in a regular institution and the remaining portion 
thereof shall be served at Avenel or somewhere else for 
treatment. Could you give me an idea as to what percentage? 
Would you say the last fifth of the sentence? I mean it would 
be a sliding scale? 

MR. FREEMAN-IDNGO: No, I wouldn' t do that, because 
your sentences will vary. I would say that you establish a 
program and that a program is a period of time. Let's just say, 
for argument, it is two to three years. Okay? So you have to 
figure the maximum end of treatment that person might go 
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through, which is three years. If he got a five-year sentence, 
then he needs to be spending 6 O percent of his time in 
treatment. But if he gets a 10-year sentence, he is spending 20 
percent of his time. So don't use a percentage. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: But you're answering my 
question-- You're saying that on the outside, within reason, 
the typical sex offender should receive somewhere around three 
years of treatment? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes. A minirrrum of 18 rnonths to 2 
years is the standard in America. Many people, because they 
have very, very severe problems, will go an additional six to 
twelve months, though it might be up to three years for a more 
difficult case. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL: All right . So somebody who 
gets a 20-year sentence, somewhere around the 17th year he 
should be transferred over? Somebody who gets a five-year 
sentence, somewhere around the second year he should be sent 
over? 

MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Yes, sir. Yes, that is what I 
would reconrnend. 

ASSEMBLYMAN HOLZAPFEL : Thank you. 
MR. THCMAS: One question. 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: Sure. 
MR. THCMAS: We 've talked about percentages. With a 

pedophile, an adult pedophile, is there a possibility of cure? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: No. 
MR. THCMAS: Or is there a possibility of treatment, 

I mean, help? 
MR. FREEMAN-LONGO: I don't believe there is a cure in 

any sort of mental health, regardless of the problem, pedophile 
or otherwise. With rrany, rrany pedophiles what you have is the 
potential to treat them successfully and give them the necessary 
infornation and tools to prevent themselves from ever 
reoffending again. 
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Now, unfortunately, the first thing that went in 
Oregon's program, when they had a researcher and budget cuts 
came, was the research, which is why I said to give the money to 
a university. Because that will be the first thing cut, 
especially in a correctional center. 

You can do your prograrnning in prison. Don't put it 
in a State Hospital. It will cost you three times the arcount of 
money and you don't need all the headache; keep it in prison. 
There are people who will respond well, but you really want to 
assess that, Mr. Thomas, and assess which people are going to 
best utilize this very valuable and limited resource in your 
State. 

There are people who, unfortunately, are not going to 
respond. They don't want it. They're going to be in denial. 
They're going to whatever, and I walk away from those things 
scratching my head knowing that some other kid - - if that person 
gets out some day -- is going to get hurt, and I can't control 
it. But I do have to focus and put the hope on the man who will 
respond well. 

I have guys who still keep in touch. Our agency is a 
national agency. We get calls from all over the country from 
family members, pedophiles, and professionals. Some of the guys 
I worked with even 10 years ago call, and they're doing quite 
well. So I know that they can do it. They do well, and the 
longer they're out and keep clean, the better their chances of 
remaining that way. 

But that first year or two of transition will be most 
difficult, because all the temptations and the life?tyle things 
will be affecting them and they need very tight supervision. 
There is no safe pedophile without treatment, I don't care who 
says what. But there are men whose risks are tremendously 
reduced, and I would feel comfortable even living next door to 
me, with a child, if and when they have gone through treatment 
and done it well. 
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So that is as honest as I can be. 
MR. THCMAS: I want to say that I talked with your 

office a few weeks ago and they were rrost helpful. 
MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: Good. If you need rrore help, do 

feel free. We' re a national resource . We appreciate your call . 
MR. THCMAS: It was very helpful to me. Thank you. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Are there any other questions of the 

witness? (no response) 
I do sincerely thank you. If we have additional 

questions, I would ask that the members of the Task Force, 
through Anne Stefane, contact you. We may be calling on you 
again, speaking to you over the phone for additional help. But 
we absolutely thank you for being here. 

MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: Yes, sir. Kay and Anne have been 
in touch. We're available to help out as much as we can. We 
know you have a very difficult task ahead of you. We wish you 
well. 

I think you're making good decisions by doing 
treatment. Your best decision will be looking how to use that 
resource for the people who are going to respond to it. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I can assure you that we will be 
back to you for additional guidance. Thank you very much. 

MR. FREEMAN-1.DNGO: Thank you for having me down. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Thank you for coming. 
SENATOR BASSANO: We' re going to break now for 4 o 

minutes. It is 1:05. We will be back here at 1:45. There are 
three rrore witnesses who want to testify. I intend to cut it 
off at 4:00 regardless of where we are. So please be punctual 
and be back here at 1: 45. 

Thank you. 

RECESS 
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AFrER RECESS: 

SENATOR BASSANO: If the Task Force will come to 
order, we'll start rroving forward again with testirrony. 

Dr. Pallone, we welcome you here. 
N A T H A N I E L J. P A L L 0 N E, Ph.D. : Thank you. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Please feel free to start. I 'm sure 
other people will be drifting in . I hope it doesn't interfere 
with your train of thought. 

DR. PALIDNE: Okay. Let me just make a couple of 
general observations, Mr. Chairman. 

I am a University Distinguished Professor of 
Psychology and Criminal Justice at Rutgers and have, since 1979, 
been a member of the Special Classification Review Board, which 
is a legislatively established body that reviews Avenel inmates 
with respect to their readiness for release into the conmunity. 

We constitute a necessa:ry, but not sufficient, 
condition for parole. Which is to say that, obviously, the 
Parole Board is the final decision maker, but a recorrmendation 
for release does not go forward to the Parole Board without our 
approval. 

The SCRB was legislatively created in 1947, which is 
when the initial legislation was adopted. The te:rm had not yet 
been invented, but it is a clinical dangerousness review board. 
That is now a te:rm of ours that is widely used at the 
intersection of the mental health sciences and corrections. 

OUr rate of paroling from Avenel over the recent past, 
let's say roughly the past 15 years, has varied between 1. 5 
percent and 3 percent . Periodically, we are chastised, beaten 
about the ears, and put down by various folk in offices in this 
great capital city because of the low rate of paroling. 
However, we have withstood several challenges, rrostly in the 
Federal courts. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: That percentage you just gave us, is 
that total of the total population? 

DR. PALI..DNE: Of the total population, yes. 
SENATOR BASSANO: So it is 1.5 percent to 3 percent a 

year? 
DR. PALI..DNE: Yes, 1 . 5 percent to 3 percent a year, as 

against about 25 percent per year in an ordinary prison. 
SENATOR BASSANO: . What does that figure equate to when 

we look at the number of people leaving the institution? 
DR. PALI..DNE: You' re talking maybe 10, maybe 12 people 

a year who leave on parole. 
SENATOR BASSANO: No, no, no. Versus people who have 

maxed out. 
DR. PALI..DNE: That, Senator, I could not give you 

the-- But it is absolutely clear to say that most inmates max 
out, are not paroled. 

Secondly, I guess what brings me to this table is that 
my field has been criminal behavior and treatment of of fenders 
for the past 35 years. I am the author of two books having to 
do with the rehabilitation of criminal sexual psychopaths, and 
am the Editor of the "Journal of Offender Rehabilitation." 

As I listened to the discussion this morning, it 
seemed to me that the discussion lacked some clarity because it 
was not well-linked to the national discussion of these very 
issues that has been going on for some time now. 

That deals with such issues as, first: Is there such 
a thing as a mentally disordered sex offender or criminal sexual 
psychopath that is, in any way, distinguishable on the basis of 
criteria that the mental health sciences would recognize? If 
so, what are those criteria? How do you differentiate a 
mentally disordered sex offender from a felony sex offender, 
sometimes called an opportunistic sex of fender? 

Thirdly, even if you can differentiate, in terms of 
some meaningful psychological and mental health characteristics, 
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should societal response be to treat or to punish? If you make 
the decision to treat, who should supervise the treatment - -
generally speaking throughout the United States the 
Department of Health, which controls state mental hospitals, or 
the Department of Corrections? The decision one makes on that, 
or the Legislature makes on that, also determines what the 
criteria for release are going to be. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: The Department of Human Services 
controls mental institutions . 

DR. PALI..DNE: Pardon me? 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: The Department of Human Services 

controls mental institutions. 
DR. PALI..DNE: In the State of New Jersey. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: In the State of New Jersey. 
DR. PALI..DNE: Bu~, I 'm very much aware of that, 

Assemblyman. In fact, the case is, that in the State of New 
Jersey, the issue did not arise until 1974 because the single 
agency handled both Corrections and Health and Human Services. 
It was shortly after that change that I was asked by 
Conrnissioner Klein to serve on the board. 

A couple of other points I would make before 
addressing the issues that I was asked to address in 
conversations with Ms. Tasch of your staff: 

First, I guess the major point is that, in my 
judgment, New Jersey probably has the worst of all possible 
worlds in that we have a specialized treatment facility which is 
controlled by the Department of Corrections, not by Health and 
Human Services, which is funded as if it were a correctional 
facility rather than a mental health facility. 

Corrparisons are constantly being made about the 
relative effectiveness of Avenel in the discharge of its 
legislative mission, not against what it costs per inmate day in 
a State psychiatric hospital, but what it costs per inmate day 
in a prison. Those I think are very, very different. 
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We' re now down to, and I brought with me-- I was 
quite surprised that Mr. Freeman-Longo quoted a tenn of 1700 
treatment programs. There are probably 1700 treatment providers 
that have registered with Safer Society. They include licensed 
social workers who have, on one occasion, been involved with a 
brother/ sister, ages seven and six, whose rrother found them 
playing doctor . 

According to the Bureau of Justice statistics of the 
U.S. Department of Justice, "Source Book of Criminal Justice 
Statistics, " there are now only 13 states left in which there is 
some fonn of sex of fender treatment that is controlled by the 
Department of Corrections rather than by the health agency. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: Are you talking about the program, 
or the institution where these people are housed? 

DR. PALLONE: Sometimes, Senator, the institution 
the facility -- is a general prison facility with a part of it 
designated for the housing of sex offenders. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: I can understand-­
DR. PALLONE: And a program provided. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: I can understand a facility that is 

operated by the Department of Corrections with the program being 
administered by either Human Services or Health. That I can 
understand and I can appreciate. I think that the distinction 
has to be made as to what we're going to emphasize, whether it 
is going to be treatment or incarceration. Unfortunately, the 
public is going to demand both. So perhaps a dual type of 
system is what we would be looking at . Right now, we 're not 
doing that . I think you' re aware that Corrections runs 
everything. 

DR. PALLONE: I am certainly aware of that. 
I presume that you have already had the benefit of the 

American Bar Association's current thinking? 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: We've not spoken to the Bar 

Association. 
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DR. PALI.DNE: Well, then let me quote -- and this is 
a good indication that the issues are not local issues at all. 
The American Bar Association's Task Force on Criminal 
Justice/Mental Health Standards issued a report in 1990. It 
contains this provision, and it is quite clear and unequivocal. 
The rationale underlying this provision has to do with some of 
the issues I've attempted to suggest. 

"Statutes which provide for special sentencing and 
treatment of sexual psychopaths should be repealed. Standard 
781" -- that is internal to the documents of the American Bar 
Association -- "now embodies a formal expression of Association 
policy conderming all special sentencing statutes governing such 
categories of convicted offenders as sexual psychopaths. 
Of fenders who repeatedly conmit new offenses can be dealt with 
under habitual offender laws or other statutes providing for 
sentencing enhancement." 

So it is a very clear statement, because-- There was 
a time when there were 3 9 states in this country that had 
programs similar to the program at Avenel. We're now down to 
13, including New Jersey. We, perhaps, have come late to the 
discussion of some of these issues. 

I was asked by Ms. Tasch to address two matters, 
specifically. First: What works in the treatment of sex 
offenders? Secondly: What are the standards that are generally 
recognized on the part of providers of treatment services? 

May I distribute a handout? (affirmative response) 
What I have done on this sheet is, very briefly, to 

surrmarize several hundreds of studies having to do with 
treatment effectiveness. 

The first quest ion is: What represents a baseline? In 
my judgment, the appropriate baseline is that adopted by 
Professor George Dix, University of Texas law School, in his 
evaluation of the california program. 
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The California program was very similar to the New 
Jersey program, a two-tiered program. One for felony sex 
offenders who were sirrply incarcerated for punishment; the 
second, the criminal sexual psychopaths who were incarcerated 
for treatment. 

Dix said, quite cogently, "let's find out whether 
treatment works better than sirrply locking them up and keeping 
them in the slarrmer. " Dix' s study derronstrates that seven years 
after release from punitive incarceration, felony sex offenders 
recidivated at the rate of 7 percent, which is a fairly small 
proportion. 

Then we have studies, really since the 1930s to the 
1990s, which can be categorized under the general rubrics I've 
used here, ranging from surgical castration - - we still get 
about 4 percent recidivism, by the way -- all the way down to 
outpatient, individual therapy. Surgical castration was 
mandatory in Northern Europe until really the beginning of World 
War II and voluntary thereafter in some nations. 

Rather than give you precise proportions, I've sirrply 
indicated baseline plus, better than the baseline, baseline 
minus, baseline double minus. I also have atterrpted to suggest 
in the final column what the irrpediments are to the application 
of each of those techniques within a facility that is operated 
by a State authority, whether it is Corrections or Health, and 
which is, therefore, bound in a way that private practitioners 
are not, by the way, to the constraints - - Professor Brooks 
knows a lot rrore about this than I do -- about how you go about 
treating prisoners that have been laid down judicially and 
legislatively. 

Do we know what works? You bet we know what works. 
Can we do it? We can't do it. Aversive behavior therapy, 
according to one of the decisions - - Wyatt, I think, maybe 
Donaldson. The Supreme Court says of aversive behavior therapy 
that you've got to tell the person it's going to hurt; that he 
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or she has the right to withdraw consent at any time and for any 

reason. 
It would be stupid to gear up a program to operate an 

aversive behavior therapy regimen, when, in fact, upon the first 
delivery of electroshock, the patient can say, "Hey, wait a 
while . I 've changed my mind. " 

So, the fact is, ladies and gentlemen -- and it's not 
just in the State of New Jersey, but in programs operated by the 
Department of Corrections all over the country -- the kinds of 
treatment m:xlalities that are operationally available, that can 
really be carried out in the real world, tend to be rather tame. 
They are not the ones that produce dependably the rrost positive 
results. 

Let me turn quickly to the next question and that is 
the relevant standards of care matter, with particular attention 
to providers. There are a number of organizations, you probably 
know about them, that are concerned with the treatment of sex 
offenders. 

One is the Association for the Treatment of Sex 
Offenders, or ATSO. Another is the Association for the 
Behavioral Treatment of Sex Offenders; it comes out to be a 
different acronym. Then there is an umbrella organization 
called The International Conference on the Treatment of Sex 
Offenders. That is an organization associated with the School 
of Medicine at the University of Minnesota. 

At the last such international conference, 
representatives of the various organizations involved met, 
produced a set of standards, proposed standards, earlier on, 
which I originally published in the "Journal of Offender 
Rehabilitation" inviting corrrnents from around the world, so on 
and so forth. They've gotten that kind of feedback, and so what 
we now have is a final version of those standards. 

We're in press. What I'm going to give you is a set 
of uncorrected page proofs from the "Journal of Offender 
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Rehabilitation." Probably, we' 11 not be on the newsstands until 
the end of May or thereabouts. 

Specifically, within the topic of standards of 
provider qualification that was specifically raised, I would 
point out that the current requirement is for a master's degree 
in a relevant mental health discipline with licensure. Now, 
there is a question about licensure that has a whole lot to do 
with this stream of licensure legislation. 

In New Jersey, we now license psychiatrists through 
the Board of Medical Examiners, psychologists, through the Board 
of Psychological Examiners, but also social workers, marriage 
and family counselors, and the most recent addition is mental 
health counselors that also is at a masters level of 
certification. I believe it is the case that the irrplementing 
regulations are yet to be written on that. 

Senator? 
SENATOR BASSANO: I guess the first question that I 

would throw out at you would be: Do you 
better off administering the treatment 
through another agency rather than 
Corrections? 

believe we would be 
of these prisoners 
the Department of 

DR. PAILONE: Senator, for most of these 19 years I 
have been Chairman of SCRB. For most of that period, I was part 
of the senior administration of Rutgers University. I did not 
like it when members of the Rutgers' lx>ard atterrpted to 
micromanage the institution. I would not like it, if I were 
Bill Plantier, to have the Chairman of the SCRB try to 
micromanage. So, could I answer the question by saying, "Not 
Avenel, but an institution in some state?" 

SENATOR BASSANO: 
DR. PAILONE: In 
SENATOR BASSANO: 

Sure. 
the general? 
In the general. 

DR. PAILONE: Yes, my response there is, I think that 
in a general case, the appropriate place for the administrative 
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housing for the supe:rvision and all the rest that goes with 
that--

SENATOR BASSANO: I'm not talking about the housing 
end of it. Maybe we' re using housing in a different definition? 
I 'm talking about the actual administration of the program 
itself, as to who will be in ·charge of that program. 

DR. PALLONE: I think that, optimally, it should be 
whatever the authority is that operates the public psychiatric 
hospitals. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Human Se:rvices in this State, Heal th 
in other states. 

DR . PALLONE: But, understand that a whole lot of 
baggage comes with that. On the positive side, it is doubtless 
the case that one gets better medicine right off the bat. It is 
now 1995, psychotherapy, verbal treatment-- I mean, I belong to 
a dying profession. In 15 years from now, there won't be a 
clinical psychologist left except a couple of old fossils like 
me. 

Mental health treatment is now largely 
neurobiologically based . 

SENATOR BASSANO: You would classify this as mental 
health treatment, without a doubt? 

DR. PALLONE: Without a doubt. If the law says to 
confine that son of a gun for treatment - -

SENATOR BASSANO: There is a dilerrma, because this is 
a penal institution . Now, you have to make a decision as to who 
has supe:rvision and who makes the final call. 

DR. PALLONE: Yes. That i s exactly what I am 
suggesting, Senator. That is part of the baggage, and part of 
the thinking that went behind- - I've read just the 
conclusionary paragraph from the American Bar Association 
document, a whole lot of discussion of just exactly this 
character before they reach that conclusion. 
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It is also the case, however, that if you are 

providing treatment, it becomes ver:y difficult to talk about 
punitive treatment. Now, so we've got a guy, not a nice, 
friendly brother/sister game of playing doctor, not even a nice, 
friendly piece of incestuous behavior between rrother's 
21-year-old husband and a 15-year-old stepdaughter; we're 
talking about violent, predatory rapists. That involves running 
a kind of high-security, ver:y high-security mental hospital 
institution. But, if you confine the person for treatment, then 
you kind of have to be willing to let him go when the people who 
are treating him say, "He's cured." 

If you' re not willing to do that, then I think- - What 
I recorrrnended in my book, "Rehabilitating Criminal Sexual 
Psychopaths," is a volunteer program that is not terribly 
different from what Mr. Freeman-Longo outlined before lunch. 

There is no question that a crime has been conmitted. 
Society has the right to punish you. I would not reserve a 
portion of the final few years of sentence, but instead say, 
"After you have served a certain proportion of sentence, you may 
volunteer, if the treatment staff finds you acceptable" -- this 
is what has happened in Canada, by the way -- "because you can 
dem:mstrate that you have those characteristics" - - whether they 
are measured by Bob Hare ' s scale, or by some other set of 
instruments - - "that you are amenable to treatment, and they 
accept you. Then, at the conclusion of that treatment, you may 
become eligible for parole." 

SENATOR BASSANO: That is the precise type of network 
that we are looking at. I'm sure that is what is going to be 
recornrended to this Task Force once we start to put together our 
report. 

I 

But that doesn' t answer the problem as to who has 
final jurisdiction over the institution; that is, administering 
treatment, because these people are still incarcerated. That is 
the dilerrrna that I have. 
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DR. PALI..DNE: Senator, my understanding of the 
folkloric history of how Avenel got this way is that at a 
certain point, in roughly '74 or '76, after the Supreme Court 
had rendered certain decisions having to do with the rights of 
mental patients, and after the Legislature of the State of New 
Jersey had adopted a Bill of Rights for mental patients, the 
folk in Corrrnissioner Klein's off ice said, "Wow, we can't 
possibly deal with these folks that way" -- you know, weekend 
furloughs, so on and so forth. 

SENATOR BASSANO: So we ship them over. 
DR. PALI..DNE: There are some issues that are going to 

have to be addressed. If this was a question that came as a 
kind of intellectual question over the transom, I know that the 
person I would go to for a response would be Professor Brooks. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: How do they currently deal with 
the Vroom building for the criminally insane? That is under 
Human Services? The prisons ship their disturbed prisoners down 
there? 

DR. PALI..DNE: Yes, but those are acute cases, 
short-term stays. Basically, what you're doing is you've got 
somel::x:>dy who is radically assaultive, radically suicidal, he 
goes down and gets stabilized on medication. So he may be there 
for two weeks, four weeks at maximum, and comes back with a set 
of prescriptions. Now, we even have a Supreme Court decision on 
involuntary medication when it is psychiatrically necessary. 

So those are not long-term stays for anything rrore 
than psychopharmacological stabilization. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Are there questions? 
MR. THa.1AS: No, I do not, at the rroment . 
MR. MUI..J.ER: I'll reserve my ccmnents to the end. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Okay. I appreciate your ccmnents . 

They definitely were helpful, and we thank you. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: It does present a very thorny 

problem. It's a Gordian knot, so to speak. 
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SENATOR BASSANO: Okay. Anne, would you read off the 

next list of witnesses? 
MS. S'IEFANE: Dr. Greenwald and Dr. Witt, New Jersey 

Psychiatric Association and New Jersey Psychological 

Association. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Good afternoon. 

D A N I E L M. G R E E N W A L D, M.D.: Good afternoon. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Thank you for being with us. 
DR. GREENWALD: Thank you for giving us this 

opportunity to testify. 
I am Dr. Daniel Greenwald. I am President of the New 

Jersey Psychiatric Association. With me is Dr. Philip Witt, 
inmediate past President of the New Jersey Psychological 
Association. 

I am here, first, to present a joint position paper of 
the New Jersey Psychiatric Association and the New Jersey 
Psychological Association on the treatment of sex offenders. 
I 've distributed copies. I won't just read the whole thing, but 
I'll basically go over it. 

We do believe that there should be a treatment 
facility for sex offenders in New Jersey. There are a few 
reasons we can say. One, of course, is the benefit to the 
offender. It gives the m3.Xirrn.nn opportunity for the offenders to 
get their lives back together and to lead normal lives. 

The other benefit, of course, is to society as a 
whole. Unless the person has done something that warrants a 
lifetime sentence, he is going to have to be released sometime, 
and I would think in the meantime, society would want to do 
everything it can to decrease the chances that he is going to 
cornnit another offense. 

There is arrple literature indicating that sex offender 
treatment programs can work. I don't know if we can use the 
word cure. It is very difficult to say about any particular 
individual or any group of individuals, to make an assessment 
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that they are cured. But, certainly, there is arrple evidence 
that the rates of recidivism can be brought down with proper 
treatment. 

We have 
specifically, about 
what it should offer. 

several reconmendations to make, rrore 
the nature of the treatment facility and 

We do feel that the treatment program has 
to be run by a clinical director at the doctorate level, who 
reports directly to the director of the whole facility. We 
think it would be a disadvantage to have a layering of 
bureaucracy between the director of the facility and the 
director of the treatment program several notches down. 

We believe that rrost of the treatment program and the 
personnel involved in treatment should be responsible to the 
clinical director. Going along with what we just said, of 
course, we know that many of the people in this program will 
need to be in a maximum security institution. We think, 
obviously, the housing is going to have to be run by 
Corrections. 

We also think there should be incentives for the 
prisoners, the offenders, to participate in treatment. To the 
maximum degree possible, or the maximum degree feasible, we 
believe of fenders should either not get paroled if they do not 
participate in the treatment program, or that their refusal to 
participate, if it is a voluntary treatment program, should have 
a great deal of effect on whether they get parole or not. 

We also believe that it is going to be terrifically 
advantageous if we can perfonn lifelong follow-up, or at least 
follow-up after discharge for as long as possible. We think we 
would advise to have some kind of hook onto the of fender so that 
he would have to do this. 

In other words, this could be some kind of system of 
lifetime parole, or parole for an indefinite period, when the 
only condition of the parole might be simply that he report for 
follow-up -- for the follow-up for treatment and for assessment, 
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so we can gather data al:x:>ut how well the program is working and 
how well it's running. 

Now, from time to time, I suppose, or in certain 
circumstances, this may conflict with somebody's legal rights. 
That is out of my area. I can't really say what the legal 
rights are, but within the · framework of the person's legal 
rights, we believe these things should be done. 

It follows, then, that I think there should be 
facilities somewhere in the State or scattered throughout the 
State, for lifelong evaluation, assessment, and follow-up, so we 
do keep tabs on how well the program is running. 

Another reason for wanting to keep a program in place 
right now is that many of the new medications that have come out 

you've all heard of Prozac, and it has many relatives. Some 
of these are thought to be of potential value in the treatment 
of sex of fenders. I think it would be a shame if we kind of let 
this opportunity for research and for new treatment go by the 
board without doing something al:x:>ut it or without making some 
kind of investigation as to how well it could work. 

Now, as we discussed these issues, certain questions 
were brought back to us from the Legislature al:x:>ut rrore specific 
issues. One of them was whether the facility should be run by 
the Depai;tment of Corrections or by the Department of Human 
Services. 

We agree pretty much with what was just said. The 
housing would probably have to be done by Corrections, but the 
clinical part of the program would preferably be run by Human 
Services under a clinical director of a doctorate level, a Ph.D. 
or an M. D. I don't think Human Services in this State is set up 
to run correction facilities. Largely, this is an 
administrative issue, I think, to be decided by administration 
and not necessarily so much based on expert testirrony. 

The other question is: Where to carry out the 
treatment? The advantage of having one centralized facility is 
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that there are many different types of sex of fenders requiring 
different types of programs, and if they were scattered about, 
then any one given facility might not have enough offenders of 
any one category to have a good program there. It would also be 
harder to coordinate the program, to run it, and to supervise it 
properly. 

The obvious advantage to having them scattered is that 
the sex offender treatment facility, if it is going to be a 
totally beneficial, well-run, or optimal prison, would also have 
to duplicate the vocational rehabilitation and so on that is 
found in prisons . So we think there are advantages and 
disadvantages both ways, and the final decision can be an 
administrative one. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI..AK: Excuse me for a second? 
DR. GREENWALD: Yes. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI..AK: They are scattered now. About 

60 percent of the sex offenders in the system are scattered, and 
the other 40 percent who are repetitive are in Avenel. 

DR. GREENWALD : I see. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKUI..AK: So it is not so clear-cut. 
DR. GREENWALD: No, I don't think it ' s completely 

clear-cut, and I don't think there is any one answer that I 
would want to advocate as being the only way to do it. These 
kinds of things can be done both ways . 

The other question we were also asked was whether to 
mix different type of fenders in one facility. For the most 
part, we think this is possible. There is going to be 
segregation for the treatment program; that is, in the sense 
they will be attending different parts of the program or 
different types of therapy sessions. There is no specific 
reason why they can't be housed together, that we know of, apart 
from the reasons we already have, sanetimes, of not putting 
prisoners in the same place . 
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SENA'IDR BASSANO: When you' re giving treatment, is it 
better to have 15 or 20 people who all conmitted the same type 
of crime receiving the same type of treatment, or are you better 
off with a mix during group therapy? 
PH IL IP H. WITT, Ph.D.: If I can answer that, 
Senator? 

SENA.'IDR BASSANO: Yes. 
DR. WITT: In addition to being the inrnediate past 

President of New Jersey Psychological, I actually worked at 
Avenel, having served as Director of Psychology and Director of 
Research there. For the last eight years I've been in private 
practice, but I have had a fair amount of experience evaluating 
and treating sex offenders. 

The answer to your question is, "Yes. 11 Actually, it 
can be either way, and ideally should be both. My experience at 
Avenel is that some of the particular .treatment cooponents were 
homogeneous, a group of all child rrolesters, a group of all 
incest offenders. Some of the other treatment cooponents were 
heterogeneous, where they mixed them together. That, in my 
experience, has been the ideal; where you do both. 

If I may make a few additional comnents? 
SENA.'IDR BASSANO: Yes . 
DR . WITT: The question, first of all, is where to 

house? There apparently . has been a lot of discussion about 
that. I really don't know of any evidence that indicates that 
housing it in Corrections or in mental health works better one 
way or the other. 

Clearly, I think we would all agree that with a 
population that has broken the law in serious ways we would want 
security. It has to be a secure facility. Most of the secure 
facilities are in the Department of Corrections. There is, of 
course, the forensic psychiatric hospital that really is the 
exception that seems to prove the rule, that all of the other 
secure facilities tend to be in the Department of Corrections. 
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So I would assume, that the odds are it would be within the 
Department of Corrections. 

SENATOR BASSANO: The only question that keeps coming 
up is the services that are being rendered are not a correction 
type of service. It is a mental health type of service, which 
then puts you over into Human Services, the same as you would be 
dealing with someone who has a mental problem, placing them in 
a facility such as Greystone. Greystone happens to be run by 
Human Services, but could just as easily be run by the 
Department of Corrections. It's a tough call. 

DR. WITT: That's true . It ' s a hybrid. I mean there 
are elements of both. 

SENATOR BASSANO: That is a good description. It's a 
hybrid. 

DR. WITT: It is a hybrid. You know, in all the time 
I worked at Avenel, we were kind of balancing between those two 
poles . We had violent incidents there. There were escapes. 
There were assaults. I think all of us who worked there wanted 
it to be a secure facility. I certainly felt safer knowing that 
it was a secure facility . On the other hand, we all felt, at 
times, inconvenienced by the securi ty . Inconvenience, I think, 
is acceptable. I would prefer a secure facility. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I think so would the public. 
DR. WITT: I think so . 
As far as who would provide the treatment, I think as 

long as there is a clinical director with some experience and 
some credentials in the field, as long as the staff is 
well-trained in this particular specialty -- and it is a 
specialty -- it really doesn't matter whether the treatment 
program is administered through Corrections or through Human 
Services. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I know when we started the program, 
into the late '70s early '80s, the program was a m::xiel program 
and that was a m::xiel under Corrections . 
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DR. WITT: That's correct. 
SENATOR BASSANO: I think as we started to increase 

the caseloads at the facility and started to really overcrowd 
the facility, we started to run into some problems. 

DR. WITT: I couldn't agree rrore. In fact, if I could 
share briefly some personal experience? 

SENATOR BASSANO: Yes. 
DR. WITT: I was appointed Director of Research back 

in the mid '80s and relieved of my caseload to develop some 
automated physiological laboratories. We set up a 
plethysrrograph laboratory there. We wanted to do some research. 

That was just the point at which the institution 
started to get crowded. So very shortly after I was relieved of 
my caseload, I was gradually given the caseload back until I had 
as large a caseload as I had previously. No fault of the 
institution. I mean, we didn't want the other therapists 
carrying eno:rnnus caseloads, so I picked up my share. But it 
really prevented us from doing the kind of research that we 
wanted to do. 

Dr. Greenwald has pointed out that we, in our joint 
letter, are encouraging support for research. I think it ' s 
essential. I mean, I have to admit that all of the State 
institutions are funded primarily as treatment facilities and 
research was always viewed as secondary. But I think as we've 
seen here, unless you have real statistics to support the 
effectiveness of the program, it's difficult to convince the 
public that it is working or not. 

SENATOR BASSANO: We 've made note of the need for 
additional research. One of the things that we may be asking 
for is a line item in the budget, perhaps to Rutgers University, 
with some dollars to start some research separate and apart from 
the Department of Corrections. 

Because one of the problems that you run across when 
you're running on a tight budget is you try to look where you 
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can cut. If we put research off to torrorrow, we have the extra 
dollars today to do things and that becanes fine. Where, if 
it's given to Rutgers as a budget item, the Department can't 
tamper with it, there is no terrptation, and, perhaps, we can get 
sane meaningful research done at the State University. 

DR. WITI': Certainly, they have the skills to do it 
there. We did a preliminary pilot study back in the early '80s 
where we evaluated the people we released from Avenel compared 
to the people in the regular prison system who were also sex 
offenders, although not repetitive compulsive. OUr statistics, 
admittedly, just a small pilot study, were very different from 
those that Dr. Pallone presented. 

He cited a base rate of 7 percent recidivism. We 
found that, when we corrected for time on the street and things 
like that, that those in the regular prison system recidivated 
at a rate of 33 percent or 34 percent. These were nonrepetitive 
compulsive. Those at Avenel recidivated at 17 percent or 18 
percent. We were actually quite pleased with those results. We 
felt that we were taking a rrore difficult population, repetitive 
compulsive, and reducing their recidivism to roughly half of 
that of an untreated, easier population. 

SENATOR BASSANO: We believe, if we started to be rrore 
selective. in people who were going to Avenel and receiving 
treatment, that the 17 percent or 18 percent could be reduced 
drastically. 

DR. WITI': I would agree. 
SENATOR BASSANO: By basically saying that there are 

sane people who should never go back into society, and if you 
continue to incarcerate them through civil comnitment, the 
chances of another incident happening out there that is major or 
anything of that type, the figure would drop down and, 
hopefully, drop down drastically. 

DR. WITI': I agree. Avenel, in my understanding, has 
something of a problem with treatment refusals. Obviously, 
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there is no sense having a treatment center that just houses 
people. They should be moved elsewhere and people motivated to 
work at Avenel. Perhaps those people who are treatment 
refusals, or are those who we can detennine through whatever 
measures still present a danger to the cannunity upon parole, 
should be conmitted in one way or another. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I think we want to look at those 
people based upon their case where it looks like there is a good 
chance that we're going to succeed if we treat them. That is 
the individual that we want to get to. Those people who, 
obviously, no matter what you do you're not going to get to 
them, maybe, they shouldn't even be there but continue to be 
incarcerated. 

DR. WIIT: I agree. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: Also, you touched on another 

problem when you said, in the general population, the sex 
offender who is nonrepetitive comes out, he recidivates, then he 
becomes repetitive. I had asked the Department of Corrections, 
through OIS, a few months ago, to provide me with details of 
therapy in the different institutions. They still have not done 
that. 

DR. WIIT: There is very little. 
ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: It's not standardized either, I 

would imagine. From what I gather, it's spotty. 
DR. WIIT: Assemblyman, my understanding-- Now, I 

can't speak as a spokesman for the Department of Corrections, 
but my understanding is that there is very little organized 
treatment for sex offenders in the other prisons. There may be 
one or two groups. 

By the way, let me clarify something Dr. Greenwald 
• said. We certainly agree that sex offenders within themselves 

don't need to be segregated, rapists from child molesters from 
incest offenders, but I would put forth the position that they 
do need to be segregated from other prisoners. It is very 
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difficult in a general prison population to run a treatment 

program for sex offenders, because no people want to admit in a 

general prison population that they are a sex offender, for 
obvious reasons. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I want to get into a very touchy 
subject, if I rray. One of the things that was discussed at one 
of the early meetings we had was the problem of a person who has 
corrrnitted a crime, still has the urges to corrrnit additional 
crimes, and wants help. That person, if they were to contact a 
psychiatrist or a psychologist under the law today - - if they go 
for help -- the physician would have to report that person in 
the event there was a minor child involved. Which then prevents 
that individual from seeking help, sirrply because of the fact 
that he knows or she knows that they are going to be caught and 
it is going to become public record. 

Should we be looking at . some type of umbrella, 
whereby, an individual of that type can seek help without having 
the reporting being rrandatory by the treating physician? 

DR. WITr: It is a dilerrma, there is no doubt about 
it. In my private practice I still treat, because of my 
background from Avenel, rrany sex of fenders. But 99. 9 percent of 
them are referred by attorneys, the courts, or the prosecutor 
after they've been charged . 

SENATOR BASSANO: After they've been caught? 
DR. WITr: After they have been caught . 
SENATOR BASSANO: But what about a person who hasn' t 

been caught and wants help? 
DR. WITr: I understand. That is a real dilerrma. I 

don't have an answer to it . Every state in the union has a 
child abuse reporting law. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Do we think about allowing just the 
psychiatrist not to be part of that law if a person comes for 
help, or do we just leave the law as it is? It reminds me 
alrrost of the law that we had for years - - the Lindbergh law, if 
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you remember -- on kidnapping. If you kidnapped a child, 
rrandatory death penalty. Well, every child that was kidnapped 
was killed because people knew they were going to die. 

DR. WI'IT: No witnesses. 
SENATOR BASSANO: 

smart and changed the law. 
similar to that. 

So, as a result, we finally got 
Maybe this dilerrma is sanewhat 

DR. WI'IT: You know, I'm not an expert on drafting 
law, as did Dr. Pallone--

SENATOR BASSANO: Don' t think we are up here. 
DR. WI'IT: I would defer to Professor Brooks on that. 

But perhaps the law can be narrowed in the circumstances under 
which an individual reports, be narrowed so there are certain 
exceptions. Off the top of my head, I couldn't draft it for 
you, but perhaps sanething like that could be done. 

DR. GREENWALD: I agree that it is a dilerrma. I think 
the only kind of way to draft the exception would be if the sole 
source of knowledge is from the person himself seeking 
treatment. Then the psychiatrist or mental health treater might 
either, on his own discretion, not report it as long as the 
person stays in treatment, or report it to an agency which would 
then, perhaps, not incarcerate the person as long as he is not 
a danger and stays in treatment. 

I mean, that's one way to try to construct it. Again, 
it would be hard to construct the details, but perhaps it could 
be done under that kind of outline. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: I don't think we can afford to 
weaken our child abuse reporting laws. 

SENATOR BASSANO: It's a tough issue. I guess we'll 
talk arout it, but whether we' 11 get into it or not in the 
report, 
have to 

I'm not sure. 
deal with. 

DR. WI'IT: 

I I I • 

But it is a dilerrma that we are going to 

It is a very tough issue. 
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DR. GREENWALD: Well, this isn't only childhood abuse 
reporting laws. A person who says he has a tendency to be a 
voyeur and asks for treatment, even if the only potential 
victims are adults--

SENA'IDR BASSANO: Of course, the one concern we have 
is that we don't want that to be a shield so the person doesn't 
have to go to prison. But it is a difficult issue, and I think 
we'll kick it around a little bit when we start to put together 
this report. Whether we' 11 come up with an answer or not, I'm 
not certain. 

DR. GREENWALD: Well, you see, the way I think to 
prevent it from becoming a shield is that if the police can find 
out that he did it and the district attorney can find out, they 
can still deal with him. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: I think your approach is a 
middle-of-the-ground approach and maybe something we ought to 
look at. 

DR. GREENWALD: That's why I was saying some kind of 
separate board that the mental health treater could refer to, so 
that that wouldn't become part of the police record or the 
district attorney's record. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: I see Anne taking notes, so perhaps 
your suggestion will be brought up when we meet next time. 

Are there any other questions or conments from our 
people? 

DR. BROOKS: I would like to ask just one factual 
question. 

SENA'IDR BASSANO: Sure, Dr. Brooks. 
DR. BROOKS: You mentioned research at Avenel with a 

plethysrrograph. Did Avenel have a plethysrrograph? 
DR. WI'IT: I set up a plethysrrograph lab there . 

Again, I probably operated it for perhaps all of six rronths when 
I had to resume my caseload, and it gathered dust since then. 
It's probably still there. 
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DR. BROOKS: So it may still be there somewhere in a 
closet? 

DR. WITT: I am sure it is still there some place, in 
some closet. 

DR. GREENWALD: The only other thing I have is, I do 
have a paper which is an outline of treatment outcome with sex 
of fenders. It was published in 1991 by a canadian psychologist. 
If the Task Force wants a copy, I have one for you. 

DR. WITT: This is the trost current review of sex 
offender treatment that I have been able to find, 1991. 

DR. BROOKS: Who is that by? 
DR. WITT: William Marshall . 
DR. BROOKS: Oh, Marshall, yes. 
DR. WITT: Apparently, you have it already. 
SENATOR · BASSANO: Any additional cooments or 

questions? (no response) 
We do thank you. Thank you for being here. 
DR. WITT: Thank you. 
DR. GREENWALD: Thank you. 
MR. MULLER: Professor Brooks, much of this Marshall 

report was in one of our previous packages. 
DR. BROOKS: Yes. 
MR. MULLER: I notice how you always smile when the 

academians walk in. 
DR. BROOKS: Really? (laughter) 
Well, maybe it's because I know them. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Elizabeth Anastasio. 
This is our last witness. After she is finished, that 

will conclude our meeting for today. 
Good afternoon. 

E L I Z A B E T H A N A S T A S I 0, E.9Q: Good afternoon, 
gentlemen and ladies. 

As you know, my name is Elizabeth Anastasio. Just so 
you know a little bit about me: I'm a lifelong resident, born, 
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bred, and raised in New 
public schools system. 
University and Seton Hall 

Jersey . I attended the New Jersey 
I'm educated through Seton Hall 

School of Law. 
My connection to ADTC is as a regular visitor over the 

last two years and as a self-appointed, nonlegal advocate to 
some of the inmates there. I visit, I accept collect phone 
calls, and obtain info:rmation they may request that they can't 
otherwise get from inside ADTC. 

I've been visiting at ADTC for a little over two years 
now. In those two years, I've had numerous conversations with 
inmates regarding the benefits they have derived from treatment 
at ADTC. I'd like to draw the distinction here that these are 
inmates who are actively participating in the treatment program. 

Some of the inhouse problems that have come up on a 
regular basis have been a regular topic of our conversations: 
problems in ADTC, upsets that they encounter, and benefits in 
treatment, what works for them in the treatment program. 

On an aside, I 've had the pleasure of meeting Dr. 
Jeffrey Allen, who used to be the Director of Treatment. The 
inmates who have been under his care speak very highly of him 
and value the treatment they receive with him as their 
therapist. 

I strongly feel that a patient under the care of a 
therapist who has trust in their caregiver, in their therapist, 
and who has high regard for them will benefit more than from a 
therapist who is not responsive to them or in whom they don't 
have confidence or trust. 

A couple of the other counselors that you spoke with 
at a prior meeting, Susan Beshak, who is, I believe, a drug 
abuse counselor, and Craig Conway, are also highly regarded by 
the inmates they treat. These two counselors, I know, have 
spoken out in a prior meeting contrary to statements made by 
William Plantier. Just my personal impression is that their 
testimony is probably more reliable. 
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A couple of the programs that I've had conversations 
arout as far as being of benefit to the inmates; one in 
particular has been the art therapy program. One of the inmates 
in particular who has come into the art therapy program has 
personally related to me the benefits he has gotten from this 
program. It has created a new outlet for him that he did not 
have previous to his admission into ADI'C. 

Prior to his being confined in ADI'C, he told me that 
his only diversion was work related. Because he was a 
craftsperson, everything he did as a diversion was related to 
his work and there was nothing else. Now, he has discovered and 
is developing a talent in creative pursuits, and that has helped 
build his self-esteem, as well as other inmates who are in the 
art therapy program. They have also discovered hidden talent 
that they didn't know they possessed. That is something that 
when they are able to be released, they can potentially hook 
into as a resource not only of recreation, but possibly as 
income. 

There are some concerns that have come up on repeated 
basis on my visits to ADI'C. One of the primary concerns is 
potential for therapy program cutbacks, a potential for less 
groups, or fewer group meetings. 

MR. MULLER: You can't get any less than one. 
MS. ANASTASIO: I know. A lot of times it is less 

than one--
MR. MULLER: That's what it is now. 
MS. ANASTASIO: --because therapists a lot of times 

don't show for their meetings. If there is a snow storm, a 
holiday, or a State meeting is called, the session isn't held 
for saretimes two or three weeks, or rrore, consecutively. 

Therapy refusals is a big issue with the inmates 
themselves. The inmates participating in treatment resent what 
they call "'I'Rs" -- therapy refusals -- remaining at ADI'C, 

contrary to part of the stated purpose of ADI'C which is 

115 



treatment. The inmates who are in treatment would like to see 
the TRs rerroved to other facilities to make roan for those who 
are on the waiting list and who are willing to undergo a 
treatment program. 

Medical care and emergency response at ADTC are not 
something I would want to sul:mit my worst enemy to on occasion. 
One particular physician -- I don't know his name, and wouldn't 
reveal it if I did -- is not viewed as a carpetent physician. 
One particular inmate who I speak with on a regular basis has, 
on occasion when he had been seriously ill, had to insist on 
seeing another physician in order to receive appropriate 
medication. 

Also, the guards apparently are not trained in CPR or 
the Heimlich rraneuver. One of the inmates with whan I speak 
regularly said that on a meal break one particular evening, he 
witnessed an inmate friend of his choking. Before he could get 
up, another inmate grabbed him and did the Heimlich rraneuver 
because the guard who was stationed in that area didn't know how 
to perform it. 

It is my feeling that all the guards, since 
emergencies do arise and because of the security requirements at 
ADTC, be able to perform and be certified on CPR and the 
Heimlich rraneuver on an annual basis. 

The phone system that has recently been installed and 
in place; I know it's systemwide. Receiving calls on a regular 
basis, their calls are limited to 15 minutes by an autcxnated 
system. This cuts down on their access not only to family and 
other outside people that they wish to have--

SENATOR BASSANO: May I interrupt you? 
MS. ANASTASIO: Yes, sir. 
SENATOR BASSANO: What you're doing is giving us a 

list of canplaints of the inmates of the institution. We want 
to talk about, if we can, therapy and what we can do to irrprove 
the therapy. 
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What we' re hearing f ram you is what we heard f ram some 
of the inmates. It was an opportunity for them to vent some of 
the problems they' re having. If I were to have a hearing on 
Rahway State Prison, I would get the same thing. 

MS. ANASTASIO: But it is my feeling that in order for 
the therapy as a whole to be effective that the environment be 
as protective of their well-being as possible, and that basic 
human concerns also be included. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I think that the administration 
tries to do what they can with regard to basic human concerns, 
but based on the overpopulation, it is a problem, and understand 
that it is still a prison. 

MS. ANASTASIO: I understand that. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Try to understand that it is still 

a penal institution. It is certainly not a facility where you 
are getting just treatment. What you're telling me-- I've 
gotten volumes, not a handful, volumes of letters from prisoners 
complaining about the same thing. Assemblyman Mikulak is no 
different. 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: We've gotten letters. 
SENATOR BASSANO: This Task Force is not doing penal 

reform. It is doing the treatment of Avenel and how we can 
irrprove that particular problem. 

MS . ANASTASIO: Part of my purpose in coming here 
today was to cornnunicate to you that from my conversations and 
dealings with the inmates -- the few inmates that I deal with, 
because I only deal with two to four -- are receiving value, 
very good value f ram the treatment they are receiving. They 
could receive better. There could be nruch rrore value received 
by the inmates who receive treatment at Avenel, but due to 

I 

budgetary concerns, funding concerns I 'm sure, there is less 
than there used to be. 

SENATOR BASSANO: That is, I think, one of our biggest 
problems; there is so little. 
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MS. ANASTASIO: From sitting in on a good portion of 
the testimony today, I can appreciate the huge undertaking this 
Task Force has in trying to make its recorrmendations. For what 
it was worth, I felt, pardon the expression, corrpelled to come 
down here and throw my two cents in. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I would be delighted to pass on to 
the Comnissioner some of the concerns that you just expressed, 
but I don't think that those concerns are going to be addressed 
by this Task Force. 

Maybe I was a little harsh with you, and if I was I 
apologize, but I don't think that is what we're charged with 
doing. What I'm hearing from you is repetitious, because it's 
not the first time I've heard it. But, again, we're not going 
to move in that area. It's like people saying, "What about the 
juvenile offender?" That is not what we are charged with doing, 
even though we know it's a major problem. 

MS. ANASTASIO: I appreciate that. I do want to 
stress to the Task Force that I know Rob Freeman-Longo was 
discussing earlier the concept of intensive therapy. I had a 
brief conversation with Professor Brooks over the concept of 
intensive therapy, and the more rrodalities of treatment that can 
be delivered to someone in a facility like AfJTC, or at AfJTC, the 
more they are going to get out of their treatment program. 

One or one and a half hours a week of group therapy 
isn't going to do it. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I think we all agree with that. 
MS. ANASTASIO: The more you can enable the facility 

to have, or recorrmend that somehow it be funded to have, the 
better treatment they' re going to provide. The ultimate outcome 
is, when these men are eligible to get out, what is going to 
become of them? Are they going to recomnit, or are they going 
to be contributing members of the conmunity again? The value of 
and the corrprehensi veness of the treatment is going to be key to 
that. 
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If you don' t treat them adequately and 
conprehensively, then the risk of the higher risk inmates 
recomnitting is going to increase. I think the lower risk 
inmates- - Those especially who are incarcerated because of 
incest convictions are low risk and are less likely to recomnit, 
because the fact of the matter is they probably have court 
orders that they can't have contact with that family anyway. 
So, taking them out of that environment postrelease, where is 
the risk that they are going to recomnit? 

I don't see a general trend that saneone who comnits 
incest then goes out and becanes a rapist or a predatory child 
molester. It doesn't happen. I have to say that there are a 
couple of inmates who I visit at ADTC, I would feel safe in a 
closed room with them before I would feel safe in a closed room 
with sane of the guards there. 

SENATOR BASSANO: I 'm not too sure you' re that 
incorrect in your statement. (laughter) 

MS. ANASTASIO: Just for a final note, I know, Senator 
Bassano, you in particular are interested in sane type of 
postrelease program, especially a halfway house, which the 
inmates are very concerned for. They would like to see that 
type of program where, if they have no place to go, if there is 
no family to go to, or no friend who can take them in when they 
are released, that they have at least six tr0nths or a year in 
some place they can go to and have aftercare: a place to call a 
roof over their head and not be concerned about a vigilante 
attack, their own personal safety, or the safety of their 
families if they should be visiting. 

SENATOR BASSANO: Well, I look at it a little 
different than you do. I think it is a gradual reintroduction 
back into society, but a very small percentage would probably 
need that help. Those people who don't have families are the 
people that we would be looking at. But that is sanething that 
we would ask a permanent comnission, that I hope this body will 
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agree should be established, to take a real hard look at and 
maybe report back to the Legislature as to whether they think an 

establishment of that type is warranted. 
MS. ANASTASIO: Even those who don't necessarily need 

a halfway house facility-- But based on the fact that these men 
will have been incarcerated anywhere from - - on max out - - four 
years to thirty years or rrore, no matter what time frame, 
they've been out of society for some period of time and are 
going to need some type of reintroduction. Whether that is 
counseling on how to get job placement or aftercare with a 
therapist, it should still be available. 

SENATOR BASSANO: In rrost cases I think there are 
families that are there to help them. But you and I know that 
there is a small percentage who don't have any relatives in the 
State or don't have any family at all, and that is where a 
half-way house would come into play. 

MS. ANASTASIO: I think there is an inherent conflict 
societally right now with the high errotions that are running in 
the public over Megan's Law. I fear a reluctance of families of 
some of these men, or a large number of these men, to be willing 
to take them back. If they have to face--

SENATOR BASSANO: I don't think that is much different 
than if you have a family member who is in a mental institution, 
anybody who is institutionalized, or a family member who went to 
general prison. 

MS. ANASTASIO: But someone who has been in a mental 
institution doesn't potentially face having their name published 
to the entire corrmunity or given to the police or whomever. 
Someone who has been released from Rahway, with or without 

parole, doesn't have their name released to the entire 
corrmunity, and their families and friends can usually live with 
some protection of their privacy. Whereas, when you have sexual 
offenders who are potentially having that portion of their 
privacy rerroved, it makes it rrore difficult to reintegrate. 
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SENA'IDR BASSANO: I understand where you are corning 

from. I understand the desires of the corrmunity to ask for a 
safe society and wanting to know if they live in a safe 
environment. It is a very difficult issue. Again, we're not 
going to deal with that issue. The Legislature addressed the 
issue with Megan's law. It is being challenged in court. If we 
have to readdress it at the legislative level, we will, but that 
is not what we are going to be talking about here. 

MS. ANASTASIO: Thank you. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: You' re welcane. 
Are there any questions? (no response) 
Thank you very Trn.lch. 
MS. ANASTASIO: Thank you. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: Before we break--
Bill, I know you have the toughest schedule because 

you're not in the area a lot. Steve and I were talking about 
the next time we would get together and try to meet behind 
closed doors to hash out a report. When is good for you and 
when is bad for you? 

MR. THCMAS: Any time after the 1st, I'll be hare. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: After the 1st, okay. Because we 

want to try to get that meeting as quickly as possible. OUr 

problem may be getting a few people together. 
MR. THCMAS: I can't afford many rrore trips from 

Hilton Head. 
SENA'IDR BASSANO: I know, I know. I appreciate you 

corning back, really. We 1 11 all cane down to Hilton Head, how's 
that? (laughter) 

ASSEMBLYMAN MIKULAK: If we go too far into April, the 
Legislature is out of session. It will be hard to get--

MR. THCMAS: That ' s all right. I 've got a way to go, 
too, if you want to go to Hilton Head. It's very reasonable. 
You catch a ccmruter plane out of Hilton Head Island. You go to 
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Charlotte, you get another one to Philadelphia, and from 
Philadelphia you go to Atlantic City. 

SENAIDR BASSANO: We figure you' re going to be home by 
next Tuesday. 

MR. THOJIAS: Well, I got home in five hours that way, 
and I'm going back torrorrow rroming at 7:00 the same way. 

SENAIDR BASSANO: We' re going to take a look and try 
to get our group together as 'quickly as possible depending on 
everyone's schedule. So, what I would suggest to those of us 
who are here, start making note of the areas that you want to 
cover. Then let's hash it out and we'll see if we can come up 
with a report. 

Yes, Professor . 
DR. BROOKS: Senator, do you think it would be helpful 

if someone, Anne, for example, or the two Cochairmen, would 
prepare some kind of tentative agenda? 

with. 

SENAIDR BASSANO: We're doing that now. 
DR. BROOKS: You are doing that? 
SENAIDR BASSANO: Yes. We both asked Anne- -
DR. BROOKS: So at least we have a structure to start 

SENAIDR BASSANO: But there are going to be specific 
things that each of you are going to feel should be part of that 
report. 

DR. BROOKS : Oh, sure. 
SENAIDR BASSANO: I remember Gregg bringing up 

something at the last meeting regarding the keeping of records. 
MR. MULLER: I've got it all written out here. So at 

the next meeting I'll sumnarize it. 
SENAIDR BASSANO: Whether that will be in here or not, 

he should bring it up, that sort of thing. 
DR. BROOKS: In other words, the agenda that you' re 

preparing would not be the final one, but at least it would be 

the beginning of a structure? 
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SENATOR BASSANO: It's a rough agenda. Okay? 
Hopefully, we'll come up with something that is workable. 

DR. BROOKS: By the way, the reason I raised the 
question about the plethysrrograph is that I was told by one of 

• the staff that they did not have one. 

.. 
SENATOR BASSANO: It's in the report that they don't 

have one. Arme pointed that out to me . 
DR. BROOKS: Yes, and I specifically raised that 

question because I think that was a misrepresentation. 
SENATOR BASSANO: Absolutely. 

{MEE'l'ING CONCLUDED) 
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ABSTRACT A proposed version of these standards were first produced and 
published through input from a variety of professionals and input from 
professional meetings (Coleman and Dwyer. 1990). Since that time, the 
current set of authors (and Kurt Freund. M.D., William Marshall , Ph.D. and 
William Murphy, Ph.D .) have reviewed those proposed standards and have 
made the following changes. The Stzmdards of Care herein were unani­
mously endorsed by voice vote by the participants of the 3rd International 
Congress on the Treatment of Sex Offender~ \\'hich was held in Minneapoli s. 
~vi innesota on September 20-22 . I 9CJ-+. The authors invite feedback from 
readers. Further revisions are anti cip::ncd and ,,·ill be reviewed by the existing 
committee members and at future lntcm:1ti0nal Congresses on the Treatment 
of Sex Offenders . Please address your rnmmcnts or write for reprints of this 
article to Eli Coleman, Ph.D .. Director :1 11d Associate Professor, Program in 
Human Sexuality. I 300 S. 2nd Srrcc·t. Suite I ~O. f\'linneapo li s, Minnesota 
USA 55454. 

From puberty through adu lthood. ma les more than females experi­
ence erotic fantasies and dreams of' a paraphilic type. A paraphili~ is a 
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condition of compulsive response to, or dependence upon, an unusual 
and unacceptable stimulus in the imagery of fantasy, for optimal initia­
tion and fantasy during solo masturbation or intercourse with a partner. 

There are well over 40 types of paraphilias which have been 
identified and defined (Money, 1986). Only eight of them are listed in 
the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (American 
Psychiatric Association, 1987), where the remainder are subsumed un­
der, "not otherwise specified." Given the socio-cultural-religious-po­
litical climate, some paraphilias are legally considered to be sex crimes 
which are punishable by law. In legal codes, crimes against nature and 
affronts to socially acceptable sexual behavior are criminalized and are 
regarded as sex offenses. These crimes have included statutory rape, 
violent rape, child molesting, exhibitionism, voyeurism and incest. What 
is considered a sexual crime and the standards of punishment are state, 
time, and culture dependent. Over time, there have been many revisions 
of the criminal sexual codes (Pallone, 1990). 

For the most part, today sex offenders may be fined, ordered to 
psychological or medical treatment, and/or imprisoned. For first-time 
offenders, and for lesser offenses, there is a greater likelihood of proba­
tion, subject to some professional sex offender treatment. 

Although treatment is costly and unaffordable by some, not to treat 
can be more costly emotionally and psychologically for the offender, for 
the victims and future victims, and for society. 

Today there is more scientific evidence and consensus among 
professionals that paraphilias are psychosexual disorders. By contrast, 
the predominant view of the lay public around the world is that sex crimes 
can be eradicated with punishment and/or death. This predominant view 
is not supported by scientific evidence, and the scientific community 
needs to continue to promote awareness that sex crimes can also be the 
manifestations of biomedical/psychiatric/psychological illnesses for 
which people must be treated, rather than simply punished. 

In recent decades. the demand for sex offender treatment has 
increased, as have the number and variety of possible biomedical/ 
psychiatric/psychologica l treatments. The rationale upon which such 
treatments have been offered has become more and more complex. 
Various ··appropriate care·· philosophies have been suggested by many 
professionals who have identified themselves as experts on the topic of 
sex offenders. 

•• 
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In an effort to establish minimal acceptable guidelines for the 
treatment of sex offenders, the authors present the following Standards 
of Care as guidelines which might be helpful to enhance the ethical and 
professional treatment of sex offenders throughout the world. 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

Although each profession ha~ its own standards of care, the following 
are minimal recommendations of Standards of Care. It is recommended 
that professionals involved in the treatment of sex offenders use the 
following minimal criteria for the evaluation of their work. It is recom­
mended that the reasons for exceptions to these standards, in the man­
agement of any individual case, be very carefully documented. 

DEFINITIONS 

Standards of Care 

Standards of Care are exactly what is implied: standards for caring 
for patients. In this case: care and treatment of sex offenders. 

Paraphilia 

Paraphilia is an erotosexual condition occurring in men and women 
who are responsive to, or dependent upon, an unusual or socially unac­
ceptable stimulus in the imagery or fantasy for optimal initiation and 
maintenance or erotic-sexual arousal and the facilitation or attainment 
of orgasm. 

Sex Offense 

If paraphilia is enacted in actual behavior rather than in erotic 
fantasy or dream, it may qualify as a criminal sex offense. There is great 
discrepancy throughout the world as to what constitutes a sex offense 
(Pallone, 1990). 

Sex Offender 

An individual who commits a sexual crime as legally defined in his 
or her own culture or legal jurisdiction. / 
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Psychological Treatment 

Psychological treatment refers to the array of therapies which have 
been designed to treat sex offenders. Different treatments are based on 
different psychological and psychiatric theories regarding the origin of 
the paraphilic sex offending, for example, psychoanalytic, cognitive, 
behavioral, social learning, and family systems theories. Psychological 
or psychiatric care can be provided in individual, couple, family or group 
settings. The purpose of treatment is an attempt to prevent further 
offending behavior and further victimization of others. 

Biomedical Treatment 

Biomedical treatment refers to the use of pharmacological treat­
ment or neurosurgery for the purpose of altering sexual fantasies, im­
pulses, and behavior. Pharmacologic therapy has included (but is not 
limited to) the use of antiandrogens, antidepressants, and antianxiety, 
anti epileptic, antipsychotic, or other medications. 

Surgical treatment might involve brain surgery to correct temporal 
lobe seizures. With the advent of effective chemotherapies which alter 
the erotosexual response, the necessity of psychosurgery in the absence 
of epileptic foci has been rendered inappropriate . 

PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCE 

Possession of an academic degree in a behavioral science, medi­
cine, or for the provision of psychosocial clinical services does not 
necessarily attest to the possession of sufficient con~petence to conduct 
assessment or treatment of paraphil ic or sex offending problems. Per­
sons assessing and/or treating sex offrnders should have clinical training 
and experience in the diagnosis and treatment of a range of psychiatric 
and psychological conditions and also specialized training and experi­
ence in the assessment and treatment of paraphilic and sex offender 
problems. This would generally be reflected by appropriate licensure as 
a psychiatrist, psychologist, or clinical therapist and by documentation 
of training and experience in the <liagnosis and treatment of a broad range 
of sexual conditions, including paraphilic disorders and sex offenses . 
Treatment providers must be competent in making a differential diagno­
sis. The following minimal standards for a professional should be 
adhered to : 

.. 
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o 1. A minimum of a master's degree or its equivalent or medical degree in a 
clinical field granted by an institution of education accredited by a na­
tional/regional accrediting board. 

o 2. Demonstrated competence in therapy as indicated by a license (or its 
equivalent from a certifying body) to practice medicine, psychology, clinical 
social work, professional counseling, or marriage and family counseling. 

o 3. Demonstrated specialized competence in counseling and diagnosis of 
sexual disorders and sex offending behaviors as documentable by training or 
supervised clinical experience, along with continuing education. 

ANTECEDENTS TO SEX OFFENDER TREATMENT 

D 1. Prospective patients should receive an extensive evaluation of their sex 
offending behavior which would include appropriateness for treatment, 
amenability for treatment, psychological/psychiatric diagnoses, evaluation 
for safety and protection for the community. 

o 2. A thorough physical examination is recommended especially when physi­
cal problems are suspected that might require specific treatment, i.e., heart 
problems, high blood pressure, liver damage, brain lesions, and epilepsy. 

D 3. Prospective patients should receive a psychological and/or psychiatric 
examination which would rule out other psychological/psychiatric disorders. 
If any other psychological/psychiatric disorders are found, treatment of that 
require separate treatment prior to treatment for paraphilic or sex offending 
behavior. 

D 4. If medication is deemed necessary or requested by the patient, the patient 
must be given information regarding the benefits and potential side effects 
or disadvantages of biomedical treatment. 

THE PRINCIPLES OF STANDARDS OF CARE 

c Principle I: While treatment effectiveness of adult sex offenders has not 
been clearly demonstrated. there are indications that some kinds of treatment 
may be effective in managing and reducing recidivism with some types of 
sex offenders. 

O Principle 2: Sex offc n,kr treatment is viewed by offenders as an elective 
process (the choice is t hc·1~, i. since individuals may not view their sex 
offending behavior as r '', ilnlogicall y or medically pathological. 

D Principle 3: The evaluati on of treatment of sex offenders requires special-
ized skills not usually associated with the professional training of clinical 
therapists or medical pro fr ,,,.1onals . 
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o Principle 4: Sex offender treatment is performed for the purpose of 
improving quality of life and is considered a humane treatment for people 
who have committed a sex offense and to prevent the patient from engaging 
in further sex offemiing behavior. 

O Principle 5: The patient with a documented biomedical abnormality is 
first treated by procedures commonly accepted as appropriate for any such 
medical conditions before beginning, or in conjunction with, psychotherapy. 

o Principle 6: The patient having a psychiatric diagnosis (i.e., schizophre-
nia) is first treated by procedures commonly accepted as appropriate for the 
psychiatric diagnoses, or, if appropriate, for both simultaneously. 

O Principle 7: Sex offender treatment may involve a variety of therapeutic 
approaches. It is important for professionals to keep abreast of this growing 
and developing field and provide the most efficacious treatments which have 
been demonstrated through outcome studies. Some of the most effective 
approaches available today involve cognitive and behavioral therapies which 
include increase in victim empathy, control over offending urges and relapse 
prevention. 

o Principle 8: A treatment plan may involve the use ofpharmacotherapy 
which typically relieves some sexual arousal and fantasy. Impulse control is 
thereby increased and individuals feel less driven by their sexual compulsion 
or their paraphilic fantasy imagery. Principle 9: The current treatment of 
sex offenders often causes special legal problems for the professionals 
offering such care and treatment. Therefore, the professional should work 
with the criminal justice system in a professional and cooperative manner. 

c Principle I 0: Sex offenders often have a need for a follow- up treat-
ment/visits , and this should be encouraged or possibly required. 

o Principle 11 : It is unethical to charge patients for services which are 
essentially for research and which do not directl y benefit the patient. 

c Principle 12 : In order to effectively persuade the professionals in the legal 
community as well as society in general about the efficacy of sex offender 
treatment, professional s should coorcrate with and carry out scientifically 
sound treatment outcome research . 

o Principle 13 : Sex offender~ <' ft en must face legal proceedings, and 
professional s treating these indi\ idu~I~ must be prepared to appear in court 
if necessary. 

c Principle 1-l : Sex offender~ ;m: ~ 1 \e n the same rights to medical and 
psychological privacies as any other patient group. with the exception of 
where the Jaw requires otherwi se. i.e .. reporting laws, subpoenaing of re­
cords. 

.. 



. . 

7 JOR : UNCORRECTED PROOFS 7 

References 

American Psychiatric Association. ( 1987). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 
of the American Psychiatric Association (DSM-III-R), Washington, D.C.: 
American Psychiatric Association. 

Coleman, E. and Dwyer, S. M. (1990). Proposed standards of care for the 
treatment of adult sex offenders. Journal of Offender Rehabilitation, 16(1/2), 
93-106. 

Money, J. (1986). Lovemaps: Clinical Concepts of Sexual/Erotic Health & 
Pathology, Paraphilia, and Gender Transposition in Childhood, Adolescence 
& Maturity. Buffalo: Prometheus. 

Pallone, N. J. (1990). Rehabilitating Criminal Sexual Psychopaths: Legislative 
Mandate, Clinical Quandries. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books. 



AGGRESSIVE AND STAN DJ-RD MODALITIES IN TREATING CRIMINAL 
SEXUAL PSYCHOPATHS ARRAYED BY RELATIVE EFFECTIVENESS 

FINANCIAL EFFECTIVENESS IN REDUCING 
MODALITY COSTS SEX·OFFENSE RECIDIVISM IMPEDIMENTS, ISSUES 

~ BIOIMPEDANCE 

Surgical Moderate, Baseline ++ Court decisions based on 8th, 14th 
Castration one· time Amendments; permanent incapacitation 

Neuroosurgery Moderate, Baseline+ Court decisions based on 8th, 14th 
[Psychosurgery] one-time Amendments; permanent incapacitation; 

neurologic side effects not known 

Chemical Moderate, Baseline +I· Libertarian arguments, Constitutionally-
Castration continuing based; long-term neurohormonal effects 

not known 

~ AVERSIVE BEHAVIOR THERAPY 

Treatment by High, one-time Baseline++ Libertarian view likens to 'brainwashing' ; 
Revulsion + "booster' sessions Supreme Court constraints [Wyatt, 

Don1ldson, Pugh] 

~ PUNITIVE INCARCERATION WITHOUT TREATMENT 

INCAPACITATION Approximates BASELINE According to Dix, 7% seven years 
$25-$30K year post-release 

0 INPATIENT. DURING CONFINEMENT 

Group Moderate, putatively Baseline -- Effectiveness not better than punitive 
Therapy one-time. but greater incarceration; cost may be 25-35% 

than standard incarceration greater 

Individual Moderate, putatively Baseline -- Effectiveness not better than punitive 
Therapy one-time. but greater incarceration: cost may be 50% greater 

than standard incarceration 

0 OUTPATIENT. WHILE ON PROBATION 

Group Relatively low, puiatively Baseline =!- Effectiveness equal to. lower than 
Therapy one-time. borne by offender punitive incarceration; off-loads costs 

from public to private resources, likely 
discriminatory by SES 

Individual Low, putaiively one-time. Baseline =/- Effectiveness equal to. lower than 
Therapy borne by ::if!ende~ p ~. :iitive incarceration: off-loads costs 

from public to private resources. likeiy 
discriminatory by SES 

[Adapted '.:om t;.j t:21:onf . . "ifha:J1•1taunc;; '::wnina · $9xua1 Psycho.oaths.· Leg1sia11v9 Mandaies. Ciinica! Ouandanes. Transaction Publishers. 1990. pp. 79-1 02.; 
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POSITION STATEMENT 

TREATMENT FACILITY FOR SEX OFFENDERS 

As representatives of the New Jersey Psychiatric 
Association and the New Jersey Psychological Association, 
we would like to make this joint statement regarding the 
general issue of treatment of sex of fenders and the 
particular iosue of the future of the Adult Diagnostic 
and Treatment Center at Avenel. 

The professional literature demonstrates that treatment 
for sex offenders, if properly implemented, can be 
effective. A recent thorough review article (Marshall 
1991), cites considerable evidence that relapse rates for 
sex of fenders can be lowered by effective and 
comprehensive treatment. The efficacy rates of treatment 
for sex offenders in some instances compares with the 
efficacy of the treatment for other mental disorders. 

We, therefore, strongly support the proposal that New 
Jersey should maintain a sophisticated and well-supported 
sex of fender treatment program. 

We have several reconunendations regarding the structure 
and operation of such a program. We strongly feel that 
no treatment program can be effective unless most or all 
of these practices are in place. 

It goes without saying that the facility must be 
adequately funded and adequately staffed by competent and 
credentialed professional personnel. There should be a 
clinical director at the doctorate level reporting 
directly to the superintendent of the facility. There 
should be no layering of administration between the chief 
superintendent of the facility and the highest level 
clinical administrator. 

In order to insure that all residents participate 
maximally in the treatment program, there should be 
strong incentives for offenders to participate actively 
in treatment. These incentives could include parole or 
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time off for good behavior. We strongly discourage early 
release for off enders who do not actively participate in 
treatment. 

In order to perform adequate evaluations of the results 
of various kinds of treatment, the facility should have 
the capability for long-term follow-up. To insure that 
of fenders stay in long-term treatment and in follow-up 
for outcome evaluation, consideration should be given to 
such measures as lifelong parole or lifelong probation 
even after the offender has served a maximum sentence. 

Discharges, whether final discharges, parole, etc., 
should take into account clinical considerations as well 
as the actual time served in relation to the sentence. 
We realize that those who have served their time have 
certain legal rights to freedom; nevertheless we 
recommend that when decisions are made regarding release 
from institutionalizations, clinical considerations 
should be taken into account along with the offender's 
legal rights. 

It follows from the above arguments that there must be 
facilities and opportunities for ongoing treatment after 
release, whether at the treatment facility itself or in 
the community. If any law mandates the hospitalization 
or other institutionalization of certain people as 
compulsive, repetitive sex offenders, then procedures 
should be in place so that these of fenders are 
hospitalized or institutionalized in settings which are 
capable of controlling them, evaluating them, and 
treati ng them. In particular it is extremely problematic 
for compulsive, repetitive sex offenders to be 
hospitalized in the psychiatric units of general 
community hospitals. In such facilities these patients 
would frighten o t her patients and would have no 
opportunity to obt ain treatment particular to their 
needs. 

Lastly, it needs to be recognized that there are several 
different types of offenders. Sexual offenders vary by 
age and sex of the victim, the use of force, and 
frequency of repetition. There are several modalities of 
treatment, including hormonal, behavioral, cognitive and 
conditioning types o f tre a tme nt . 

I 
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In addition, several recent medications, in particular 
those medications which alter the brain metabolism of 
serotonin, have shown promise as adjunctive treatment to 
the rehabilitation of sex offenders. Opportunities to do 
research in this area should not be missed. Treatment 
programs and evaluation programs must take into account 
the various types of of fender, the various types of 
treatment, and the relationships between them. 

Lastly we wish to deal with a few questions of a more 
detailed nature. We have made mention of the need for a 
strong clinical director. We recognize, of course, that 
most of the individuals at a sex offenders treatment 
facility will have been convicted of a crime. Thus there 
will always be a need for adequate security. 

Nevertheless it is imperative that there be a clinical 
director strong enough to insure a professional 
atmosphere in dealing with the inmate/patient population. 
When non-professionally trained people come into close 
contact with a vulnerable population there is always the 
danger of inappropriate behavior. Either the facility 
should be under the direction of the Department of Human 
Services; or should report directly to the Governor's 
office; or should have a clinical director with 
sufficient authority to insure that such behaviors do not 
occur. 

Another issue is the question of where to carry out 
treatment. Obviously treatment could conceivably be 
rendered in one central facility, as in Avenel; or 
treatment programs could be offered at each of several 
prisons. The main disadvantage to one central treatment 
facility is that other types of facilities, such as 
library, exercise room, vocational training programs, 
etc. would have to be duplicated or the inmates will be 
without the benefits of these facilities. The main 
disadvantage of separate treatment teams in each prison 
is that the program may lack some cohesion and there may 
be less emphasis on maintaining a strong treatment 
program. We believe that this is largely an 
administrative decision. 

We also believe that different types of populations can 
mix in one facility. Some of the treatment programs 
would be separate for different classes of of fenders such 
as exhibitionists or rapists; other parts of the program 
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would be the same. Different types of o~fenders can be 
segregated for different aspects of the program when need 
be. There is no real need to have separate treatment 
locations and facilities for different classes of 
offende~s. Indeed one of the advantages of having all 
sex of fenders treated in one centralized location is that 
if the treatment teams are separate, each facility may 
not have enough of each given class of of fenders to 
constitute a good treatment group in that specific 
facility. 

I~ 
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~entlemen, 

' . 
My name is Elizabeth Anastasio. I'm a lifelong resident & native 
~ f NJ. I'm educated in the NJ Public School System & attended 
Se0ton Hall University and Seton Hall School of Law. I work for 
a small mutual insurance company in NYC. 

My connection to ADTC is as a regular vistor at ADTC and self.. appointed 
non-legal advocate. I visit, accept phone calls and obtain 
information requested but not readily available to inmates. 
I've been visiting at ADTC for a little over 2 years. 

In those 2 years, I've had numerous conversations regarding benefits 
derived from treatment at ADTC, in-house problems especially medical 
care, and conversations on various concerns and upsets encountered. 

Comments on Treatment: 

I've had the pleasure of meeting Dr. Jeffrey Allen briefly. The 
inmates to whom I have spoken speak highly of him and his abilities. 
He's perceived by the inmates he treats as an excellent therapist, 
straight talker and doesn't accept B.S. 

Other counselors, e.g. Susan Baschack and Craig Conway are regarded 
highly also. Trust ~~o~J high regard of a therapist is crucial 
t o progress in therapy. These two counselors spoke out at the last 
meeting of this task force with opinions contrary to Wm. Plaintier's. 
My impression is that their testimony is probably the more reliable. 

The Art Therapy Program is highly valued by the inmates who choose 
it as part of their program. It provides a creative outlet to often 
u nknowri talent. One inmate with whom I visit never had any other 
d i,:e rs io n except t-' ork prior t o entr y at ADTC. He has told me of 
o ther i nmates never exposed to art as y oung men who have demonstrated 
talent. Access to creativity and development of interest and 
a t alent for art increases their self esteem. Increased self-esteem 
is c r ucial t o progress in any therapy setting . 

,_ 
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Of additional value is the education program offered at ADTC, which 
includes GED and college programs. Education-increasing a person's 

-base of knowledge-increases the ability to meet challenge in a positive 
manner. 

In my conversations and visits, some concerns of inmates have repeatedly 
come up: 

These are: 

1) Therapy program cut backs - less groups available. 
- fewer group meetings. 
- cance lled meetings - group or individual, due to weather, 

other state meetings, etc.; unresponsive therapists. 

2) Therapy - Refusals 

Inmates participating in treatment programs resent that 
T-R's remain in ADTC contrary to the stated purpose of ADTC; 
part of which is treatment. 

- Inmates in treatment would like to see the T'R's removed 
to other facilities to make room for those on the waiting 
list who are not at least willing to unde ~go a treatment 
program. 

31 Medical Ca r e/Emerge n cy Responses 

Physicians - one in particula~is n 0 t viewed as competent. 
He treated one inmate for a cold -when he had bronchitis 
a nd required· strong antibiotics. The inmate had to insist 
o n being seen by the other physician who would at least 
lis ten to him and his medical history. 

Cntil lat e last year, there was no emergency call system in the 
exerc ise :vard. ~hile having a hear t at.tack, an inmate 1>aited 45 
minut e s before other inmates could get the attention of a tower 
guard . IThe:'I· have installed a "pani c button" in the :'l' ard since). 

The guards don't know how to perform CPR or heimli c h manuever. 
An i nmate performed ;t on ancither choking inmate during a meal 
because t he guard didn't know how to do it. 

All Guards should be required to c er ti fy in CPR and heiml ich manuever 
annually. 

~ l . Pho n e sys tem to c all out c reates inaccessibi l ity to lawyer s a nd 
famil y as calls are limited t o 15 minutes, and can only be 
placed through an automated, collect calling system. 
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My personal concern also goes to the perception of sex offenders 
as uncurable. If you refer to DSM 3R - pedophilia, etc. are compulsive 
~isorders. Compulsive disorders are treatable to the extent a person 
F ~mains committed to a daily lifestyle which includes self examination, 
meetings, support systems, and treatment. 

~~is goes to the complete lack of post release support facilities 
and programs. 

There is No Post release programs or pre-release preparation program 
of significance. Inmates have (1) no safe interim place to go if 
can't go home or be taken in by a friend or relative. 

(2) No instruction on how to apply for public programs; housing; 
assistance. 

( 3) How to handle job applications, etc. 
(4) Additional post release support/treatment is needed. 

I know Sen. Bassano is in favor of a half-way house program. There 
is a definibe need for such a program or some alternative to provide 
post release treatment and aftercare. 

My last request is that the legislators on the task force consider 
an alternative program for breaking the chain of sex offenses which 
often arise out of earlier abuse of the offender. My suggestion is 
legislation offering treatment without prosecution to anyone who turns 
himself/herself in for treatment and as long as that person ceases their 
behavior. This would offer someone in an abusing role the opportunity 
t o stop and get help ~ithout risk of prosecution and avoid increasing 
the population of ADTC. I would stress that my suggestion would be 
appli c able only to those who v oluntaril y seek treatment. 

..... .. 
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Just prior to the closing of the last two task force 

meetings I made a statement. A copy of both statements 

and references are available. 

At this time, after additional thought and research, 

I would like to summarize the results of my findings and 

offer the following summary: 

1. New Jersey is one of the few, if not the only state, 

offering a separate prison facility for the evaluation 

and treatment of sex offenders. Other states· tiffer treat-

ment in a regular prison facility. 

2. The states of Virginia and California have recently 

completed lengthy studies regarding the treatment of sex 

offenders. They are discontinuing their special programs 

as of June 1995. The programs were found to be non-effective 

and costly. 

3. Of all of the psychologists, specializing in this 

treatment, that I have contacted in various parts of the 

United States, not one suggests a cure for a pedophile and 

only a small percentage can be helped. Recent studies show 

that lifetime parole and constant monitoring is required. 

We cannot continue releasing "maxed-out" prisoners into our 

communities. A nationally known psychologist has stated to 

me that without follow-up New Jersey has wasted treatment, 

time and its money. We have also endangered our innocent 

children. 

4. We have been unable to determine the effectiveness .l 

of New Jersey's program as proper records have not been 

kept and no evaluation report has been made over the last 



five years. 

Our administrators of the Avenel facility have not been 

• prepared to help this task force in the evaluation or 

investigation of the effectiveness of this program. They 

have stated that they are not responsible for the attitude 

~ • and type of prisoner because the prisoners are assigned to 

Avenel by the courts. Their treatment and therapy is 

limited by the insufficient funds provided by the 

legislators. They cannot evaluate the effectiyeness of the 

program or keep proper records because of the limited funds 

provided by Trenton. They do not control the readiness or 

time of release or responsibility for release of prisoners 

as they are being "maxed-out" by law. 

5. Our state undertook this program approximately twenty 

years ago. At the present time our annual cost is in 

excess of twenty-five million dollars to house approximately 

725 sex offenders. Where ve offer at most four hours of 

group therapy per week - 30% of the 700 do not accept or 

receive any treatment - another 30% go through the motions 

only, have little interest and receive little if any help. 

So at best we have provided a full facility to provide 

limited treatment to 300 participating sex offenders without 

any records or study as to its effectiveness. 

It is felt that we now must direct our tax dollars to 

programs with better potential results. 
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In conclusion I believe that we must change our sentencing 

practices. Sex offenders should be sentenced to serve their 

time in regular state prison. Therapy should be . treated as a t 

privilege that must be requested and warranted, and then 

furnish better treatment in a regular prison facility. 

We have asked our Avenel administrators if they would 

comfortable with treated offenders released in their neighbor-

hoods and their answer was in the negative. How can we 

continue to maintain this facility and release so called 

treated sex offenders unmonitored? 

We have given this program more than ample time and it 

has not proven to be successful. 

It is time to close Avenel as a Diagnostic and Treatment 

Center and put it to other use within our correctional 

system where we would have a much better potential for more 

rewarding results. 

It is the duty of this task force to bring about change 

and not support the "status quo". 

w. H. Thomas 

3-15-95 
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